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March 10, 2006

Honorable Ron Jones, Chairman
Tennessee Regulatory Authority
ATTN: Sharla Dillon, Dockets
460 James Robertson Parkway

Nashville, TN 37243-5015 Oé ~00 ¢ Q

Re:  Application of LMDS Holdings, Inc. for Authority to Provide Competitive Local
Exchange and Interexchange Telecommunications Services in the State of
Tennessee

Dear Chairman Miller:

Enclosed please find the original and 13 copies of thc above-reterenced application along
with my check in the amount of $25.00 in payment of the filing fee. As you will see, Exhibit E to
the application is confidential and proprietary and is filed under seal. A copy of the
application (without Exhibit E) has been mailed to each of Tennessee’s ILECs.

Please note the docket number and return a date stamped copy of the application. Thank
you for your assistance. It you have questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

V. 2 B s

H. LaDon Baltimore
Counscl for LMDS Holdings, Inc.

LDB/dcg
Enclosures



Before the
TENNESSEE REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Application of )

)
LMDS Holdings, Inc. )

) Docket No.
for Authority to Provide )
Competitive Local Exchange and )
Interexchange Telecommunications )
Services in the State of Tennessee )

APPLICATION OF
LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

LMDS Holdings, Inc. (“Applicant”, “Company” or “Holdings”), by its attorneys and
pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. Sec. 65-4-201, Chapter 1220-4-8-.02, and to all other relevant
Rules and Regulations of the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (“TRA”™), respectfully requests
that the Commission grant it a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity to provide
facilities-based and resold local exchange and interexchange telecommunications services in the
State of Tennessee In support thereof, Applicant provides the following information:

L. Identification of the Applicant
1. Applicant’s full name is LMDS Holdings, Inc. and is headquartered at

11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, Virginia, 20190-5339. Applicant’s principal officers,

located at the same address, are:

Carl J. Grivner, President

Thomas W. Cady, Interim Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice
President, Marketing and Sales

Wayne Rehberger, Chief Operating Officer
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Gregory W. Freiberg, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Bill Garrahan, Acting Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice
President, Corporate Development

Heather Burnett Gold, Senior Vice President, Government Relations
Terri Burke, Vice President, Human Resources

Rob Geller, Chief Information Officer

2. Holdings was incorporated under Delaware law on November 4, 2005 and
is a wholly owned subsidiary of XO Communications, Inc., a publicly traded Delaware
corporation, in which Carl C. Icahn holds a majority interest.' A copy of Applicant’s
Articles of Incorporation and the amendments thereto are appended hereto as Exhibit A.
Applicant is qualified to conduct business within the State of Tennessee as a foreign
corporation. A copy of the qualifying document is attached hereto as Exhibit B.
Holdings is in the process of applying for Certificates in the following jurisdictions:
Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana,
Towa, Kansas, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, New
Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon,
Pennsylvé.nia, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Wisconsin. Applicant has been granted
certification in the District of Columbia, Maryland, Missouri, New York, Texas and .

Washington. Although this is the first time Holdings is applying for certification, it is

' XO Communications, Inc. is in the process of a pro forma restructuring merger. As a result of
this restructuring, XO Communications, Inc. will be merged into XO Communications,
LLC and removed from the ownership structure of Holdings. This will leave XO
Holdings, Inc. in the place of XO Communications, Inc. as parent-company to Holdings.
Holdings will share the same ultimate owner with XO Communications, LLC, Carl C.
Icahn. A Notice of this transaction has been filed with the TRA under separate cover and
was issued Docket Number 05-00334. A press release describing this transaction can be
found at http://www.xo0.com/news/278.html], a copy of which is attached as Exhibit C.
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II.

and

important to note that none of Applicant’s affiliates have been denied a request for

certification to provide telecommunications services by any jurisdictional authority.

Designated Contacts

3.

4,

The designated contact for this application is:

H. LaDon Baltimore

Farrar & Bates, L.L.P.

211 Seventh Avenue North, Suite 420
Nashville, Tennessee 37219
Telephone: (615) 254-3060
Facsimile: (615) 254-9835

Brad E. Mustchelknaus

Katherine E. Barker Marshall
KELLEY, DRYE AND WARREN, LLP
1200 19th Street, N.W., Suite 500
Washington, D.C. 20036
Telephone: (202) 955-9669
Facsimile: (202) 955-9792

Copies of all correspondence, notices, inquiries and orders in relation to

this Application also should be sent to the following person:

David LaFrance

Regulatory and External Affairs
LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

11111 Sunset Hills Road
Reston, VA 20190-2000
Telephone: (703) 547-2682
Facsimile: (703) 547-2881

Copies of all correspondence, notice, inquiries and orders relating to consumer issues,

billing issues, technical service quality issues, and customer complaint issues should be sent to:
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Tamie Whitefoot
Operations Director
LMDS Holdings, Inc.
4800 Concentric Blvd.



Saginaw, MI 48604

Telephone: (877) 714-6398
Facsimile: (989) 758-6510

Email: tamie.whitefoot @xo.com

Copies of all correspondence, notice inquiries and orders relating to tariff or pricing

issues should be sent to:

I11.

David LaFrance

Regulatory and External Affairs

LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

11111 Sunset Hills Road

Reston, VA 20190-2000

Telephone: (703) 547-2682

Facsimile: (703) 547-2881

5. Holdings’ registered agent in Tennessee 1is:

Corporation Service Company

2908 Poston Avenue

Nashville, TN 37203
Description of Network and Authority Requested

6. By this Application, Holdings seeks authority to provide

telecommunications transport services, as a facilities-based and resale competitive local
exchange and interexchange carrier, to business customers and other carriers in the State
of Tennessee. The Applicant plans to initially offer dedicated point-to-point or point-to-
multipoint transport and data services to enterprise customers and other common carriers.
At a later date, Holdings may expand its service offerings, to include a broader range of
products and services. Accordingly, Holdings is requesting the TRA certify Holdings to
provide a full range of local exchange and interexchange services.

7. Initially, Company intends to focus on deploying technology to provide a

core set of communications transport services tailored to meet specific needs of carriers,
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particularly commercial mobile radio service (CMRS) providers and enterprise business
customers with high capacity point-to-point digital data communication needs. Further,
as business and economic circumstances dictate, Company intends to provide additional
local exchange, exchange access and dedicated transport services.

8. With respect to geographic coverage area for its intended services,
Holdings requests authority to operate as a competitive local exchange carrier and
interexchange carrier on a statewide basis.

9. Holdings will provide its data-only broadband managed network solutions
primarily through a combination of traditional wireline elements and its FCC-licensed,
Local Multipoint Distribution Service (“LMDS”) spectrum. The company will provide
high-capacity access alternatives to the exclusive use of existing copper and fiber optic
based telecommunications services. These services will include point to point data
connectivity at speeds ranging from T1 through OC-3 levels. The company’s primary
services will include Ethernet service using 10Mbps and 100Mbps interfaces and
dedicated high speed Internet access. The equipment Holdings has selected for
deployment includes ports for both traditional time division multiplexed (“TDM?™)
circuits as well as Internet protocol ports for Ethernet services.

10.  Insofar as the Company will not initially provide voice-grade local
exchange services, it will not provide operator services and directory assistance. The
Company intends to eventually collocate its equipment in incumbent local exchange
carrier central offices in order to interconnect with other carriers and to secure access to
unbundled network elements. To the extent that Holdings provides voice grade local

exchange services in the future, operator services and directory assistance will be
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Iv.

provided.

11. Holdings has not been cited, sanctioned or investigated by any state or
tederal regulatory authority.

12.  Initially, Holdings does not intend to offer dialtone or voice grade services
to end users. Accordingly, Holdings respectfully requests waiver of reporting and service
requirements that are applicable to carriers offering voice grade or dialtone services,
including the provision of E-911 services. Holdings will comply with all rules and
regulations governing the provision of dialtone or voice grade service if and when
Holdings begins to offer such service.

Qualifications of the Applicant

13.  As demonstrated below, Holdings is well-qualified managerially,
technically and financially to provide the competitive interexchange telecommunications
services for which authority is requested in this Application.

14.  Applicant’s management team includes individuals with substantive
experience in successfully developing and operating telecommunications business.
Consequentially, the Company has the adequate internal technical resources to support its
Tennessee operations. This expertise in the telecommunications industry makes
Applicant’s management team well-qualified to operate its local exchange and
interexchange operations in Tennessee. Specific details of the business and technical
experience of Holdings’ officers and management personnel are attached as Exhibit D,
which also contain biographies and a brief description of the business experiences of key
management personnel who will be responsible for Applicant’s telecommunications

services in Tennessee and throughout the United States.
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15.  Asis evident from the information contained in Exhibit D, Applicant is
managed by persons with substantial technical expertise in operating telecommunications
networks. This wealth of expertise will enable Holdings to provide its interexchange
customers with advanced, state-of-the-art technology, for its telecommunications
services. |

16.  Applicant is a recently-formed entity, and as such does not have a
significant financial history of its own, and has attached projected financial statements as
Exhibit E, under seal. Applicant will receive an additional infusion of capital once the
transaction outlined in Footnote 1 is completed.

17.  Company has historically operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of XO
Communications, Inc., a publicly traded company that has funded Applicant’s operations.
XO Communications, Inc.’s Securities and Exchange Commission Form 10K for the
calendar years 2004 and 2005 are included as Exhibit F.

| 18.  Applicant will bil] all of its end-user customers directly. Holdings does not
intend to utilize a billing agent in issuing bills for services rendered to end users.
Applicant will not use a “billing clearinghouse™ or other outside entity to issue bills to its
customers. All bills sent to end-user customers will bear the Company’s name and
provide a toll-free number for customer inquiries and complaints.

19. Holdings has a toll free number available for its customers to contact the
Company with billing and service related issues: 1-877-714-6398.

20.  Customers may contact the Company with billing related issues twenty
four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week by using the toll free number provided in

Paragraph 20. In addition, customers may request assistance for any billing questions or
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VI

VIIL.

VIII.

general customer inquiries on-line via

https://www.businesscenter.xo.com/ecustomer_enu. or for repair issues or other requests,

including billing support, Customers may send an e-mail to cr-snaops(@xo.com.

Small and Minority Business Plan

21. Holdings has attached its Small and Minority Business Plan as Exhibit G.

- Dialing Parity Plan

22.  Holdings does not plan to offer voice grade services. However, if in the
future the Applicant does offer voice grade services, it will provide its Dialing Parity Plan

to the TRA.

Numbering Issues

23. Holdings does not plan to provision numbers on its own behalf, as
Holdings only intends to offer data and transport services. If, in the future, Holdings
offers voice grade telecommunications services, it will receive numbers from the ILEC.
If, after provisioning numbefs from the ILEC, the Applicant provisions numbers for
itself, it will comply with all of the numbering conservation efforts of the TRA, including
number pooling and utilization of 80% of an NXX prior to ordering additional numbers.

Tennessee Specific Operational Issues

24, Company’s billing system will allow Holdings to bill the calling plan in
accordance with TCA Section 65-21-114, if voice grade services are ever offered by the
Company.

25. Holdings is aware of the county-wide calling database maintained by
BellSouth and will utilize this service if Holdings ever offefs voice grade
telecommunications services.

26. Holdings is aware of the local calling areas provides by the Incumbent
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Local Exchange Carriers in its proposed service areas should Holdings offer voice grade

services in the future.

27.

Holdings is aware of the local calling area database maintained by

BellSouth and intends to utilize this services should Holdings offer voice grade service in

the future.
28.

complaints is:

29.

The person responsible for working with the TRA for resolving customer

Tamie Whitefoot

Operations Director

LMDS Holdings, Inc.

4800 Concentric Blvd.

Saginaw, MI 48604

Telephone: (877) 714-6398
Facsimile: (989) 758-6510

Email: tamie.whitefoot @xo.com

Holdings do not plan to telemarket any of its services.

IX.  TRA Checklist for Competing Telecommunications Service Provider Applicants
Information:

In accordance with Section VIII of the TRA’s Checklist for Competiting
Telecommunications Service Provider Applicants, Holdings submits the following:

(a)
(b)

(©)

(d)
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Pre-filed Testimony of David LaFrance, submitted as Exhibit H.

Applicant will file tariffs subsequent to approval of this Application and
prior to commencing services within the State of Tennessee.

Holdings is in the process of applying for Certificates in the following
jurisdictions: Alabama, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut,
Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, ‘
Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New
Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma,
Oregon, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Washington and
Wisconsin. Applicant has been granted certification in the District of
Columbia, Maryland, Missouri, New York and Washington.

Applicant has not been involved in a pertinent merger or acquisition.



(e) Applicant will not require customer deposits.

® Applicant has not had any complaints lodged against it by any federal or
state regulatory agency.

(2) Holdings intends to offer its transport and data telecommunications
services in areas served by incumbent carriers with fewer than 100,000
lines, however Holdings does not intend to offer voice grade services.

X. Requested Regulatory Treatment
30.  Applicant hereby agrees to abide by all applicable statutes and all
applicable Orders, Rules, and regulations entered and adopted by the Commission.
Additionally, as a competitive provider of telecommunications services in Tennessee
Applicant respectfully requests that it be subject to the same streamlined regulatory
treatment applicable to other competitive carriers.
31. Applicant, pursuant to TCA Sec. 65-4-125 will late file a bond, as Exhibit
I, in the amount of $20,000.

32.  Applicant has appended its Proposed Tariff as Exhibit J.

33.  Applicant respectfully requests that this Petition be given expedited
consideration.

V1.  Public Interest

34. A decision by the TRA to grant Applicant authority to provide local
exchange and interexchange telecommunications services is in the public interest.
Applicant is well qualified to operate as such a service provider in Tennessee'.
Consumers of telecommunications services in Tennessee will receive the benefits of
downward pressure on prices, increased choice, improved quality of service and customer
responsiveness, innovative service offerings, and access to increasingly advanced

telecommunications technology. The market incentives for new and existing providers of
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telecommunications services will be improved through an increase in the diversity of

suppliers and competition within the local exchange and interexchange

telecommunications market. Granting Holdings’ Application would enhance the

development of competition in the local exchange and interexchange markets and provide

the consumers of Tennessee with all of the benefits described above.

WHEREFORE, Applicant respectfully requests that the Commission grant it a Certificate

of Public Convenience and Necessity to provide competitive local exchange and interexchange

telecommunications services in the State of Tennessee.

Dated: /‘74“/12—006
/
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Respectfully submitted,

LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

By:%%%

H. LaDon Baltimore

Farrar & Bates, L.L.P

211 Seventh Avenue North, Suite 420
Nashville, Tennessee 37219-1823
Telephone: (615) 254-3060
Facsimile: (615) 254-9835

Brad E. Mustchelknaus

Katherine E. Barker Marshall
KELLEY, DRYE AND WARREN, LLP
1200 19th Street, N.W., Suite 500
Washington, D.C. 20036
Telephone: (202) 955-9600
Facsimile: (202) 955-9792

Its Counsel
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VERIFICATION

Commonwealth of Virginia

SS.

County of Fairfax

Benjamin R. Preston, Affiant, being duly [sworn/affirmed] according to law, deposes and says
that:

He 1s the Corporate Counsel, Dnector of Legal Affairs and Assistant Secretary of LMDS
Holdings, Inc.;

That he is authorized to and\does make this affidavit for LMDS Holdings, Inc.;

That the facts above set forth are true and correct to the best of his knowledge, information, and

belief. ‘ | 6/4 //J/’A/ /%/ﬁ

Benjdmm R. Preston

Corporate Counsel, Drrector of Legal
Affairs and Assistant Secretary v
LMDS Holdings, Inc. ‘

Sworn and subscribed before me this}ﬂd/ day of March, 2006.

%Wu '

Slgnatuxe of official ddmmlstcrmo oath

Lk 4 -
A

My commission expires 5 &/ Dq

NI «ll”“

,.
T A

‘
Con
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Certificate of Service

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the /Z# day of March, 2006, a true and
correct copy of the foregoing was forwarded via U. S. Malil, first class postage prepaid, to the
following incumbent local exchange telephone companies:

Ardmore Telephone Company, Inc.
P 0. Box 549

517 Ardmore Avenue

Ardmore, TN 38449

BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc.
333 Commerce Street
Nashville, TN 37201-3300

CenturyTel of Adamsville
P. 0. Box 405

116 N. Oak Street
Adamsville, TN 38310

CenturyTel of Claiborne
P. 0. Box 100

507 Main Street

New Tazewell, TN 37825

CenturyTel of Ooltewah-Collegdale
P. 0. Box 782
Ooltewah, TN 37363

Citizens Communications Company of Tennessee
P. 0. Box 770

300 Bland Street
Bluefield, WV 24701

Citizens Communications Company of the Volunteer State
P. 0. Box 770

300 Bland Street

Bluefield, WV 24701

Loretto Telephone Company, Inc.
P. 0. Box 130
Loretto, TN 38469

Millington Telephone Company, Inc.
P. 0. Box 429
4880 Navy Road

Millington , TN 38053
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Sprint-United
112 Sixth Street
Bristol, TN 37620

TDS Telecom-Concord Telephone Exchange, Inc.
P. 0. Box 22610
Knoxville, TN 37933

TDS Telecom-Humphreys County Telephone Company
P. 0. Box 552

203 Long Sheet

New Johnsonville, TN 37134

TDS Telecom-Tellico Telephone Company, Inc.
P.0.Box 9

102 Silence Street

Tellico Plains, TN 37385

TDS Telecom-Tennessee Telephone Company
P. 0. Box 22995
Knoxville, TN 37901

TEC-Crockett Telephone Company, Inc.
P.0.Box 7
Friendship, TN 38034

TEC-People's Telephone Company, Inc.
P. 0. Box 310
Erin, TN 37061

TEC-West Tennessee Telephone Company, Inc.
P.0.Box 10

244 E. Main Street

Bradford, TN 38316

United Telephone Company
P. 0. Box 38
120 Taylor Street

Chapel Hill, TN 37034

N 4 f. A=

H. LaDon Baltimore
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EXHIBIT A

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
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NOV. 4.2005 2:49PM LANTER? NO. 2890 P. 2

Delaware

The First State

PAGE 1

I, HARRIET SMITH WINDSOR, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACEED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT
COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORFORATICN OF "LMDS HOLDINGS,
INC.", FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE FOURTH DAY OF NOVEMBER, A.D.
2005, AT 12:09 O'CLOCK P.M.

A FILED COPY OF THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN FORWARDED TO THE
NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS.

\24meuub xikm;z4J9%2;4L4¢«J
Harriet Smith Windsor, Secretary of State
AUTHENTICATION: 4276245

4056099 8100

050903140 DATE: 11-04-05
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State of Delaware
Sarratary of State
Division of Corporativas
Dalivarad 12:19 PM 11/04/2005
FTIED 12:08 PM 11/04/2005
SRV 050903140 ~ 4056099 FILE

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

The undersigned, a natural person, for the purpose of orgamizing a corporation for
conducting the business end promoting the purposes hereinafter stated, under the provisions and
snbject to the requirements of the laws of the State of Delaware (particulaly Chapter 1, Title B of
the Delaware Code and the acts amendatory thereof and supplemental thereto, and kmown,
identified and reforrod to as the "General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware"), hereby
certifics that:

FIRST: The name of the corporation (hereipafter called the "Corparation") is
LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

SECOND: The address, weluding street, number, city, and comnty, of the registered office
of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, City of
Wilmiugton, County of New Castle; and the narme of the registered agent of the Corporation in the
State of Delaware is Corporation Scrvice Company.

THIRD: The pature of the business fo be conducted and the purposcs of the Corporation

To purchase or otherwise acquire, invest in, own, ledse, mortgage, pledge, sell, assign
and transfer or otherwise dispose of, trade and deal in and with real property and personal property
of every kind, elass and description (inchuding, without limitation, goods, wares and merchandise of
cvery kind, class and description), to manufacture goods, wares and merchandise of every kind,
class emd desctiption, both on its own account and for othexs;

To make and perform agreements and contracts of every kind and description; and
Generally to engage in any lawful act or activity or carry on any business for which
corporations mey be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law or any successor
statute. '
FOURTH:
The total number of ehares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority

to issue is Three Thousand (3,000), consisting of 3,000 shares of Common Stock, Zero Dollars and
One Cent ($0.01) Par Value per share (the "Common Stock”).

.. an,
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NOV. 4. 2005 2:49PM LANTER2 NO. 2890  P.

FIFTH; The name and mailing addiess of the sole incorporator is as follows:

Name Mailing Address
Amne T, Leland Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Feras, Glovsky
and Popeo, P.C.
One Financial Center

Boston, MA 02111
SIXTH: The Corporation is to have perpetual existence.

SEVENTH: For the mamagement of the business and for the conduct of the affuirs of the
Corporation, and in further definition and not in Limitation of the powers of the Corporation and of
its directors and of ite stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, conferred by the State
of Delaware, it is fizther provided that:

A. The management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation ghall
be vested in its Board of Dircctors. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board
of Directors shall be fixed by, or m the manner provided in, the By-Laws. The phrase “whole
Board™ and the phrase "otal mumber of directors” shall be decmed to have the same meaning, to
wit, the total number of directors which the Corporation would have if there were po vacansies, No
election of directars need be by written hatlot.

B. Afier the original or other By-Laws of the Corporation have been adopted, amended or
repealed, as the case may be, in accordance with the provisions of Section 109 of the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, and, after the Corporation has received any payment for
any of its stock, the power to adopt, amend, or repeal the By-Laws of the Corporation may be
exervised by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

C. The books of the Corporation may be kept at such place within or without the State of
Delaware as the By-Laws of the Corporation may provide or as may be designated from tme to
time by the Board of Directors of the Cotporation.

EIGHTH: The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Section 145 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as the same may be amended and supplemented
from time to time, indemnify and advance expenses to, (i) its directors and officers, and (ii) eny
person who at the request of the Corporation is or was serving as a director, officer, employee or
agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or ather enterprise, from and against
ary and all of the expenses, liabilities, or other matters referred o in or covered by said section as
amended or supplemented (or any successor), provided, however, that except with respect to
proceedings to enforce rights to indemnification, the By-Laws of the Corporation may provide that
the Corporation shall indemnify any director, officer or such person in commection with a
proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such director, officer or such person only if such
proceeding (or parl thereof) was authorized by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The

4
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Corporation, by action of its Board of Directors, may provids indemnification or advance expenses
lo employees and agents of the Corporation or other persons only on such terms and conditions and
10 the extent determined by the Board of Directors in its sole and absclute discretion. The
indernmification provided for herein shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which
those indcmnified misy be entitled under any By-Law, agreement, vote of stockholders or
disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in their official capacity and 23 to action in
another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be &
director, officer, employes, or agent end shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and
atmmistrators of such a person.

NINTH: No director of this Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director exccpt to the extent
that exemption from Kability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware ag in effect at the time such liability or limitation thereof is
determined. No amendment, modification or repeal of this Article shall apply fo or have any effect
on the liability or alleged liability of any director of the Coxporation for or with respect to any acts
or omissions of such director occuning prior to such amendment, modification or repeal. If the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware is amended after approval by ths stockhelders of
this Article to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal Lisbility of
directors, then the liability of a dircetor of the Corporation shall be ¢liminated or linvited to the
fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as so emended.

TENTH: Whenever a compromise of ayangement is proposed between this Corporation
and its creditors or any class of them and/or between this Corporation and its stockholders or any
class of them, any court of equitable jurisdiction within the State of Delaware may, on the
application in a summary way of this Corporation or of any creditor or stockholder thereof or on the
application of any receiver or receivers appointed for this Corporation wnder the provisions of
Section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on the application of trustees in dissolution or of
any receiver of receivers appointed for this Cotporation under the provisions of Section 279 of Title
8§ of the Delaware Code, order a meeting of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the
stockholders or class of stockholders of this Corporation, as the case may be, t0 be summoned 1
such manner as the said court directs. If a2 majority in number representing three-fourths (3/4) in
value of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of this
Corporation, as the case may be, agree to any compromise or arvangement and to any reorganication
of this Corporation a5 consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said compromise or
amangement and the said reorganization shall, if sanctioned by the court to which the said
application has been mede, be binding on all the creditors or class of creditors, and/or on all the
stockholders or class of stockholders, of this Corporation, as the case may be, and also on this
Corporation.

ELEVENTH: From time to time any of the provisions of this Certificate of Incorparation
may be amended, altered or repcaled, and other provisions aulhorized by the laws of the State of
Delaware at the time in force may be added or inserted in the manner and at the time prescribed by

b
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said laws, and all rights at any time conferred upon Lhe stockholders of the Corporation by this
Certificate of Incorporation are granted subject to the provisions of this Article.

L, the undersigned, being the sole incorporstor, for the purpose of forming a Corporation
under the laws of the State of Delaware, do make, file and record this Certificate of Incarporation,
to cextify that the facts herein stated are tre, and accordingly have hereto set my hand this 4~
day of November, 2005.

(e & FKtrer

AmeT.Leland
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Secretary of State

Division of Business Services ) DATE: 02/14/06 ce84-1212
. REQUEST NUMBER: -1
312 Eighth Avenue North TELEPHONE CONTACT: (6}5) 741-2286
T FILE DATE/TIME: 02/13/06 1358
6th Floor, William R. Snodgrass Tower EFFECTIVE DATE/TIME: 02/13/06 1358
Nashville, Tennessee 37243 , CONTROL NUMBER: 0513365
TO:
csc .
2711 CENTERVILLE RD.
SUITE 400

WILMINGTON, DE 19808

RE:

LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY -
FOR PROFIT

WELCOME TO THE STATE OF TENNESSEE. THE ATTACHED CERTIFICATE OF
AUTHORITY HAS BEEN FILED WITH AN EFFECTIVE DATE AS INDICATED ABOVE.

A CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT MUST BE FILED WITH THE SECRETARY OF STATE

ON OR BEFORE THE FIRST DATE OF THE FOURTH MONTH FOLLOWING THE CLOSE OF THE
CORPORATION'S FISCAL YEAR. PLEASE PROVIDE THIS OFFICE WITH WRITTEN
NOTIFICATION OF THE CORPORATION'S FISCAL YEAR. THIS OFFICE WILL MAIL THE
REPORT DURING THE LAST MONTH OF SAID FISCAL YEAR TO THE CORPORATION AT THE
ADDRESS OF ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICE OR TO A MAILING ADDRESS PROVIDED TO THIS
OFFICE IN WRITING. FAILURE TO FILE THIS REPORT OR TO MAINTAIN A REGISTERED
AGENT AND OFFICE WILL SUBJECT THE CORPORATION TO ADMINISTRATIVE REVOCATION
OF ITS CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY.

WHEN CORRESPONDING WITH THIS OFFICE OR SUBMITTING DOCUMENTS FOR
FILING, PLEASE REFER TO THE CORPORATION CONTROL NUMBER GIVEN ABOVE.

FOR: APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY - ON DATE: 02/14/06

FOR PROFIT
FEES
FROM: RECEIVED: $600.00 $0.00
CSC (2711 CENTERVILLE RD)
2711 CENTERVILLE RD. TOTAL PAYMENT RECEIVED: $600.00
SUITE 400
WILMINGTON, DE 19808-0000 RECEIPT NUMBER: 00003869817

ACCOUNT NUMBER: 00250881

RILEY C. DARNELL
SECRETARY OF STATE

SS-4458
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ST ';"'l‘;\:% e ' ' ‘.FOF Office Use Only
&y CERTﬁI():]:fE OF% 205 FEB |3 pyy |, 58
Bepartment of State b‘y
l”Cc.rpormc Filings (FOR PROF]]) . i, - . :
. 312 Eighth Avenue North ) SECH‘E i_/‘ X ; K w L .
6!h Floor, Wilham R Snodgrass Tower T UF S TA | E
Nashville, TN 37243

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 48-25-103 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, the undersigned corporation

hereby applies for a certificate of authonty to transact business in the State of Tennessee, and for that purpose sets forth: a
{

1. The name of the corporation is LMDS Holdings, Inc.
*|f different, the name under which the certificate of authority is to be obtained is .

[NOTES: The Secretary of State of the State of Tennessee may not issue a certificate of authonty to a foreign corporation for profit if itsp|
name does not comply with the requirements of Section 48-14-101 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act. *If obtaining a certificates
of authority under a different corporate name, an application for registration of an assumed corporate name must be filed pursuant toh,
Section 48-14-101(d) with an additional $20 00 fee.]

2. The state or country under whose law it is incorporated 1s Delaware

November 4, 2005

3 The date of its incorporation is
if other than perpetual, is

{(must be month, day, and year), and the period of duration,

4 The complete street address (including zip code) of its principal office is
11111 Sunset Hills Road Reston - Virginia 20190

Street City State/Country Zip Code

5. The complete street address (including the county and the zip code) of its registered office in Tennessee and the name of its

registered agent is
2908 Poston Avenue . Nashville TN 37203

Street City State/Country Zip Code
RegisteredAgenf Corporation Service Company

6. The names and complete business addresses (including zip code) of its current officers are: (Attach separate sheet if necassary )
See attached officer/darector rider

7. The names and complete business addresses (including zip code) of its current board of directors are: (Attach separate sheet if
necessary.) See attached officer/director rider

8. Ifthe corporation commenced doing business in Tennessee prior to the approval of this application, the date of commencement
{month, day and year)

9. The corporation is a corporation for profit

10. If the document is not to be effective upon filing by the Secretary of State, the delayed effective date/time is

, (date), (time).
[NOTE: A delayed effective date shall not be later than the 90th day after the date this document is filed by the Secretary of State ]

[NOTE: This application must be accomparied by a certificate of existence (or a document of similar import) duly authenticated by the
Secretary of State or other official having custody of corporate records in the state or country under whose law it is incorporated The
certificate shall not bear a date of more than two (2) months pnor to the date the application is filed in this state.]

February /// 2006 LMDS Holdings, Inc.

Signature Date Nam Corporation

Assistant Secretary MK/”M

Signer's Capacity 'S|gnatur' . ’ ’
Benj@Min R. Preston

$54431 (Rev 4/01) Filing Fee: $600 Name {typed or printed) RDA 1678




LMDS Holdings, Inc.

Officers and Directors

List of Officers:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Name:

Carl J. Grivner Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Wayne Rehberger  Title: Exec. Vice President and Chief Operations Officer
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Bill Garrahan Title: Acting Chief Financial Officer and Sr. Vice

President, Corporate Development & Strategic Planning

Bus. Addr:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Name:

Bus. Addr.:

Name:

11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Simone Wu Title: Sr. Vice President, Acting Gen. Counsel & Secretary
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Ron Scot Title: Vice President, Real Estate
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Michael O’'Day Title: Chief Tax Officer
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Heather Bumett Gold Title: Sr. Vice President, Government Relations
11111 Sunset Hills Rqad, Reston, VA 20190

Benjamin R. Preston Title: Corporate Counsel, Director of Legal Affairs &

Assistant Secretary

Bus. Addr.:

11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

List of Directors

Name:
Bus. Addr:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Name:
Bus. Addr.:

Carl J. Grivner
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Wayne Rehberger
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

Simone Wu
11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

DCO1/CARSH/239477 |
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Delaware

The First State

I, HARRIET SMITH WINDSCR, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF
DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY "LMDS HOLDINGS, INC." IS DULY
INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE AND IS IN
GOOD STANDING AND HAS A LEGAL CORPORATE EXISTENCE SO FAR AS THE
RECORDS OF THIS OFFICE SHOW, AS OF THE TENTH DAY OF FEBRUARY,
A.D. 200s.

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE FRANCHISE TAXES
HAVE NOT BEEN ASSESSED TO DATE.

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE SAID "LMDS
HOLDINGS, INC." WAS INCORPORATED ON THE FOURTH DAY OF NOVEMBER,

A.D. 2005.

Harriet Smuth Windsor, Secretary of State

3

4056099 8300 AUTHENTICATION: 4514916

060127514 DATE: 02-10-06
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XO Communications Announces
Agreement to Create National Fixed
Broadband Wireless Company

November 04, 2005

Company Will Focus Business on Delivering Fixed
Broadband Wireless Services to Businesses and Service
Providers

National Wireline Telecommunications Business Will
Continue as a Private Company Wholly-Owned by
Affiliates of Carl Icahn

RESTON, VA - XO Communications, Inc. (OTCBB: XOCM.OB)
today announced an agreement that will create a leading provider
of fixed broadband wireless services to businesses and service
providers. In order to create and finance the fixed wireless
business, XO will sell its national wireline telecommunications
business for $700 million in cash. Following the sale, the Company
will retain its fixed broadband wireless spectrum assets and be
uniquely positioned to be a leading provider of fixed broadband
wireless services nationally as one of the largest holders of fixed
wireless licenses in the 28 GHz-31 GHz spectrum range covering
more than 70 U.S. major metropohtan markets.

“The action we take today will create a pure-play fixed broadband
wireless provider that combines significant resources with in-depth
industry expertise to meet the growing demand for high-bandwidth
broadband wireless services,” saild XO CEO Carl Grivner. “The
market opportunity to provide these services has emerged, and our
new focus on fixed wireless communications will enable us to offer
robust fixed wireless solutions to businesses, mobile phone
compantes, and wireline telecommunications companies.”

The proceeds from the sale of the wireline business will be used to
repay XO’s outstanding long-term debt, to offer to redeem, at the
closing of the sale, XO’s outstanding preferred stock and to fund
growth and development of the wireless business. Once the sale Is
completed, the wireless business will be debt-free and I1s currently
expected to have in excess of $300 million in cash to fund its
operations and for other corporate purposes. The Company's
wireless services have already been made available to businesses
and wireless service providers in select markets and, using its cash
position and new strong balance sheet, the Company plans to
launch its services on a wider basis in the near future. The
transaction 1s anticipated to close in late 2005 or early 2006.

The agreement is the culmination of an extensive process
established by the Company over a period of several months during
which multiple bids for the wireline business of the Company were
evaluated by a Special Committee of the Company's Board of
Directors. The winning bidder was Elk Associates LLC, an enfity
owned by XO’s controiling stockholder, Carl Icahn, which has
executed a definiive agreement to purchase the wireline business.
However, as provided in the definitive agreement, the Company

http://www.x0.com/news/278 html

' Contact XO

Corporate Hi
. 1.703.547.20
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and the Special Committee remain open to consideration of
supenor proposals from third parties in certain events, subject to
paying Elk Associates a break-up fee of 1% of the consideration
payable in the transaction in the event that the Company receives
and determines to accept a superior proposal.

The Special Committee overseeing this process consists solely of
non-management directors who are not affihated with Mr. Icahn.
The Special Commuttee led the negotiation of the terms of the
agreement with Elk Associates LLC on behalf of the Company and,
after receiving the opinion of the Company's financial advisor,
Jeffenes & Co., Inc., to the effect that the consideration to be
received by the Company in the transaction 1s fair to the Company
from a financial point of view, approved the agreement and
recommended its approval by the Board of Directors of the |
Company. Completion of the transaction will be subject to a number
of conditions, including shareholder approval. The description of the
agreement contained herein is qualified n its entirety by reference
to such agreement, which will be publicly filed as required under
applicable securities laws.

The “XO Communications” brand name will be transferred to the
private company and thereby will remain with the national wireline
telecommunications business. XO anticipates operating its fixed
wireless business under a new name.

It is anticipated that the wireless and wireline compantes will enter
into commercial agreements to sell each other’s products and
services at competitive rates in order to take advantage of market
opportunities.

About XO Communications

X0 Communications 1s a leading provider of national and local
telecommunications services to businesses, large enterprises and
telecommunications companies. XQ offers a complete portfolio of
services, including local and long distance voice, dedicated Internet
access, private networking, data transport, and Web hosting
services as well as bundled voice and Intemet solutions. XO
provides these services over an advanced, national facilities-based
IP network and serves more than 70 metropolitan markets across
the United States. For more information, visit www.xo.com.

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:

CHAD COUSER / XO COMMUNICATIONS |
703-547-2746
CHAD.COUSER@X0O.COM

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT NOT

THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS RELEASE THAT
ARE NOT HISTORICAL FACTS ARE “FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS" (AS SUCH TERM IS DEFINED
IN THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT
OF 1995) THAT INVOLVE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES.
THESE STATEMENTS INCLUDE THOSE DESCRIBING
X0O'S EXPECTED FUTURE BUSINESS AND NETWORK
OPERATIONS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, XO'S
ABILITY TO SERVICE THE GROWING DEMAND FOR
HIGH-BANDWIDTH BROADBAND WIRELESS SERVICES,
XO'S ABILITY TO INCREASE SALES ONCE IT BEGINS

http://www x0.com/news/278.html '11/30/2005
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OPERATING UNDER A NEW NAME, AND XO'S ABILITY
TO CONTINUE TO IMPLEMENT EFFECTIVE COST
CONTAINMENT MEASURES. MANAGEMENT CAUTIONS
THE READER THAT THESE FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS ARE ONLY PREDICTIONS AND ARE
SUBJECT TO RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND ACTUAL
RESULTS MAY DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE
INDICATED IN THE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
AS A RESULT OF A NUMBER OF FACTORS. THESE
FACTORS INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, THOSE
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES DESCRIBED FROM TIME
TO TIME IN THE REPORTS FILED BY XO
COMMUNICATIONS, INC. WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION, INCLUDING ITS ANNUAL
REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND ITS QUARTERLY REPORTS
ON FORM 10-Q.

© 2000-05 XO All nghts reserved Tarffs | P
X0, the XO design logo, Concentnic, Allegiance, '
and all related marks are trademarks of XO Communications, Inc

http://www.xo.com/news/278 . html 11/30/2005
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Officer and Executive Team Biographies 5

Carl J. Grivner

President

Carl J. Grivoer 1s Chiel Executive Ofticer of XO Communications ("XO™) and LMDS Holdings, Im:'.
("Holdings™.

M Grivaer's career in telecom and technology spans more than 235 yewrs Tle previousty served as Chief
Operating Ofticer at Global Crossing Prior to joming Global Crossing m June 2000, My Grivaer served as
Chief Executive Officer of Worldport Communications and betore that, he served as Chicf Excentive
Officer. Western Henusphere, of Cable & Wireless PLC Addionally. My Grivoer has held various sentor
eaccutive positions at Advanced Fiber Commumcatuons and Ameritech Mr. Grivner began his cireer
workmg mosales at [IBM - He also served m the Uimited States Manne Corps from 1975-1978 He earned hig
Bachelor oF Auts from Lycoming College

Thomas W. Cady
Interim Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales .
Tom Cady 1s a senior executive with an extensive background n the information technology industry Tom
has in-depth general management experience, with expertise in marketing and sales leadership developed
over twenly eight years i both corporate and entrepreneurial environments  Tom's career began wath a
strong foundation built at Xerox and 1BM, where he conuinuously progressed through positions of increased
responstbility m sales, marketing and general management More recently, Tom has spent several years n
the broadband communications industry, serving as Chiet Marketing Officer for XO Communications and
Adelphia Communications, President/COQO & co-founder of BroadStreet Communications, and President &
CEO of two early stage software companies focused on solutions for broadband service providers

I
Currently, Tom serves as a senior exccutive for LMDS Holdings, Inc., a wireless broadband service
provider Additionally. Tom serves as the non-executive Chairman oI’ AIMS Technology Group, whose
focus 1s on developmg technology solutions that support integrated and targeted marketing programs.

Tom holds a B.S. degree in Business Administration from Virgima Tech, and an MBA from the University
of Richmond ‘

Wayne Rehberger
Exccutive Vice President, Chief Operations Officer

Wayne Rehberger s chief operanng officer of XO and Holdimgs. In this role he 1s 1esponsible for al)
aspeets of XO's operations meluding marketng, network and sales He previously served as the conipany's
chief financial ofticer for more than three years During that time he led the company through a successtul
financial and operanonal restructurmg that improved NO's opetating metries and financial performance
through cfficiency mitiatives and the reduction ol operating and overhead costs

Mt Rehberger has 20 years of diversilied telecommunications management expenence mcluding having
served i a numbet ol executive roles at MCI Communications Cotporanon Durmg Ins time at MCLL Mr
Rehberget served m a variety of corporate and business unit accounting, finance, and operational support
roles e was mvolved mn major acquisition activities. both from a busmess development and operational
mtegration rofe. Mi Rehberger held the position of semor vice president of Finance at MCI WorldCom
prior to jounng NO

DCO01/BARKK/241708 1



Prior to young MCI, Mr Rehberger served four years i the U'S Army. achieving the rank of captam
befote jonmg KPMG's consulung practice i Washmgton. D € where hie worked on varnous management
consulting cugagentents focused an busmess strategy. markeung. and programyproduct management

Gregory W. Freiberg
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, LMDS Holdings, Inc.
Vice President and Controller, XO Communications

Greg Freiberg’s career has focused on finance and strategy for organizations in transition and has ncluded
Tlugh level responsibility for both operational financial management and control. He has been responsible
for significant activities i roadshow and stakeholder relations, Including the IPO and financing context,
and numerous mergers, acqusitions and divestitures. He has worked to create shareholder value for many
U S and International based multinational enterprises.

Mr Freiberg jomned XO Communications as vice president and controller in June 2005 He 15 responsible
for all of the companies accounting, SEC reporting, Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, and procurement In
December of 2005, he was appointed chief financial officer of the LMDS Holdings, Inc s busmess unit.

Mr. Freiberg previously served as senior vice president and controller ot Asia Netcom, a wholly owned
subsidiary of China Netcom e was also on the Board of Directors for joint ventures with Hutchison m
Hong Kong, Dacom 1n Korea, Digitel in the Phulippines, Starhub 1n Singapore. and Marubeni in Japan

Prior to Asia Netcom. Mr Fretberg was Sentor Viee President and Controller of Asia Global Crossing  He
was a core member of the Executive tcam which guided the company through a successful restructuring
and sale to China Netcom :

M. Freiberg spent more than 8 years with MCL, mcluding controller for MCI International, and 5 years as
the foundmg CIFO for MCl's expansion mto Asia. '

Mr Treiberg received a BS in Accounting from the University of South Dakota and has passed the
Certified Public Accountant exanunation. He served in the Army National Guard for more than 9 years
culmmating as a Company Commander

Bill Garrahan
Acting Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Corporate Development & Strategic
Planning

Bl Garrahan is both acting Chief Financial Officer and Semor Vice President of Corporate Development
at XO and Tloldings. He oversees the company's financial functions and leads the company's mergers and
acquistions, corporate strategy and new busimess development activities. He jomned the company n'July
2001 as a scmor member of'its corporate development team, later plaving a cnitical 1ole in the complz-my's
acquisition ol Allegiance Telecom

Crarrahan has nearly 20 years of experience i the telecommunications industry includimg previous
posttions at Lehman Brothers as a telecommunmcations equity analyst and MCL where he held a \leicl)f ol
execulive [inance and busimess development funcuons. mcluding Vice President of Corporate Planming and
CrO of MCI's 86 bilhion consumer business unit '

Simone Wu, .
Senior Vice President, Acting General Counsel & Secretary '

DCO01/BARKK/241708 1



Simone Wu s acting General Counsel and Viee President at XO and Holdings In this role. she oveisees all
of the company's legal affaws, which include commercial. corporate, employment. and teflectual property
matters, as well as all hugation m which the Company 1s mvolved ;
Wu has more than 16 yeaws ol wide-1anging experience m the telecommunications industry. meludmg
domestic and mternational busimess and corporate development. intellectual property and commercial
matters, and legal and 1egulatory affas. Prior to jorming XO i 2001, Wa held business and legal positions
at MCI and AOL among other places. and pracuced domestic and international transacuonal and
telecommunicanions law at the law firm ot Skadden. Arps, Slate, Mceaghet & Flom

She graduated with lugh honors from the Lmversity of Michigan witla degree w Political Science and as a
Harlan Fiske Stone Scholar from Columbia University Law School.

Ron Scott
Vice President, Real Estate

Mr. Scott holds two semor executive wles at NO and Holdmgs and 1s currently responsible for XO's
strategic busimess units and XO's national real estate portfolto As Group President/CEQ of XO One. XO
Hostng and XO Tnteracuve. Ron s charged with growing revenue profitably and sttategically positioning
these business units to maximize XO's core customer value propositton Ron s alse Sentor Viee President
of Real Estate responsible for managig XO's nauonal real estate portfolio which includes building access
and all company lease obhgations. ' :

Mr Scott has over 20 vears expenence 1n the telecommunication services mdustry Prior to joming XO,
Ron co-founded Access Communications with the Trammell Crow fanuly in Dallas, Texas. Access was a
proneet elecommunications stavtup that provided bundled telecommunicaton services (o tenants i upscale
commercial office properties. As President and CEO of Access Telecommunication Group, 1P . Ron spent
10 vears growing this startup and ultimately led the transaction to sell the company to Shared Technologies
Upon the sale of his company. Ron served as Vice Chairman of the Bourd ol Shared Technologies i \\ sl
Hardord. Connecticut .

Prior 1o Mr. Scott’s startup at Access, Ron held executive positions and led sales and marketing efforts m
the cable mdustey He was National Sales VP for COX. Ine , a cable and connector manufacturer Ron also
spent several vears as Dnector ol Marketing and Sales for United Cable Televiston and Diector of Sales
for Cox Cable. !

M. Scott was formerly on the Board of Diectors for North American Telecommumcation Association In
1992 and 1993, Mr Scott was recognized by the Southern Methodist Limversily's Cox School of Busmess

as CLO ol'the T'1th and 25th fastest growmg privately held company i the Dallas metiopohitan arca. Mr

Scott has a Bachelor's degree in Pohiical Science trom the University of Noirth Texas i

Heather Burnett Gold
Senior Vice President, Government Relations

Heather Burnent Gold s Sentor Vice President of Government Relations at XO and Holdings. In this role
she oversees all of XO's advocucy with the federal government. mncluding Congress. the FCC. other lederal
agenetes, and the White House. and with state legislative and regulatory entities

A telecammumeatons veteran with more than 20 yvears ol expenience, Gold jomed XO (rom the KDW
Group, where she was u co-tounder & principal, providing strategic and financial plannmg to compinies in
the telecommunicauons industry with respect to opportumues created by regulatory change Prior o The
KDW Group. Gold was vice president of mndustry affans at Intermeda Commumcations wheie she
oversaw the company's regulatory. legislative and industry relations at both the state and federal levels
Before Intermedia. Gold served as president of” the Association for Local Telecommumcations Services
(ALTS) friom 1993 to 1998, During her tenure at ALTS, Gold was a leading proponent for opening local

1
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telecommunications markets 1o lacihties-based competition and a driving lorce behmd the
Telecommunicatons Act of 1996, Before jommg ALTS. she served as vice president of member services
for the Competiive Velecommunications Association {Comp'iel).

Gold holds an MBA m niarketmy and finance from Washimgton University in St Lows and Bachelors and
Mausters degrees m Ceononues fiom Tutts University

Benjamin R. Preston
Principal Counsel, Director of Legal Affairs & Assistant Secretary

Benjanun R Preston 1s Principal Counsel, Corporate Development & Finance and Assistant Secretary of
XO Communications, Inc. and LMDS Holdings, Inc. In this role, Mr. Preston handles all mergers &
acquisitions, jomt ventures, corporate finance, Securities & Exchange Commuission reporting, and corporate
governance matters at XO

Mr. Preston has served n this capacity since January 2004 Prior to jomning XO, Mr. Preston practiced
corporate & securities law at Sidley Austin Brown & Wood LLP  He 1s a graduate of the University of
Massachusetts at Amherst, Georgetown University Law Center, and McDonough Graduate School of
Business at Georgetown University

Chet Kudtarkar
Vice President- Finance

Chet Kudtarkar has over 26 years of experience with over 18 years m the telecommunications mdustry. He
has served 1n various financial management positions in the area ol Planning, Analysis and Business
Development He also has experience in Marketing, Implementation and Program Management Inn 1994 he
was mvolved 1 the early stages of starting MClMetro, a competitive local exchange carrnier With MCT, he
was responsible for negotiating all interconnection agreements with incumbent local exchange compaiies
He has an extensive background m Financial Planning and Telco Cost management Most recently,
Kudtarkar has been the Director of Strategy and Corporate Development for XO Communications.

Chet Kudtarkar has an MBA from the Wharton School and a Masters i Engincering from the University of
Mississippt.

Brad Magnuson
Director of Engincering

Brad Magnuson has over 15 years experience in design of public and private wireless telecommunications
networks, mctropohtan fiber based apphcations, and national 1P ifrastructures.

He has held various engineering management positions at XO Communications over the past ten years
includimg District Director of Engimcering for the Western Region where hic designed CLEC networks 1n
several western citics. He has also been mvolved in design of XO's national long haul fiber network, n
development of 1ts VoIP product and 1n its early technology trials of equipment operating in the LMDS
spectrum Prior to Jjoimng XO, Brad spent four years with a regronal gas utility where he assisted
engneeTing a private microwave system carrymg voice and telemetry applications across three western
states Brad currently serves as Director of Engineering for Fixed Wireless Applications witlhun XO
Commurnications

Brad has a Bachelor of Science m Electrical Engineering from the University of Utah with emphasis n

Microwave Engineering, Computer Engineering, and Digital Signal Processing m telecomimunications
systenis

DCO01/BARKK/241708 1
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
M "QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2005

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File No. 0-30900

XO Communications, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 54-1983517
(State or other jurisdiction of - (I.R.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identification no.)

11111 Sunset Hills Road
Reston, Virginia 20190
(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)
(703) 547-2000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant

was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES 1
NO O

http.//www.sec gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683¢10vq.htm (2 of 57)9/23/2005 12:56.35 PM
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). YESMINO O

APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS DURING THE
PRECEEDING FIVE YEARS:

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by
Section 12, 13, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a
plan confirmed by a court. YES M NO [0

As of August 8, 2005, the number of shares of common stock of XO Communications, Inc. issued and
outstanding was 181,933,035.

hutp-//www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683c10vq htm (3 of 57)9/23/2005 12:56:35 PM



elOvq

XO Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Index to Form 10-Q

Page
Part I. Financial Information
Item 1. XO Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004 1
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Months Ended
June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 2
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 3
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 4
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 5
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations : 13
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 27
Item 4. Controls and Procedures 27
Part II. Other Information '
Item 1. Legal Proceedings 28
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 28
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities 28
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 28
Item 5. Other [nformation 28
Item 6. Exhibits 29
Signatures 30

http://www.scc.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683¢10vq htm (4 of 57)9/23/2005 12:56 35 PM



elOvq

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

XO Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

June 30, December 31,
2005 2004
(Unaudited)

ASSETS - .
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents- S TR e M- '$ 270,143 'S 233,989
\»Marketable securities and other mvestments . ' ' 9 455 17,300
“*Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accountsof ;. G T
- $37,145 at June 30 2005 and $38 981 at December31 20 4,_ ; e - '
;i Tespectively * S e e L 137,683 - o 150, 101 =
Other current assets ' S - 33,121 50,864
@y U Totalcurrentassets - . L tRes ST 007450402 CCL 452,254
Property and equlpment net 764,729 820,536
' Broadband wireless licenses and other intangibles,net . . . 115567 ol 139,866
Other assets, net ' ' 44,917 46 729
%Y. Totalassets; S A o . 81,375,615 i $1,459,385
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities: .. _, A STt S P P 5t S R T
A counts payab]e S R N T S 5 86, 055__________. s 88010
© Other current liabilities © 777 TN L T 0 555 0730 0T 041,532 4
Total current 11ab111t1es 311,128 329,542

Long-term debt and accrued interest payable: ;. i 7. R 382646 - 366,247
Other long-term liabilities _ h S 67,502 73,691
.. Total liabilities ", . G o cwn L Lot 07612760 L 769,480
Class A convertible preferred stock 210596 204,353
f%fComm1tments and contlngenc1es LA dE L S o e

Stockholders equ1ty

authonzed 4 OOO OOO shares of C]ass.A convemb]e preferred

stock 1ssued and outstandmg on June 2005 and December 31

: 2004 * . SR '
Warrants and common stock par value $0 01 per share
1,000,000,000 shares authorized: 181,933,035 shares issued and
outstandlng on June 30, 2005 and December 31 2004 983,268 989,511

" Deferred compensation . | : il Howen EU e T (463) e (574)
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Accumulated other comprehenswe income . 1,400 4,712
“Accumulated deficit - o T o E (580,462) . ... (508,097). .
Total stockholders’ equlty 403,743 485,552
Total 11ab111t1es convertlble preferred stock and stockholders B o _ : -

"_. equlty R » S o __.:$]';375,615'§- _ ._$‘],459’385_':* '

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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XO Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

Three months Three months
ended ended
June 30, June 30,
2005 2004

Revenue =+ . ° . Lo L T $ 0362164 0§ 278,183

Costs and expenses:
. Cost of service (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)* 138,024 - = :'118,822
Selling, operating, and general ‘ - 187,772 164,149
Total costs and expenses 386,893 313,036

Interest income 1,9 1__9 841

Investment gain (loss),net - . o . oo o 0 U189 Lo T(3,962)

Interest expense, net " S (‘8',5'88)' (5,846)

Netloss. - -

5 (29507) T8 (43,8200
Preferred stock accretion (3,145) —

~Net loss applicable to common shares /s - -

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$

(0.18) $ (0.31)

181,933,035 140,538,159

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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X0 Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

Six months Six months
ended ended
June 30, June 30,
2005 2004

“Revenue

Costs and expenses:
" Cost of service (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) |~ 285947 |
Selling, operating, and general 379,466 332,702
* Depreciation and amortization - 0o 119461 5 557627

Total costs and expenses 784,874 o | 617,247

5228,783

Loss from operations (61,205 (78,119)°
Interest income ' o o 3,820 _ __ ) 2,._'.546
Investment gain (loss); net " S Le12F o (4291)

Interest expense, net ST T T 16,592) (12,450

_-;Nét-_l_:_oss

S8 (72365 $ . (92314)
Preferred stock accretion (6,242) —
‘Net loss applicable to commion shares >~ ™ ~© > . 0§ o (78,607) 7S (92,314)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (0.43)

A

(0.67)

Weighted average shares, basic and diluted <+ % 77 Lo 181,933,0350° . 137,591,467

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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XO Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Six months Six months
Ended Ended
June 30, June 30,

2005 . 2004
i OPERATING ACTIVITIES S
‘Net loss
" Adjustments to recon;
operatmg act1v1tles 3 i
Deprec1at10n and amortlzatlon
Accrual of'interest ¢ vl _ | 16,3991 12,8867
* Stock-based compensatlon - " ' 111 226
- . Realized loss on investments ~ ~ *% 2ET s i e 3191w 5,665
Changes in assets and 11ab111t1es '
. Accountsreceivable - SEIT R o om0 L a8 T (23,115)
Other assets ' (5,875) (15,198)
© Aecomntspayible’T 0 G U QD) o oms
Accrued liabilities (21,123) (7 722)

U s(2365) 5 (92314)

ile net loss__"'to né_f'f:c"a’s‘h provided by (

19461 | "55 762

~"Net cash provided by (used:1n) operating activities. -+ -

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
. Capital expenditures, net - - L0 S0 DL 30509) T (49;124) 4,
Acquisition payments ' — (361,517)

“ Sales of marketable securities and investments” = .. o a b o J13420 000 21144
Release of escrow account 25,430 —

'+ Net'¢ash used in investing-activities 3 -

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
-+ Repayments of long term debt and capital feases .~ . - 00 (1,525) ¢ 0 (198,363)
Proceeds from i issuance of common stock " T — 197,612
_f:_Proceeds from exerc1se of stock optlons EAT _‘i:'::;:_;‘_;.:' | JE— 2714
Net cash (used in) prov1ded by ﬁnancmg act1v1t1es (1,525) 1,963

Net increase (decrease) in cash-and cash equivalents . - L 36,154 L (442,226)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of perlod 233,989 478,560

- Cash'and cash equ1valents end of perlod R $270;143. T8 36334

SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
Cash paid for 1nterest

C815390  $ 11400
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Stock issued for acquired businesses $ — $ 311,307

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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XO Communications, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Overview

XO Communications Inc. (“XOC”), a Delaware corporation, through its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Company” or “X0”), owns and operates an integrated metropolitan and nationwide fiber optic network that
provides a comprehensive array of telecommunications services to business customers in over 70 United States
markets. Voice services include local and long distance services, calling card and interactive voice response systems.
Data services include Internet access, private data networking and hosting services. XOC, through its subsidiaries,
also offers integrated combined voice and data services in flat rate “bundled” packages. In addition, XO owns
licenses to deliver telecommunications services via local multipoint distribution service, or LMDS, wireless spectrum
in 75 U.S. cities, which we have begun to use to provide fixed broadband wireless backhaul services to mobile
wireless telecommunications carriers. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and activities of
XOC and its subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation

The condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company are unaudited and have been prepared in
accordance with guidelines established for interim financial statements by the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s (the “Commission”) instructions to Form 10-Q and U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States for complete financial statements.

Operating results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full year or for any
subsequent interim period. In the opinion of management, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
contain all the adjustments (consisting of those of a normal recurring nature) considered necessary to present fairly
the financial position and the results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States applicable to interim periods. The accompanying
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of XO, included
in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “2004 Annual Report™).

On June 23, 2004 (the “Closing Date™), XO completed the acquisition of all of the telecommunications services
assets (the “Acquired Businesses”) of Allegiance Telecom, Inc. (“Allegiance”). XO did not acquire Allegiance’s
customer premises installation and maintenance business, shared hosting business, or dedicated dial-up Internet
access service business (the “Unacquired Businesses™). The accompanying financial statements include the results of
operations from the Acquired Businesses since June 23, 2004.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include all of the assets, liabilities and results of operations of
subsidiaries in which the Company has a controlling interest. All inter-company accounts and transactions among
consolidated entities have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Management periodically
assesses the accuracy of these estimates and assumptions. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

http./fwww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683e10vq htm (12 of 57)9/23/2005 12:56:35 PM



elOvq

In the first and second quarter of 2005, the Company resolved certain billing disputes with telecommunications
service providers (the “Carriers”). In accordance with the Company’s policy for disputed charges, all amounts billed
by the Carriers had previously been recorded as a cost of service in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Operations. Because these disputes were resolved favorably to the Company, they resulted in a
reduction of cost of service of approximately $10.0 million and $10.5 million during the first and second quarters of
2005, respectively. Additionally, in the second quarter of 2005, the Company revised estimates related to liabilities
assumed in relation to the Acquired Businesses. These revisions resulted in a reduction to cost of service of
$3.9 million. :

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in order to conform to the current year
presentation.

Adjustments

In the second quarter of 20035, in conjunction with a review of certain accounting policies, the Company
determined that it was not applying the proper generally accepted accounting principles to lease escalation provisions
contained in certain of its operating leases since its emergence from bankruptcy in January 2003. Additionally, the
Company determined that depreciation expense related to certain assets had been calculated using lives inconsistent
with the Company’s depreciation policy, and that certain leasehold improvements had not been expensed when the
related lease contract had been terminated prior to the end of the original lease term. Accordingly, an adjustment of
$8.3 million was recorded to increase selling, operating and general expenses and other current liabilities, and an
adjustment of $2.5 million was recorded to increase depreciation expense and to reduce Property and Equipment, net
during the three months ended June 30, 2005. The impact of these adjustments would have increased selling
operating and general expense by approximately $4.5 million, $3.3 million, and $0.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, December 31, 2004 and the three months ended March 31, 2005, respectively, and would have
increased depreciation expense by approximately $0.5 million, $1.0 million, and $1.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, December 31, 2004 and the three months ended March 31, 2005, respectively, had they been
recorded in the appropriate periods. The Company has concluded that these adjustments are immaterial to the
financial statements on both a quantitative and qualitative basis for previously issued financial statements, and to the
estimated results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2005. Accordingly, the adjustments have been made
in the current period financial statements. These adjustments do not affect the Company’s historical or future cash
flows or the timing of payments under the relevant leases.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Net income (loss) per common share, basic and diluted, is computed by dividing net income (loss) applicable to
common shares by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. In periods of net loss,
the assumed common share equivalents for options, warrants, and the Class A convertible preferred stock are anti-
dilutive, and are therefore not included in the weighted average shares balance on the consolidated statement of
operations. As of June 30, 2005, the Company has options outstanding to purchase approximately 9.5 million shares
of common stock, of which 4.2 million are exercisable, and exercisable warrants to purchase shares up to an
additional 23.7 million shares of common stock that can further dilute investors, if exercised.

Stock-Based Compensation

As allowed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation-Transition and Disclosure,” (“SFAS No. 148”), the Company has chosen to continue to account for
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compensation cost associated with its employee stock option plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB
No. 25" adopting the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS No. 123”). Under this method, no compensation expense is
recorded if stock options are granted at an exercise price equal to or greater than the fair market value of the
Company’s stock on the grant date. If the Company had adopted the fair value method of accounting for its stock
awards, stock-based compensation would have been determined based on the fair value for all stock awards at the
grant date using a Black-Scholes pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions:
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Three months ended

June 30,

2005 2004
 Expected volatility - 61.0% 63.0% :
- Risk free 1nterest rate - 38% 2.8%

Dividend yield N S R TR T00%
Expected life (range in years) - - 40 )
Fair value per share at grant date. .~~~ 7 o T T 08094
Six months ended
June 30,

2005 2004
Expected volatility " Lo 61.0%: - 63.0%
Risk free interest rate 3.7% 2.7%
Dividend yield = 0.0%. 1 +10.0% -
Expected life (range in years) 4. O 4.0
‘Fair value per share at grant date " .96 83123 %

The Company’s pro forma net loss applicable to common shares, and pro forma net loss per common share, basic
and diluted, if the Company had used the fair value method would have been as follows (dollars in thousands, except
per share data):

Three months ended June 30,
2005 2004

‘Net loss applicable to common shares, asreported | .. 220 .. $(32652) . $(43,820) -
Add: Stock-based employee compensatlon expense included in net loss as

reported 97
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatron expense determmed
. under fair value based methods for all stock awards : 5 (2 227)
Pro forma net loss applicable to common shares $(45 950)
“'Net loss per common share, basic and diluted —asreported. ©": " $.-(0:31)
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted — pro forma § (0.33)

Six months ended June 30,
2005 2004

Add: Stock-based employee compensatron expense mcluded in net loss as
reported 111
. Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense dete ' R

'under fair value based ‘methods for all stock awards “ch R S
Pro forma net loss applicable to common shares $(81,918)
" "Net loss per common share, basic,and diluted — as reported - o 8.(0:43)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted — pro forma § (0.45)

The XO Communications, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Stock Incentive Plan’) was adopted in
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January 2003 and amended and restated in July 2003. Under the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company is
authorized to issue awards for up to 17.6 million shares of its common stock in the form of restricted stock or options
to purchase stock. The Company granted a total of 195,000 options during the three months ended June 30, 2005.
The Company granted a total of 342,500 options during the six months ended June 30, 2005.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes the Company’s net loss applicable to common shares, as well as net unrealized gains
and losses on available-for-sale investments. The following table reflects the Company’s calculation of
comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 (dollars in thousands):
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Three Months Ended

June 30,
2005 _ 2004
Net loss applicable to common shares - ... . . 0 o UTU§(32,652) L $(43,820)
Other comprehensive loss: -
“  Net unrealized (losses) gains on 1nvestment.§?f<'_'7"' SRS LB (15,2200 o 1627
Comprehensive loss $(33,872) $(42,193)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2005 2004
Net loss appllcable to common shares '$(78,607) $(92,314)
Other comprehenslve loss:
© Netunrealized (losses) gains on investment - - ¢ UE (2780 3,021
Reclassification adjustment for gain included in net mcome ' (532) —
‘Comprehensiveloss. + © ton o n oo e Te $(81.919) $(89,293)
Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, broadband wireless licenses, and intangible assets to be held
and used. Long-lived assets, excluding intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount should be addressed pursuant to
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” (“SFAS No. 144™). The criteria for determining impairment for such long-lived assets to be held and used is
determined by comparing the carrying value of these long-lived assets to management’s best estimate of future
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets. The Company believes that no impairment
existed under SFAS No. 144 as of June 30, 2005. In the event that there are changes in the planned use of the
Company’s long-lived assets or its expected future undiscounted cash flows are reduced significantly, the Company’s
assessment of its ability to recover the carrying value of these assets under SFAS No. 144 could change.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually during the fourth quarter, or more
frequently if an event indicates that the asset might be impaired, in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”). XO retained independent
appraisers to perform a preliminary valuation of its assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2004. This valuation was
necessary as XO’s fair value, as determined by its stock price, was less than its book value. Based on this preliminary
valuation, XO recorded a $212.5 million non-cash impairment charge on its goodwill during the year ended
December 31, 2004. A full valuation was completed in the first quarter of 2005. There were no changes to the
estimate of the impairment recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “‘Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS
No. 123R”), was issued in December 2004. Once effective, this statement will require entities to recognize
compensation cost for all equity-classified awards granted, modified or settled after the effective date using a fair-
value measurement method. In addition, public companies will recognize compensation expense for the unvested
portion of awards outstanding as of the effective date based on their grant-date fair value as calculated under the
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original provisions of SFAS No. 123. The effective date for XO is the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2006. The
amount of compensation expense that XO records after the adoption of SFAS No. 123R in 2006 and beyond will
depend on the amount, timing and pricing of stock option grants.

2. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value of the equity securities available-for-sale as
of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004, are in the following table. Other investments as of June 30, 2005 and
December 31, 2004 consist of investments in the debt of McLeodUSA, Inc. (dollars in thousands):
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Gross
Gross Unrealized
Unrealized Holding
Fair Value Cost Basis Holding Gains (Losses)
Asof June30,2005 T o0 s L
Equity securities $ 2,940 $ 1,400 $—
Other investments SR S U PR o) & = i
Total marketable secuntles and other
investments $ 9,455 $ 1,400 $—
" ASof December 31,2004~ G UEE DT o T
Equity securities - o \ $ 6,417 $ 1,705 $4,712 $—
_ Other investments - I 10,883 v 10,883 0 el
Total marketable securmes and other
investments $17,300 $12,588 $4,712 $

3. LONG-LIVED ASSETS

XO’s long-lived assets include property and equipment, broadband wireless licenses, and identifiable intangible
assets to be held and used.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following components (dollars in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2005 2004
' Telecommunications networks and acquired bandwidth .~ =7 0 = §711,296 0 7 $ 675,844
Fumlture ﬁxtures equlpment leasehold 1mprovements and other 251,547 236,788
S ' v T S I L 962,843 & 912’632
Less accumulated deprec1at10n - ' - \ (298 873) (208 032)
Construction-in-progress and undeployed assets | 100 759 115,936
S A SR T oo e 8764729, 0 $820,536

Depreciation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 was $48.9 million and $95.2 million,
respectively, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 was $22.8 million and $42.0 million, respectively.
Assets classified as construction-in-progress and undeployed assets are not being depreciated as they have not yet
been placed in service. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, XO capitalized interest on construction
costs of $0.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 capitalized
interest of $1.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Broadband Wireless Licenses and Other Intangibles

Broadband wireless licenses and other intangible assets consisted of the following components (dollars in
thousands):
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June 30, December 31,
2005 2004

Broadband wireless licenses  ~*~ » 0 o000 7550508 5 59508
Customer relationships R ' ' 112,366 112,366
“.. Internally developed technology == - SO 9521 09,520 o
Acquired trade names R ' 5,673 5673
LT e TeT0esT o TRT068
Less: accumulated amortization o - (88,163) (63,864)

XO Trade name — indefinite life asset 16,662 16,662
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Amortization expense related to intangible assets for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 was
$12.2 million and $24.3 million, respectively and for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 was
$7.2 million and $13.8 million, respectively.

4. LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company has a secured credit facility (the “Credit Facility™) which matures on July 15, 2009. There are no
additional borrowings available under the Credit Facility. At June 30, 2005, more than 90% of the underlying loans
of the Credit Facility are held by an entity controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn, Chairman of the Company’s Board of
Directors (“Mr. Icahn™). At June 30, 2005, long-term debt consisted of $376.8 million in principal and $5.9 million
of accrued interest that, if not paid, converts to principal. There are no current debt service requirements since cash
interest payments as well as automatic and permanent quarterly reductions on the principal amount outstanding do
not commence until 2009. However, in the event that consolidated excess cash flow (as defined in the Credit Facility) .
for any fiscal quarter during the term of the agreement is greater than $25.0 million, at the request of the lender, the
Company will pay an amount equal to 50% of such excess cash flow greater than $25.0 million toward the reduction
of outstanding indebtedness. In addition, if the ratio of XO’s consolidated earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) to consolidated interest expense for four consecutive quarters exceeds
4:1, XO would be required to pay cash interest, unless waived by the lenders. The Company can elect to begin
paying interest in cash prior to the required date. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company’s
option, at an alternate base rate, as defined, or a Eurodollar rate plus, in each case, applicable margins. Once the
Company begins to pay accrued interest in cash, the applicable margins are reduced. At June 30, 2005, the
annualized weighted average interest rate applicable to outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility was 8.9%.

The security for the Credit Facility consists of all assets of XO including the stock of its direct and indirect
subsidiaries, and substantially all the assets of those subsidiaries. The Credit Facility limits additional indebtedness,
liens, dividend payments and certain investments and transactions, and contains certain covenants with respect to
EBITDA requirements, as the term EBITDA is defined in the Credit Facility, and maximum capital expenditures.
The Company was required to achieve a minimum consolidated EBITDA of not less than $135.0 million for the
twelve-month period ended June 30, 2005. The Company is also required under the terms of the Credit Facility to
maintain an unrestricted cash balance of $25 million at the end of each fiscal quarter.

In May of 2005, XO obtained a waiver of compliance with the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant (the
“Waiver”) contained in the Credit Facility through December 31, 2006. The Waiver was obtained from the affiliate
of Mr. [cahn which holds a majority of the Company’s loans outstanding under that agreement. In connection with
the Waiver, XO agreed that in the event of a sale of the Company and in the event of other significant sale or
divestiture transactions, it will prepay all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility in cash and offer to
repurchase outstanding shares of XO’s preferred stock at their liquidation value accrued through the date of
redemption for cash or, in certain events, securities. The affiliate of Mr. Icahn which holds a majority of such
Preferred Stock agreed to accept that offer, to the extent it consists of cash.

In the event that the Company is not in compliance with the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant when the
Waiver expires, there can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to obtain another waiver.

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Various entities controlled by Mr. Icahn hold the following interests in XO:
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Outstanding Series A, B and C
Common Stock Warrants Credit Facility Preferred Stock
At December 31, 2004 Greater than 50%  Greater than 40%  Greater than 90% 95%
At June 30, 2005 Greater than 50%  Greater than 40%  Greater than 90% 95%

As a result of his majority ownership, Mr. Icahn can elect all of our directors, appoint the members of the
committees of our Board of Directors, appoint key members of our executive management team, and appoint our
auditors. Currently, Mr. Icahn is Chairman of the Board of Directors and three employees of Icahn Associates also sit
on the Board of Directors and various Committees of the Board of Directors. Under applicable law and XO’s
Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws, certain actions cannot be taken without the approval of holders of a

10
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majority of our voting stock, including, without limitation, mergers, acquisitions, the sale of substantially all our
assets, and amendments to our Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws.

Mr. Icahn, through various entities that he owns or controls, has the right to require XO to register, under the
Securities Act of 1933, shares of XO’s Common Stock held by such entities and to include shares of XO’s Common
Stock held by them in certain registration statements filed by XO.

The Company provides certain telecommunications services to companies affiliated with Mr. Icahn. The total
revenue recognized on such services for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 was $1.2 million and
$0.5 million, respectively. The total revenue recognized on such services for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and
2004 was $2.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

During the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, the Company purchased approximately $0.3 million and
$0.1 million, respectively, in services from Icahn affiliates. During the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, the
Company purchased approximately $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in services from Icahn affiliates.

During the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, the Company purchased approximately $0.5 million and
$0.1 million, respectively in hardware and services from Dell Computers, Inc. During the six months ended June 30,
2005 and 2004, the Company purchased approximately $0.6 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in hardware and
services from Dell Computers, Inc. Mr. Adam Dell, an XO director, is the brother of Mr. Michael Dell, the Chairman
of Dell Computers, Inc.

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Proceedings

XO is involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings consisting of commercial, securities, tort, and
employment matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” XO makes a provision for a liability when it is both
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. XO believes it has
adequate provisions for any such matters. XO reviews these provisions at least quarterly and adjusts these provisions
to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events
pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently unpredictable. However, XO believes that it has valid defenses
with respect to legal matters pending against it. Nevertheless, it is possible that cash flows or results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected in any particular period by the unfavorable resolution or disposition of one
or more of these contingencies.

Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust Litigation

Subsequent to the Closing Date, the Unacquired Businesses as well as the ongoing Allegiance bankruptcy claims
were transferred from Allegiance to the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust (the “ATLT”). XO filed an
administrative claim with the Bankruptcy Court in August 2004 against the ATLT, for at least approximately
$40 million under the Purchase Agreement and other agreements between the parties, relating to a variety of actions
allegedly taken by Allegiance and the ATLT. Subsequently, XO informed the ATLT that the amount in dispute
approximates $50 million. The ATLT has asserted a counterclaim alleging that it is owed approximately
$100 million in respect to operating, working capital and other disputes that have arisen between the parties. XO is
vigorously trying its claim and believes that the ATLT’s counterclaim is frivolous and without merit. As of June 30,
2005, XO had $8.0 million recorded in other assets, net related to certain payments made by XO on behalf of the
Unacquired Businesses that XO believes is reimbursable by the ATLT. Other than this amount, the accompanying
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financial statements do not include any impact from the litigation. The case went to trial on May 2, 2005 and has not
yet been decided.

Prior to the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses, XO purchased $92.5 million in face value of unsecured
Allegiance debt securities (the “Claim”). Consequently, XO is a claimant in Allegiance’s bankruptcy. It is difficult to
assess how much of the Claim XO will recover, or when the recovery will be paid. This assessment could change
based upon the total amount of claims the ATLT is directed to pay, the amount of administrative costs that it incurs,
and the value of its assets, including 45.4 million shares of XO’s common stock. The estimated fair value of the
Claim of approximately $26.1 million is recorded in other assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
June 30, 2005.

11

http /fwww sec gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683c10vq htm (24 of 57)9/23/2005 12 56:36 PM



elOvq

Telecom of Nevada Litigation

Start Investments Inc. (“Start”) is XOC’s 10% minority partner in Telecommunications of Nevada (“TON”), a
Nevada joint venture company whose results of operations are consolidated into the accompanying financial
statements. XOC and Start hold promissory notes (“the Notes™) from TON for $63.5 million (the “XOC Note”) and
$7.1 million (the “Start Note™), respectively. The Notes became due in December 2002 and were not paid or
extended on that date, but cannot be accelerated or foreclosed upon without the consent of XOC, which XOC has
declined to give, acting in what it believes are the best interests of TON. TON has paid current interest on the Notes
to both holders, but at the historic rate of interest, not the higher default rate. Start filed a suit against TON and XOC
in October of 2003, which alleged that XOC had tortiously interfered with Start’s contractual relations with TON and
breached it’s duty of good faith and fair dealing. The suit seeks temporary injunctive and declaratory relief, as well as
damages of approximately $9.0 million, consisting primarily of the principal amount of the Start Note and interest at
the default rate. In July 2005, Start moved to amend its complaint to add a claim against TON for breach of contract
for failure to pay the Start Note. XOC believes it has valid defenses to the claims raised by Start and to its purported
calculation of any damages. However, in the event that TON is required to pay the full principal amount of the Notes,
absent a negotiated, out-of-court financial restructuring, TON may be forced to seek protection under chapter 11 of
the Federal Bankruptcy Code, which could trigger a default on the Credit Facility of the Company.

The XOC Note and the accrued interest payable from TON to XOC, and the related note and interest receivable of
XOC from TON, are inter-company balances and, in accordance with the principles of consolidation discussed in
Note 1, have been eliminated in the consolidation of the financial statements. The Start Note and the related accrued
interest payable, totaling approximately $8.3 million, are included in other current liabilities in the accompanying
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

12
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Forward-looking and Cautionary Statements

Some statements and information contained in this document are not historical facts, but are “forward-looking
statements,” as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “plans,”
“may,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” or “anticipates” or the negative of these words or other variations of these
words or other comparable words, or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. Such forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding:

27 ¢

»  our services, including the development and deployment of data products and services based on IP, Ethernet
and other technologies and strategies to expand our targeted customer base and broaden our sales channels;

» the operation of our network and back office systems, including with respect to the development of IP
protocols;

» liquidity and financial resources, including anticipated capital expenditures, funding of capital expenditures
and anticipated levels of indebtedness;

» trends related to and expectations regarding the results of operations in future periods, including but not
limited to those statements set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations below; and

» the impact of judicial decisions, legislation, and regulatory developments on our cost structure, services, and
marketing initiatives.

All such forward-looking statements are qualified by the inherent risks and uncertainties surrounding expectations
generally and also may materially differ from our actual experience involving any one or more of these matters and
subject areas. The operation and results of our business also may be subject to the effect of other risks and
uncertainties in addition to the relevant qualifying factors identified in the “Liquidity Assessment” discussions set
forth below and the “Risks and Uncertainties™ discussion and the “Risk Factors” section of our 2004 Annual Report,
including, but not limited to:

»  general economic conditions in the geographic areas that we are targeting for the sale of telecommunications
services;

» the ability to achieve and maintain market penetration and average per customer revenue levels sufficient to
provide financial viability to our business;

» the quality and price of similar or comparable telecommunications services offered, or to be offered, by our
current or future competitors; and

» future telecommunications-related legislation or regulatory developments and the conduct of incumbent
carriers in reaction to such developments.

Management Overview

We provide a comprehensive array of telecommunications services to business customers. We provide our
services, including local and long distance voice using both traditional delivery methods and Voice over Internet
Protocol, or VoIP, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services, through our national

http.//www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683e10vq htm (26 of 57)9/23/2005 12:56:36 PM



el0vq

telecommunications network, which consists of more than 9,000 route miles of fiber optic lines connecting 953
unique Incumbent Local Exchange Carrier, or ILEC, end-office collocations in 37 U.S. cities. In addition, we own
licenses to deliver telecommunications services via local multipoint distribution service, or LMDS, wireless spectrum
in 75 U.S. cities. We market our services primarily to business customers, ranging from small and medium
businesses to Fortune 500 companies to carrier and wholesale customers. Our services offer an effective
telecommunications solution for nearly any business, and our national telecommunications network is particularly
advantageous to multi-location businesses that desire to improve telecommunications among their locations, whether
within a single metropolitan area or across the country.

13
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To serve our customers’ broad telecommunications needs, we operate a network comprised of a series of rings of
fiber optic cables located in the central business districts of numerous metropolitan areas, which we refer to as metro
fiber networks, that are connected primarily by a network of numerous dedicated wavelengths of transmission
capacity on fiber optic cables, which we refer to as an intercity network. By integrating these networks with
advanced telecommunications technologies, we are able to provide a comprehensive array of telecommunications
services primarily or entirely over a network that we own or control, from the initiation of the voice or data
transmission to the point of termination, which we refer to as end-to-end service. This capability enables us to
provide telecommunications services between customers connected to our network and among customers with
multiple locations primarily or entirely over our network.

With the acquisition of Allegiance Telecom, Inc.’s, or Allegiance’s, network assets and customer base, which we
refer to as the Acquired Businesses, in June 2004, we became one of the nation’s largest competitive providers of
national local telecommunications and broadband services. We own one of the largest networks of nationwide
connections to the Regional Bell Operating Companies’, or RBOCs’, networks, and doubled our Points of Presence
(PoPs) within the 36 metropolitan areas where both XO and Allegiance operated. We believe that this extensive
network will allow the combined company to (i) improve delivery of service to customers, (ii) improve operating
results, and (iii) improve our ability to compete with other companies in the nationwide local telecommunications
services market.

Management uses certain key performance indicators, or KPIs, to assess operational effectiveness of the business,
including:

*  Gross Margin
*  Sales, Operating and General Expenses as a Percentage of Revenue
» EBITDA

The following table outlines the measurements of these KPIs as a percentage of revenue for the second quarter of
2005 and 2004:

Three Months Ended June 30,

2005 2004
Gross margin = - o G IR S o 61.9% - 57:3% .
EBITDA ' - O 10.6%  GB.1%)
Sa]es’ Operatlng&genera] expenses oo e e S A 518% B 590% .

Six Months Ended June 30,

2005 2004
- Grosswiargin T L T B not ¥ ..—_s__\_. e T
EBITDA 8.3% (4.9%)
Sales, operating & general expenses’*; LR 52.4% 61:7%

Management believes that EBITDA and gross margin are measures of operating performance and liquidity that
reflect the ongoing effectiveness of management’s sales, cost reduction, and acquisition initiatives. Sales, operating
and general expense is an important measure of the efficiency with which we sell, provision and support our services,
and the efficiency of our back office operations. See the further discussion of EBITDA and gross margin in the
Comparison of Financial Results section below.
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As discussed further under the heading “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates”, the company settled certain
billing disputes with telecommunications service providers in the first and second quarter of 2005, which resulted in
a reduction of cost of service of approximately $10.0 million and $10.5 million, respectively. Additionally, in the
second quarter of 2005, we revised estimates related to liabilities assumed in relation to the Acquired Businesses.
These revisions resulted in a reduction to cost of service of $3.9 million. These settlements and estimate revisions
contributed significantly to the improvements in the gross margin and EBITDA KPlIs discussed above.

14
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Recent Events

In March 2005, we retained Jefferies & Company, Inc. (“Jefferies™) to present strategic alternatives based on,
among other things, the competitive environment of the telecommunications industry, the current regulatory
environment, and the recent and pending mergers and acquisitions in our industry. We have received the Jefferies
report, which addressed potential operational improvements, disposition and financing possibilities, and in
May 2005, we retained Jefferies to assist us in exploring our strategic alternatives.

On April 18, 2005, we launched the Company’s initial Voice over Internet Protocol, or VoIP, product, named
XOptions Flex, in 45 major metropolitan markets which includes more than 1,000 cities nationwide. We later
expanded the product offering to two additional markets. VolP enables customers to utilize “dynamic bandwidth
allocation” to maximize the utilization of their bandwidth by allocating it for data applications during periods when
voice lines are idle. XOptions Flex bundles unlimited local and long distance calling, dedicated Intemnet access and
web hosting services for a flat monthly price. In July of 2005, we signed the 1000th order of the XOptions Flex
bundle package.

We have also begun to provide fixed broadband wireless backhaul services to mobile wireless
telecommunications carriers using our LMDS spectrum. In April 2005, we reached an agreement to provide fixed
broadband wireless services on a limited basis to one of the national mobile wireless carriers. We will continue to
pursue opportunities to market and sell our fixed wireless solution to mobile wireless carriers both for primary .
network connectivity and redundancy and are exploring market opportunities to use this spectrum to provide local
transport services to other major enterprise customers. We also plan to offer customers an LMDS-based wireless
transport solution that would aggregate data traffic onto Ethernet and other higher speed wireless paths.

Results of Operations

The operational results of XO for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 are discussed below. As the
acquisition of the Acquired Businesses closed on June 23, 2004, or the Closing Date, our consolidated results of
operations include the Acquired Businesses from the Closing Date through June 30, 2005. Forward looking
information with respect to consolidated XO is discussed at the end of each financial results analysis. Our actual
experience may differ materially from our projections of the combined company based on many factors including,
among others:

« the inherent uncertainties in projecting future results for any business;
* the inability to predict the outcome of future judicial decisions, telecommunications related legislation or

regulatory decisions, or the reaction by incumbent carriers to such developments.
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Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2005 versus the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2004

The following table contains certain data from our unaudited consolidated and condensed statement of operations
presented in thousands of dollars and expressed as a percentage of total revenue. The information in this table should
be read in conjunction with our consolidated and condensed financial statements, including the notes thereto,
appearing elsewhere in this report (amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data):

Three Months Ended June 30,
2005 2004

TS 362164 0I000% TS 278183 100.0%

Revenue

Costs and expenses:

' Cost of service: (excluswe of S ' } Al
depreciation and amortlzatlon) S 138,024 38 1% <. 7118,8220 ¢ 42 7%
Selling, operatmg and general 187,772 T 51.8% 164,149 59.0%

. Depreciation and amortization' -~ : - ° -61,097 - - :16.9% S 9030,0657 1Q._8%
Total costs and expenses 386,893 106.8% 313,036 112.5%

Loss from operations, - -, . 7 Lo L(24,729) (6.8%) . . . (34,853) I+ (12:5%)

Interest income 1,919 0.5% 841 0.3%

Investment gain (loss) 7 T T 1891 L 05% 0 (3962) Lo (14%)
Interest expense, net (8,588) (2.4%) (5,846) (2.1%)

“Netloss

Cs_eosm a1 S @s) (58w
Preferred stock accretion (3,145) (0.9%) — —%
" Netloss applicablé fo common shares, S (3265) Q0% S (43820 (158%

Net loss per common share, basic and
diluted (0.18) (0.31)

- Weighted:’ average shares out't ndmg, VIR R :
. basic'and d11uted Lo o i 181,933,035

Gross margin (1) 224,140 61.9% 159,361 57.3%
CEBITDAQ) . . L R259L L 106% . B30 (%)
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Six Months Ended Junc 30,
2005 2004

Revenie 7§ 7569 . 1000% 5 539,28 100.0%

Costs and expenses:

E Cost of semce (excluswe of 5 : L " -f,_,-_ '
deprematlon and amortlzatlon) e 285 947-:" o 39 5%;-;:=_5:_'- © 228,783 - 424%

' Selling, operating and general _ 379,466 52. 4%___ - 332,702 - 6L.7%
~_ Depreciation and amortization -~ . 1194617 0 165% 5. 55762 . . 10.3%
Total costs and expenses 784,874 108.5% 617,247 114.5%

Loss fomoperations T (61209 0 @S%) (819 (145%)
Interest income . 380 05% 2546 05%
Investment gain (loss) U 0 Lel2 T 02%T L @29) L (08%)
Interest expense, net (16,592) 2. 3%) (12,450) (2.3%)
Netloss' . LR (2365 5 U(100%) T ST92314) o (17.1%)
Preferred stock accretion (6,242) (0.9%) — —%
~ Net loss applicable to common shares:: % $ = (78,607) " (109%) ~-$ - "(92314)<"  (17.1%)

Net loss per common share, basic and
diluted (0.43) (0.67)

~ ‘Weighted a average shares outstandmg,;r._
bas1c and. dlluted :

181,933,035 . 137,501,467

Gross margin (1) 437,722 60.5% 310,345 57.6%
EBITDAQ) . mss. e T gsss) . (49%)

(1) Gross margin is defined as revenue less cost of service, and excludes depreciation and amortization. Gross
margin is not intended to replace operating income (loss), net income (loss), cash flow and other measures of
financial performance reported in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.
Rather, gross margin is an important measure used by management to assess operating performance of the
Company. Additionally, we believe that gross margin is a standard measure of operating performance that is
commonly reported and widely used by analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the
telecommunications industry. Gross margin as used in this document may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other companies due to differences in accounting policies. A reconciliation between gross
margin and net loss is as follows:
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Three Months Ended June 30,

2005 2004
\Net IOSS " - =:::.: | . 3 (29 507) _______ $ ( 43 820) l. E
Selling, operatlng and general ' ' 187,772 164,149
Interest income SR Ca T e s (1,919) el e (84D)
Investment (galn) loss, net ' ‘ (1 891) _ 3,962
Interest expense, net S Y L S . 8588 v 5846
Depreciation and amortlzatlon B “ " 61,097 130,065
Grossmargin . oy ool 208224140 0 $159,361

Six Months Ended June 30,

2005 2004
Netloss . . 1w S 336 392319
Sellmg operatlng and general - . 379,466 332,702
Interest income ' R S & (3,820) (2,546)
Invesnnént (galn) loss, net - R (1, 612) 4,291
Interest expense,net’ .. p o0 0T 16,592 12450
Depre01at10n and amortlzatlon - o 119,461' 55,762
Gross margin™'" s U0 e e T sa3TT2 $310,345

(2) EBITDA is defined as net income or loss before depreciation, amortization, interest expense, and interest
- income. EBITDA is not intended to replace operating income (loss), net income (loss), cash flow and other
measures of financial performance reported in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States. Rather, EBITDA is an important measure used by management to assess operating performance
of the company. EBITDA as used in this document may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported
by other companies due to differences in accounting policies. Additionally, EBITDA as defined here does not

have the same meaning as EBITDA as defined in our secured credit facility agreement. A reconciliation between
EBITDA and net loss is as follows:
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Three Months Ended June 30,

2005 2004
Netloss - $(29;507) v $(43,820)
Interest i 1ncome (841)
Interest expense, net: - o 5,846

Deprec:latlon and amortlz.atlon h
EBITDA I

Six Months Ended June 30,

2005 2004
Netloss “$(72,365)7 0 $(92,314)
Interest income (2 546)
Interest expense, net 12,450
Deprecxatlon and amortlzatlon 55,762
EBITDA" sl - $(26,648)

Revenue. Total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2005 increased 30.2% to $362.2 million from
$278.2 million for the same period in 2004. Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2005 increased 34.2% to
$723.7 million from $539.1 million for the same period in 2004. Substantially all of the increase is attributable to the
inclusion of the Acquired Businesses in the results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005.

We believe that revenue for the remainder of 2005 will remain flat relative to the second quarter of 2005 results.

Revenue was earned from providing the following services (dollars in thousands):

Three months ended June 30,
% of % of
2005 Revenue 2004 Revenue % Change
Lo 52.0%%- 0 $141,679 :509% - 33.0%
34. 4% 12.7%

Voice services'
Data services
\ Integrated voice and data% Y o

Va7 61.1%.

Total revenue $362,164 100.0% $278,183 100.0% 30.2%
Six months ended June 30,
% of % of

3 3 \ 2005 Rewenue 2004 Re\ enue % Change
Voice services . i o - 78374797 ¢ 7T 51.8%.. ©$272,600 S 50.5% 37.5%
Data services 216171 29, 9% I8, 561 35, 0% 14.6%
“services L HE 132,701 8. 3%_ SO -77,967___ 14.5% o 702%
Total revenue $723,669 100.0% $539,128 100.0% 34.2%

Voice services revenue includes revenue from local and long distance voice services, prepaid calling card
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processing, interactive voice resporise services, stand-alone long distance services and other voice
telecommunications based services. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, revenue from voice services
increased $46.8 million or 33.0% and $102.2 million or 37.5% as compared to the same periods in 2004.
Substantially all of the increase is attributable to the inclusion of the Acquired Businesses in the results for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2005.

Data services revenue includes revenue from Internet access, network access and web hosting services. For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2005, revenue from data services increased $12.2 million or 12.7% and
$27.6 million or 14.6% as compared to the same periods in 2004. Substantially all of the increase is attributable to
the inclusion of the Acquired Businesses in the results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005.

Integrated voice and data services revenue includes revenue from our XOptions, XOptions Flex and Total
Communications service offerings, XO’s flat-rate bundled packages offering a combination of voice and data
services and integrated access. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, revenue from integrated voice and
data services increased $25.0 million or 61.1% and $54.7 million or 70.2% as compared to the same periods in 2004.
Substantially all of the increase is attributable to the inclusion of the Acquired Businesses in the results for the three
months ended June 30, 2005.

Costs and expenses. The table below provides costs and expenses by classification and as a percentage of revenue
(dollars in thousands).
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Three months ended

Three months ended

June 30, June 30,
% of % of
2005 Revenue 2004 Revenue % Change
“, Costs and expenses:: Lo . Lo R (I
Cost of service (excludmg
depreciation and
amortization) $138, 024 38.1% $118,822 42.7% 16.2%
Selling, operatmg and L R e B o
general SN 187 772 518% 59.0% o 14.4%
Depreciation and ” -
amortization 61,097 16.9% 30,065 10.8% 103.2%
Total U $386893 - 0 o0 313086 0 T TT36%
Six months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
% of % of
2005 Revenue 2004 Revenue % Change
< Costsand expenses: . . o0 O T T O
Cost of service (excludmg
depreciation and
amortization) $285,947 39.5% $228,783 42, 4% 25.0%
- Selling, operating and S S P AR TIEEL N ¢
general . S 379,466 . 332,702 61 7%3 14.1%
Deprematlon and i ' :
amortization 119,461 16.5% 55,762 10.3% 114.2%
i+ Total S $784,874 33 . $617,247 - 27.2%

Cost of service (exclusive of depreciation and amortization). Cost of service includes expenses directly

associated with providing telecommunications services to our customers. Cost of service includes, among other
items, the cost of connecting customers to our network via leased facilities, the costs of leasing components of our
network facilities and costs paid to third party service providers for interconnect access and transport services. Cost
of service as a percentage of revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 decreased as compared to the
same periods in 2004, primarily due to $20.5 million in settlements with two telecommunications service providers,
$10.5 million of which was recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2005 and $10.0 million of which was
recorded during the three months ended March 31, 2005. Additionally, in the second quarter of 2005, we revised
estimates related to liabilities assumed in relation to the Acquired Businesses. These revisions resulted in a reduction
to cost of service of $3.9 million. We originally estimated a potential benefit of approximately $60.0 million in pro
forma annualized network synergies for the combined companies if our integration efforts with the Acquired
Businesses were successful. We have made substantial progress integrating the two companies and are on plan to

reach our synergy targets.

We believe that, excluding the settlements and estimate revisions referenced above, cost of service as a percentage
of revenue for the remainder of 2005 will remain stable to slightly down relative to the second quarter of 2005
results. Cost of service will be adversely impacted due to the recently enacted regulatory rules on unbundled network
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element, or UNE, loop and transport rates as discussed in the “Regulatory Overview” section below. The UNE and
transport rate increases will be phased in during 2005 and the first quarter of 2006. We expect these increases to have
a total annualized impact, including transitional and special access rates, of approximately $85 million by the end of
the first quarter of 2006. However, we believe that actions we are taking, including negotiating rate reductions,
network optimization, and price increases to our customers, will offset these increases.

Selling, operating and general. Selling, operating and general expense includes expenses related to network
maintenance, sales and marketing, network operations and engineering, information systems, general corporate office
functions and collection risks. Selling, operating and general expense for the three months ended June 30, 2005 was
$187.8 million or 51.8% of revenue compared to $164.1 million or 59.0% of revenue for the three months ended
June 30, 2004. Selling, operating and general expense for the six months ended June 30, 2005 was $379.5 million or
52.4% of revenue compared to $332.7 million or 61.7% of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2004. The
improvements as a percentage of revenue are largely attributable to the synergies obtained through the integration of
the Acquired Businesses. We originally estimated a potential benefit of approximately $100.0 million in pro forma
annualized selling, operating and general expense synergies for the combined companies if our integration efforts
with the Acquired Businesses were successful. We have completely integrated the administrative functions and have
exceeded the estimated annualized synergies.

As discussed further in the section entitled Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below, selling, operating
and general expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 includes an adjustment of approximately
$8.3 million relating to our accounting for leases.

We believe that selling, operating and general expense will remain stable or decrease slightly as a percentage of
revenue during the remainder of 2005 as compared to the second quarter of 2005 results.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation expense was $48.9 million for the three months ended June 30,
2005, compared to $22.8 million for the same period in 2004 and $95.2 million for the six months ended June 30,
2005, compared to $42.0 million for the same period in 2004. Total amortization expense was $12.2 million for the
second quarter of 2005 and $7.2 million for the second quarter of 2004 and was $24.3 million in the first half of 2005
and $13.7 million in the first half of 2004. Substantially all of the increases in depreciation and amortization are
attributable to the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses.
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As of June 30, 2005, we had approximately $100.8 million of fixed assets and $23.5 million of broadband
wireless licenses that have not yet been placed into service and, accordingly, are not currently being depreciated or
amortized. We expect depreciation and amortization expense to increase as a percentage of revenue for the remainder
of 2005 as we place more fixed wireless licenses into service.

Interest income. Interest income for the three months ended June 30, 2005 increased to $1.9 million from
$0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. Interest income for the six months ended June 30, 2005
increased to $3.8 million from $2.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in interest income is
due to an increase in the amount of cash and cash equivalents invested and an increase in interest rates.

Investment gain (loss), net. Investment gain (loss), net includes any realized gains or losses from the sale or other
than temporary impairment of investments. For the three months ended June 30, 2005 we reported a net investment
gain of $1.9 million while we reported net investment loss of $4.0 million for the same period of 2004. Investment
gain, net for the six months ended June 30, 2005 was $1.6 million while we had net investment loss of $4.3 million
for the same period in 2004. The improvement is Jargely attributable to a realized loss on the sale of an investment
during the second quarter of 2004.

Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net includes interest expense on debt and capital leases, less any amounts
capitalized. The majority of interest expense in the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 is non-cash as
our secured credit facility allows for accrued interest to be converted into principal if unpaid. Interest expense, net for
the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 was $8.6 million and $5.8 million, respectively. Interest expense, net
for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 was $16.6 million and $12.5 million, respectively. The increase in
interest expense is due to an increase in interest rates, as well as the compounding effect of the conversion of accrued
interest to principal.

Net Loss. Net loss decreased $14.3 million to a loss of $29.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005,
from a net loss of $43.8 million for the comparable period in 2004. Net loss decreased $19.9 million to a loss of
$72.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005, from a net loss of $92.3 million for the comparable period in
2004. The decrease primarily resulted from the achievement of synergies resulting from the integration of the
Acquired Businesses, offset by additional depreciation and amortization from the inclusion of the property and
equipment and intangibles of the Acquired Businesses. Additionally, we recognized approximately $24.4 million of
reductions in cost of service expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2005 from the settlements and estimate
revisions discussed above. ‘ '

EBITDA. EBITDA increased to $38.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from $(8.7) million for
the comparable period in 2004 and increased to $59.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 from $(26.6)
million for the comparable period in 2004. The increase primarily resulted from the achievement of synergies
resulting from the integration of the Acquired Businesses and the settlements and estimate revisions discussed above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
in our 2004 Annual Report. The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions regarding uncertainties that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Management uses historical experience and
all available information to make these judgments and estimates and actual results could differ from those estimates
and assumptions that are used to prepare our financial statements at any given time. Despite these inherent
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limitations, management believes that Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the accompanying condensed
consolidated financial statements and footnotes provide a meaningful and fair perspective of our financial condition
and our operating results for the current period. Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in the XO Communications, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 describe the significant estimates and accounting policies used in preparation of the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.

During the six months ended June 30, 2005, we resolved certain billing disputes with telecommunications service
providers (the “Carriers”). In accordance with our policy for disputed charges, all amounts billed by the Carriers had
previously been recorded as a cost of service in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. Because these
disputes were resolved favorably to us, they resulted in a reduction of cost of service of approximately $10.0 million
and $10.5 million during the first and second quarters of 2005, respectively.

In the second quarter of 2005, in conjunction with a review of certain accounting policies, we determined that we
were not applying the proper generally accepted accounting principles to lease escalation provisions contained in
certain of our operating leases since our emergence from bankruptcy in January 2003. Additionally, we determined
that certain assets had been depreciating over lives inconsistent with our depreciation policy, and that certain
leasehold improvements had not been expensed when the related lease contract had been terminated prior to the end
of the initial lease term. Accordingly, an adjustment of $8.3 million was recorded to increase selling, operating and
general expenses and other current liabilities, and an adjustment of $2.5 million was recorded to increase
depreciation expense and to reduce Property and Equipment, net during the three months ended June 30, 2005. The
impact of these adjustments would have increased selling operating and general expense by approximately
$4.5 million, $3.3 million, and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, December 31, 2004 and the
three months ended March 31, 2005, respectively, and would have increased depreciation expense by approximately
$0.5 million, $1.0 million, and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, December 31, 2004 and the
three months ended March 31, 2005, respectively, had they been recorded in the appropriate periods. We have
concluded that the adjustment is immaterial to the financial statements on both a quantitative and qualitative basis for
all periods affected. Accordingly, the adjustment has been made in the current period financial statements. The
adjustment does not affect our historical or future cash flows or the timing of payments under the relevant leases.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Capital Resources and Liquidity Assessment

During the three months ended June 30, 2005, our operating activities provided net cash of $32.2 million, our
investing activities used net cash of $18.0 million and our financing activities used net cash of $0.7 million. For the
six months ended June 30, 2005, our operating activities provided net cash of $50.4 million, our investing activities
used net cash of $12.8 million, and our financing activities used net cash of $1.5 million. Our balance of cash and
cash equivalents increased to $270.1 million at June 30, 2005 from $234.0 million at December 31, 2004.

Our cash flows from operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2005 were aided by a cash settlement
of approximately $10.0 million with a telecommunications service provider during the first quarter of 2005. Cash
used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2005 was aided by the release, during the first quarter
of 2005, of approximately $25.4 million that had previously held in escrow and classified as other current assets in
the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We project that we will have sustainable positive cash flows by the end of 2005. Our projection is based upon,
among other things, our estimated increased costs of service attributable to the recent Triennial Review Remand
Order, or TRRO, discussed in the “Regulatory Overview” below, and other projected operating costs that are not
entirely under our control. As a result, our projections may be incorrect if our estimates of such costs and expenses
are inaccurate.

We have a secured credit facility, or the Credit Facility, which matures on July 15, 2009. There are no additional
borrowings available under the Credit Facility. At June 30, 2005, more than 90% of the underlying loans of the
Credit Facility are held by an entity controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn, Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors
(*“Mr. Icahn”). At June 30, 2005, long-term debt consisted of $376.8 million in principal and $5.9 million of accrued
interest that, if not paid, converts to principal. There are no current debt service requirements since cash interest
payments as well as automatic and permanent quarterly reductions on the principal amount outstanding do not
commence until 2009. However, in the event that consolidated excess cash flow (as defined in the Credit Facility) for
any fiscal quarter during the term of the agreement is greater than $25.0 million, at the request of the lender, we will
pay an amount equal to 50% of such excess cash flow greater than $25.0 million toward the reduction of outstanding
indebtedness. In addition, if the ratio of XO’s consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”), as defined in the Credit Facility, to consolidated interest expense for four consecutive
quarters exceeds 4:1, we would be required to pay cash interest, unless waived by the lenders. We can elect to begin
paying interest in cash prior to the required date. Loans under the Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at an
alternate base rate, as defined, or a Eurodollar rate plus, in each case, applicable margins. Once we begins to pay
accrued interest in cash, the applicable margins are reduced. At June 30, 2005, the annualized weighted average
interest rate applicable to outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility was 8.9%. '

The security for the Credit Facility consists of all of our assets including the stock of our direct and indirect
subsidiaries, and substantially all the assets of those subsidiaries. The Credit Facility limits additional indebtedness,
liens, dividend payments and certain investments and transactions, and contains certain covenants with respect to
EBITDA requirements, as the term EBITDA is defined in the Credit Facility, and maximum capital expenditures.
The definition of EBITDA in the Credit Facility differs from the definition of EBITDA discussed in “Results of
Operations” above. We were required to achieve a minimum consolidated EBITDA of not less than $135.0 million
for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2005. We are also required under the terms of the Credit Facility to
maintain an unrestricted cash balance of $25.0 million at the end of each fiscal quarter.
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In May of 2005, we obtained a waiver of compliance with the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant
contained in the Credit Facility through December 31, 2006. The waiver was obtained from the affiliate of Mr. Icahn
which holds a majority of our loans outstanding under that agreement. In connection with that waiver, we agreed that
in the event of a sale of the Company and in the event of other significant sale or divestiture transactions, we will
prepay all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility in cash and offer to repurchase outstanding shares of our
preferred stock at their liquidation value accrued through the date of redemption for cash or, in certain events,
securities. The affiliate of Mr. Icahn which holds a majority of such Preferred Stock has agreed to accept that offer,
to the extent it consists of cash. '

In the event that we are not in compliance with the minimum consolidated EBITDA covenant when the waiver
expires, there can be no guarantee that we will be able to obtain another waiver.

Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade
receivables. Although our trade receivables are geographically dispersed and include customers in many different
industries, a portion of our revenue is generated from services provided to other telecommunications service
providers. We believe that our established valuation and credit allowances are adequate as of June 30, 2005 to cover
these risks.

Regulatory Overview

Overview

We are subject to regulation by federal, state and local government agencies. Historically, the Federal
Communications Commission, or FCC, had jurisdiction over interstate long distance services and international
services, while state regulatory commissions had jurisdiction over local and intrastate long distance services: The
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Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the Telecom Act, fundamentally changed the way telecommunications is
regulated in this country. The FCC was given a major role in writing and enforcing the rules under which new
competitors could compete in the local marketplace. Those rules, coupled with additional rules and decisions
promulgated by the various state regulatory commissions, form the core of the regulatory framework under which we
operate in providing our services.

With a few limited exceptions, the FCC continues to retain exclusive jurisdiction over our provision of interstate
and international long distance services, and the state regulatory commissions regulate our provision of intrastate
local and long distance services. Additionally, municipalities and other local government agencies may regulate
limited aspects of our business, such as use of government-owned rights-of-way, and may require permits such as
zoning approvals and building permits.

The Telecom Act and the related rules governing competition issued by the FCC, as well as pro-competitive
policies already developed by state regulatory commissions, have enabled new entrants like us to capture a portion of
the ILECs’ market share of local services. However, there have been numerous attempts to limit the pro-competitive
policies in the local exchange services market through a combination of proposed federal legislation, adoption of new
rules by the FCC, and ILEC challenges to existing and proposed regulations. To date, the ILECs have succeeded in
eliminating some of the market-opening regulations adopted by the FCC and the states through numerous court
challenges. In particular, the ILECs appealed, and won partial reversals of, a series of FCC orders defining the ILEC
facilities, known as UNEs, that ILECs must lease to competitors at cost-based rates. We expect the ILEC’s efforts to
scale back the benefits of the Telecom Act and local service competition to continue. However, while the FCC has
eliminated certain UNEs, the basic framework of local competition for facilities-based competitors such as us, has
remained intact. The successful implementation of our business plan is predicated on the assumption that the basic
competitive framework and pro-competitive safeguards will remain in place.

The passage of the Telecom Act largely preceded the explosive growth of the Internet and Internet Protocol, or
“IP”, communications. Congress is currently considering whether to further amend the Telecom Act to, among other
things, directly address IP communications. It is possible that any such amendment to the Telecom Act could
eliminate or materially alter the market-opening regulatory framework of the Telecom Act in general, and the UNE
regime in particular. Such a result could adversely affect XO’s business. It is not possible to predict if, when, or how
the Telecom Act will be amended.

Federal Regulation

The FCC exercises jurisdiction over our telecommunications facilities and services. We have authority from the
FCC for the installation, acquisition and operation of our wireline network facilities to provide facilities-based
domestic interstate and international services. In addition, we have obtained FCC authorizations for the operation of
our LMDS and 39 GHz broadband wireless facilities. Because we are not dominant in any of our markets, unlike
ILECs, we are not subject to price cap or rate of return regulation. Thus, our pricing policies for interstate and
international end user services are only subject to the federal guidelines that charges for such services be just,
reasonable, and non-discriminatory. The FCC allows us to file interstate tariffs for our interstate access services
(rates charged by us to other carriers for access to our network). As for domestic interstate and international long
distance services, the FCC requires us to make the terms, conditions and rates of the detariffed services available to
the public on XO’s web page, and such terms, conditions, and rates are located at http://www.xo.com/legal/.

Implementation of the Telecom Act

The Telecom Act’s Local Competition Framework
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One of the key goals of the Telecom Act is to encourage competition in the provision of local telephone service.
To do this, the Telecom Act provides three means by which competitive local exchange carriers, or CLECs, such as
XO can enter the local telephone service market. The three modes of entry are as follows:

Access to UNEs. 1LECs are required to lease to CLECs various elements in their network that are used
individually or in combination with each other to provide local telephone service. As discussed in more detail
below, the FCC determines which facilities must be made available by the ILECs as UNEs. The ILECs must
make UNEs available at rates that are based on their forward-looking economic costs, a pricing regime known
as “TELRIC,” short for Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost. For XO, the most critical UNEs are local
loops and transport, which enable us to connect our customers to our network.
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*  Construction of New Facilities. CLECs may also enter the local service market by building entirely new
facilities. The ILECs are required to allow CLECs to interconnect their facilities with the ILECs’ facilities in
order to reach all customers.

*  Resale. ILECs are required to permit CLECs to purchase their services for resale to the publlc at a wholesale
rate that is less than the rate charged by the ILECs to their retail customers.

To facilitate competitors’ entry into local telephone markets using one or more of these three methods, the
Telecom Act imposes on the ILECs the obligation to open their networks and markets to competition. When
requested by competitors, ILECs are required to negotiate, in good faith, agreements that set forth terms governing
the interconnection of their network, access to UNEs, and resale. We have negotiated interconnection agreements
with the ILECs in each of the markets in which we operate. Many of these interconnection agreements are currently
being renegotiated.

The following is a summary of the interconnection and other rights granted by the Telecom Act that are important
for effective local service competition and our belief as to the effect of those requirements, if properly implemented:

e interconnection with the networks of incumbents and other carriers, which permits our customers to exchange
traffic with customers connected to other networks;

o requirements that the ILECs make available access to their facilities for our local loops and transport needs,
thereby enabling us to serve customers not directly connected to our networks;

*  compensation obligations, which mandate reciprocal payment arrangements for local traffic exchange
between us and both incumbent and other competitive carriers and compensation for terminating local traffic
originating on other carriers’ networks;

*  requirements concerning local number portability, which allows customers to change local carriers without
changing telephone numbers, thereby removing a significant barrier for a potential customer to switch to our
local voice services;

*  access to assignment of telephone numbers, which enables us to provide telephone numbers to new customers
on the same basis as incumbent carriers; and

*  collocation rights allowing us to place telecommunications equipment in ILEC central offices, which enables
us to have direct access to local loops and other network elements.

Although the rights established in the Telecom Act are a necessary prerequisite to the introduction of full local
competition, they must be properly implemented and enforced to permit competitive telephone companies like XO to
compete effectively with the incumbent carriers. Discussed below are several FCC and court proceedings relating to
the application of certain FCC rules and policies that are significant to and directly impact our operations and costs as
well as the nature and scope of industry competition.

Unbundling of Incumbent Network Elements

In a series of orders and related court challenges that date back to 1996, the FCC has promulgated rules
implementing the market-opening provisions of the Telecom Act, including the requirement that the ILECs lease
UNESs to competitors at cost-based rates. At the core of the series of FCC orders is the FCC’s evolving effort to
define which ILEC network facilities must be made available as UNEs. Initially, the FCC defined a broad list of
UNESs, consisting of most of the elements of the ILECs’ networks. Under pressure from the ILECs, the FCC has
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subsequently reduced the list, while preserving access to those network elements critical to the operation of XO’s
business.

The current list of UNEs was promulgated by the FCC in two orders. The first is the Triennial Review Order, or
TRO, which was released on August 21, 2003. Several carriers and other entities appealed the FCC’s TRO decision.
On March 2, 2004, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit issued its opinion in United States Telecom
Association v. FCC, No. 00-1012 (“USTA II Decision”). In the USTA II Decision, the court reversed and overturned
many of the conclusions of the TRO. In the aftermath of the USTA II Decision, the FCC released the second of its
two currently controlling orders, the TRRO, on February 4, 2005. Various parties, including XO, have appealed the
TRRO. The case is currently pending before the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit. It
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is not possible to predict the outcome of those appeals. It is possible that portions of the TRRO could be overturned
and that the FCC will issue new rules in their place that further restrict access to UNEs. In addition to the court
challenges, several parties, including XO, have petitioned the FCC to reconsider various aspects of the TRRO. It is
not possible to predict when or how the FCC will rule with respect to those reconsideration petitions.

As of March 11, 2005, the effective date of the TRRO, the ILECs are obligated to prov1de as UNEs the following
network facilities used by XO to serve its customers:

UNE Loops

DSO0 loops. A DSO loop is a single, voice-grade channel. Typically, individual business lmes are DSO loops. The
ILECs must make DSO loops available at UNE rates on an unlimited basis.

DS1 loops. A DS1 loop is a digital loop with a total speed of 1.544 megabytes per second, which is the equivalent
of 24 DSO circuits. Multiple voice lines and Internet access can be provided to a customer over a single DS1 loop.
We provide most of our service with DS1 loops. The ILECs must provide DS1 loops at UNE rates at the majority of
their central offices. Competitors, however, are limited to no more than 10 DS1 loops to any particular building.

DS3 loops. A DS3 loop is a digital loop with a total speed of 44.736 megabytes per second, which is the
equivalent of 28 DS1 circuits. In some cases, XO serves its large business customers with DS3 loops. ILECs must
provide DS3 loops at UNE rates at the majority of their central offices. Competitors, however, are limited to no more
than one DS3 loop to any particular building.

ILECs are not required to provide optical capacity loops or dark fiber loops as UNEs. Optical capacity loops,
referred to as OCn loops, are very high-capacity digital loops ranging in capacity from OC3 loops, which are the
equivalent of three DS3s to OC192. This will not impact our costs.

The ILEC:s are also not required to provide certain mass market broadband loop facilities and functionality as
UNE:s. Under the TRO, the ILECs are not required to make newly-deployed fiber-to-the-home, or FTTH, loops
available as UNESs and are only required to provide the equivalent of DSO capacity on any FTTH loop built over an
existing copper loop. These recent FCC orders should only limit availability for those specific network elements,
which are not material to us. It is possible, however, that the ILECs will seek additional broadband regulatory relief
in future proceedings.

UNE Transport

DS1 transport. Whether transport is available as a UNE is determined on a route-by-route basis. ILECs must
make transport at UNE rates available at DS1 capacity levels between any two ILEC central offices unless both
central offices either (1) serve more than 38,000 business lines or (2) have four or more fiber-based collocators. On
" routes where DS1 transport must be made available, each individual competitor is limited to no more than 10 DS1
transport circuits per route.

DS3 transport. Access to DS3 capacity-level transport is more limited than access to DS1 transport. ILECs must
make transport at UNE rates available at DS3 capacity levels between any two ILEC central offices unless both
central offices either (1) serve more than 24,000 business lines or (2) have three or more fiber-based collocators. On
routes where DS3 transport must be made available, each individual competitor is limited to no more than 12 DS1
transport circuits per route.

Dark fiber transport. Dark fiber transport is available under the same conditions as DS3 transport.

ILEC:s are not required to provide access to transport at greater-than DS3 capacity levels. ILECs are also not
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required to provide dark fiber transport at any capacity level to connect an ILEC central office with a competitor’s
facilities.

Transitional availability where elements are no longer available as UNEs

For DS1, DS3, and dark fiber loops and transport that do not meet the criteria for availability set forth above, the
FCC established a transitional period during which the ILECs must continue to make the elements available at UNE
rates to serve existing customers. For DS1 and DS3 loops and transport, the ILECs must make the elements available
at 115% of the TELRIC rate for one year beginning on March 11, 2005. For dark fiber loops and transport,
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the ILECs must make the elements available at 115% of the TELRIC rate for 18 months beginning on March 11,
2005.

Although these rules adopted by the FCC in the TRRO became effective on March 11, 2005, many of the
requirements imposed by the FCC in the TRO and TRRO were not self-executing. Accordingly, the FCC made clear
that carriers must follow the change of law procedures in their applicable interconnection agreements with ILECs to
implement any TRO requirements that are not self-executing and that carriers must follow the procedures set forth in
Section 252(b) of the Telecom Act to modify interconnection agreements that are silent as to implementation of
changes in law. We have been in negotiations with ILECs to amend our interconnection agreements to implement
relevant TRO requirements and, to date, have executed amendments in several states.

Additional Federal Regulations

The following discussion summarizes some additional specific areas of federal regulation that directly affect our
business.

VoIP. Like a growing number of carriers, we utilize IP technology for the transmission of a portion of our
network traffic. The regulatory status and treatment of IP-enabled services is unresolved. The FCC has held that
Vonage’s VoIP services and similar offerings by other providers are subject to the FCC’s interstate jurisdiction,
preempting state efforts to regulate VoIP providers as intrastate telecommunications providers. Four separate state
commissions have appealed this ruling and the case is currently pending. The FCC, however, left open the question
of whether VoIP providers provide “telecommunications” — i.e., basic transmission services — or enhanced
“information services.” Under the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, or the Communications Act, those are
mutually exclusive categories. Generally, telecommunications carriers, including traditional local and long distance
telecommunications companies, are regulated under the Communications Act; information service providers are
generally unregulated. The FCC has initiated a rulemaking proceeding to address the classification of VoIP and other
IP-enabled service offerings. It is not possible to predict the outcome of that proceeding or its effect on XO’s
operations.

AT&T Declaratory Ruling Re: VoIP. On April 21, 2004, the FCC released an order, the AT&T Order, denying
AT&T’s request that the FCC find that VoIP services are exempt from switched access charges. The FCC held that
an interexchange service that uses ordinary customer premises equipment that originates and terminates on the public
switched telephone network, or PSTN, that provides no enhanced functionality, and that undergoes no net protocol
conversion, is a telecommunications service and subject to switched access charges. The AT&T order apparently
places interexchange services similar to those VolP services offered by AT&T in the same regulatory category as
traditional telecommunications services and, therefore, potentially subjects such VolIP services to access charges and
other regulatory obligations including Universal Service fees. Although the FCC did not rule on the applicability of
access charges for services provided prior to April 21, 2004, the ILECs may attempt to assert claims against other
telecommunications companies including us for the retroactive payment of access charges. On April 22, 2004, SBC
Communications filed a collections lawsuit against AT&T and other carriers seeking retroactive payment of unpaid
access charges. On February 4, 2005, SBC amended an existing collection case it had filed against Global Crossing
and filed a complaint against XO.

Level 3 Forbearance Petition. On December 23, 2003, Level 3 filed a petition requesting the FCC not to apply
interstate or intrastate access charges on 1P traffic that originates or terminates on the PSTN. Level 3 withdrew that
petition on March 21, 2005, shortly before the FCC’s statutory deadline for acting. Some observers have interpreted
Level 3’s withdrawal of the petition as a signal that the FCC was not likely to rule in Level 3’s favor. The FCC may
ultimately rule on this issue either in its VolP rulemaking proceeding or in the intercarrier compensation reform
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proceeding discussed below. The issue of whether access charges apply to VoIP and other IP traffic that originates or
terminates on the PSTN is potentially significant for XO and other carriers.

ILEC Provision of Broadband Telecommunications Services and Information Services. Currently, the
ILECs, as dominant carriers, are subject to a relatively high degree of regulation with respect to their broadband
service offerings. The FCC, however, has initiated a rulemaking proceeding in which it is considering deregulating,
or applying a lower degree of regulation to, ILEC broadband offerings. If the ILECs are largely freed from dominant
carrier regulation, they will have much greater pricing flexibility and will pose a greater competitive threat to XO. In
a second, related rulemaking, the FCC is considering whether to eliminate certain requirements it imposes on the
ILECs with respect to their broadband Internet access services. Currently, where the ILECs offer Internet access or
other information services over broadband facilities, they must (1) purchase the underlying broadband transmission
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facilities from themselves at tariffed rates and (2) make the underlying facilities available to competitors on a non-
discriminatory basis. If the FCC were to eliminate these requirements, it could result in an increase to our network
costs. To date, these deregulatory trends have been directed towards facilities used primarily by residential
customers, and not by business customers.

Intercarrier Compensation Reform. Currently, telecommunications carriers are required to pay other carriers
for interstate access charges and local reciprocal compensation charges. These two forms of intercarrier
compensation have been under review by the FCC since 2001. The FCC continues to consider-a broad order
reforming the intercarrier compensation system and issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on February 10, 2005
to seek further comment on intercarrier compensation reform. Although we are unable to predict the outcome of the
FCC’s rulemaking procedures, inasmuch as access charges and reciprocal compensation payments make up our
Jargest network expense item, the FCC’s action could have a material, adverse affect on our operations and cost of
doing business.

Cost-based TELRIC Pricing. On September 10, 2003, the FCC initiated a new proceeding to consider
significantly revamping the current TELRIC methodology used for the pricing of UNEs. If the FCC reverses the
methodology used for determining UNE rates to allow for rate increases, this could substantially raise XO’s costs for
leasing UNEs in the future. A decision is expected sometime in 2005. Several state commissions have also initiated
proceedings to review the rates that the ILECs charge for UNEs. An adverse ruling in these proceedings would allow
the ILECs to increase UNE rates in the applicable state and this could substantially raise our costs for leasing UNEs
in the future.

State and Local Regulation

In general, state regulatory commissions have regulatory jurisdiction over us when our facilities and services are
used to provide local and other intrastate services. Under the Telecom Act, state commissions continue to set the
requirements for providers of local and intrastate services, including quality of services criteria. State regulatory
commissions also can regulate the rates charged by CLECs for intrastate and local services and can set prices for
interconnection by new telecommunications service providers with the ILEC networks, in accordance with guidelines
established by the FCC. In addition, state regulatory commissions in many instances have authority under state law to
adopt additional regulations governing local competition and consumer protection, as long as the state’s actions are
not inconsistent with federal law or regulation.

Most state regulatory commissions require companies that wish to provide intrastate common carrier services to
register or be certified to provide these services. These certifications generally require a showing that the carrier has
adequate financial, managerial and technical resources to offer the proposed services in a manner consistent with the
public interest. We are certified in all of the states in which we conduct business. 1n most states, we are also required
to file tariffs setting forth the terms, conditions and prices for services that are classified as intrastate, and to update
or amend our tariffs as rates change or new products are added. We may also be subject to various reporting and
record-keeping requirements.

Where we choose to deploy our own transmission facilities, we may be required, in some cities, to obtain street
opening and construction permits, permission to use rights-of-way, zoning variances and other approvals from
municipal authorities. We also may be required to obtain a franchise to place facilities in public rights-of-way. In
some areas, we may be required to pay license or franchise fees for these approvals. We cannot provide assurances
that fees will remain at current levels, or that our competitors will face the same expenses, although the Telecom Act
requires that any fees charged by municipalities be reasonable and non-discriminatory among telecommunications
carriers.
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California Public Utilities Commission Proceeding. On September 23, 2004, the California Public Utilities
Commission, or the CA Commission, issued a decision that required SBC to adjust monthly recurring rates for
certain types of services offered to CLECs by SBC. As a result of that decision, we believed that we were owed a
retroactive credit. The billing adjustments and true-up payments required by the decision had been stayed until the
CA Commission could: (a) consider mitigations to lessen the negative effect of such true-up payments; and
(b) consider issues raised by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit regarding the shared and common cost
mark-up element. After issuance of the September 23, 2004 decision, the CA Commission issued three separate
alternate draft decisions all of which proposed different true-up payment schemes and different shared and common
cost mark-up factors as well as retroactive and non-retroactive treatment of the mark-up factor. These three alternate
decisions were contentious and were being debated by the CA Commission and various parties to the proceeding.
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On March 22, 2005 XO and SBC executed a settlement agreement resolving these issues. As a result of this
settlement, on March 25, 2005 SBC made a payment to XO of approximately $10.0 million. The settlement
agreement provides XO with finality on these issues as the settlement agreement prohibits SBC from seeking
rehearing before the CA Commission or appealing to any state of federal court the true-up or payment of the true-up
monies to XO.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We had $382.7 million in secured loans as of June 30, 2005. Currently, we do not pay cash interest on the loans
under the Credit Facility. As interest accrues at variable rates, our Credit Facility subjects us to interest rate risks.

Marketable securities and other investments at June 30, 2005 consist primarily of investments in equity and debt
investments of publicly-traded companies. The fair value of our investment in equity and debt securities exposes us
to market risk; however, if the fair value were to increase or decrease immediately, it would not likely have a
material impact on our financial position or our results of operations. We are not currently engaged in the use of off-
balance sheet derivative financial instruments, to hedge or partially hedge interest rate exposure nor do we maintain
any other off-balance sheet arrangements for the purposes of credit enhancement, hedging transactions, or other
financial or investment purposes.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term “disclosure controls and procedures” is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. These rules refer to the controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within required time periods. Our Principal Executive Officer and our
Principal Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based on the evaluation, they have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the
controls and procedures were effective at ensuring that required information was accurate and disclosed on a timely
basis in our report filed under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Controls

We maintain a system of internal accounting controls that is designed to provide reasonable assurance that our
books and records accurately reflect our transactions and that our established policies and procedures are followed.

During the first quarter of 2005, we implemented a new sales commissioning system and began migrating certain
customers to a new billing system. We anticipate the migration of our customers to the new billing system will be
completed in the third quarter of 2005. Additionally, we are in the process of combining the customer provisioning
system acquired through the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses with the system of the legacy XO business.
These actions have resulted in changes to our internal controls over financial reporting.

Except as noted above, there were no other changes to our internal controls that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings consisting of commercial, regulatory,
securities, tort and employment matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, “ Accounting for Contingencies,” we make a provision for a liability when
it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We
believe we have adequate provisions for any such matters. We review these provisions at least quarterly and adjust
these provisions to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other
information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently unpredictable. However, we believe
that we have valid defenses with respect to legal matters pending against the Company. Nevertheless, it is possible
that cash flows or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected in any particular period by the
unfavorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies.

We filed an administrative claim in August 2004 against the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust (the “ATLT”).
We have claimed that we are entitled to approximately $50 million in damages related to a variety of actions
allegedly taken by Allegiance and the ATLT. The ATLT filed a counterclaim against us on November 24, 2004
seeking damages of approximately $100.0 million, which claim we believe to be frivolous and without merit. The
case went to trial in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York on May 2, 2005 and
has not yet been decided.

Start Investments Inc, or Start, is XO Communications, Inc.’s, or XOC, 10% minority partner in
Telecommunications of Nevada, or TON, a Nevada joint venture company whose results of opcrations are
consolidated into the accompanying financial statements. XOC and Start hold promissory notes, collectively referred
to as the Notes, from TON for $63.5 million, referred to as the XOC Note, and $7.1 million, referred to as the Start
Note, respectively. The Notes became due in December 2002 and were not paid or extended on that date, but cannot
be accelerated or foreclosed upon without the consent of XOC, which XOC has declined to give, acting in what it
believes are the best interests of TON. TON has paid current interest on the Notes to both holders, but at the historic
rate of interest, not the higher default rate. Start filed a suit against TON and XOC in the District Court for Clark
County Nevada in October of 2003, which alleged that XOC had tortiously interfered with Start’s contractual
relations with TON and breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing. The suit seeks temporary injunctive and
declaratory relief, as well as damages of approximately $9.0 million, consisting primarily of the principal amount of
the Start Note and interest at the default rate. In July 2005, Start moved to amend its complaint to add a claim against
TON for breach of contract for failure to pay the Start Note. We believe we have valid defenses to the claims raised
by Start and to its purported calculation of any damages. However, in the event that TON is required to pay the full
principal amount of the Notes, absent a negotiated, out-of-court financial restructuring, TON may be forced to seek
protection under chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code, which could trigger a default on our Credit Facility.

The XOC Note and the accrued interest payable from TON to XOC, and the related note and interest receivable of
XOC from TON, are intercompany balances and, in accordance with the principles of consolidation, have been
eliminated in the consolidation of the financial statements. The Start Note and the related accrued interest payable,

totaling approximately $8.3 million, are included in other current liabilities in our Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheet.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The XO Communications, Inc. annual meeting of shareholders was held on May 9, 2005 in New York, New
York.

At the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders, the shareholders elected the following individuals to the Board of
Directors for the succeeding year and until their successors are duly qualified and elected:

Votes For Votes Withheld

wCarlCileahn o0 e c TR Do L b 129,371,004 o 1,117,934
* Carl J. Grivner S o ' o 129,382,705 1,106,233
Vincent J. Intrieri - ) 129,389,651 11,102,287
Keith Meister, T " S T129.387i177 0 T1,101,761
Robert Knauss ' 129,420,266 1,068,672
“Fredrik Gradin .~ o P T Sy e ST e AT 129,425,819 4 1,063,119
Jon F. Weber ‘ - o o 129,389,369 . 1,099,569

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
31.1 Rule 13a — 14(a)/15(d) — 14(a) Certification
31.2 Rule 13a — 14(a)/15(d) — 14(a) Certification

32.1 Certificate pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.2 Certificate pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrants have duly caused this report to
be signed on their behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

XO Communications, Inc.

Date: August 9, 2005 By: /s/ William Garrahan

William Garrahan

Senior Vice President and
Acting Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

30

http.//www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1111634/000095013305003602/w11683e10vq.htm (57 of 57)9/23/2005 12:56.36 PM



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESLTTING SYSTEM Ste BOWNE OF WASHINGTON Phone (202) 7839191 Operator BOWG9999T  Date 1&.MAR-2005 09 13 54 39
Name XO (:(_)lv;h‘.UNKTATK)NS - ! " BOWW06?81 001 00 00 00 5

[B/E] cre oz f DA A
WOSTHI SUB. Doxame KK, Do 1. Pa | EDGAR 2 LT T

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

a

Commussion File No 0-30900

X0 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

{Exact name of registrant as specified in 1ts charter)

Delaware 54-1983517 -
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (L.R.S. cmplq.yer identification no.)

11111 Sunset Hills Road
Reston, Virginia 20190

{Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)
(703) 547-2000

g area code)

(Registrant’s

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share
(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the Regustrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Sectton 13 or 15(d) of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days  YES H NoO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Registration 8-K 1s not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the
best of Registrant’s knowledge, in defimtuve proxy or information statements incorporated by reference 1n Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K ©E

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant 1s an accelerated filer (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Act)  Yes B NoO

The aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant, based upon the closing sale price of the common stock on
June 30, 2004 (which 15 the Tast business day of the Registrant’s second fiscal quarter), as reported on the NASDAQ Over-the-Counter Bulleun Board. was
approximately $375 7 million Shares of common stock held by each exccutive officer and director and by certain persons who own 5% or more of the
outstanding common stock have been excluded 1n that such persons may be decemed to be affiliates This determination of affiliate status 1s not necessartly a
conclusive determmation for other purposes

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13, or 15(d) of the Sccunties Exchange
Act of 1934 subscquent to the distnbution of sccunties under a plan confirmed by acourt YES M No O

Number of shares of common stock outstanding as of March 14, 2005 181,933,035
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the regsstrant’s definiive proxy statement to be 1ssued 1n conjunction with registrant’s annual stockholders® mecung to be held on May 9, 2005
arc incorporated n Part 111




BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Site BOWNE OF WASHINGTON Phone {202 743-9101 quw BOWOYIYST  Date 15-MAR-200509 13 54 59
Name X0 COMMUNICATIONS [B/E]  cc o BOWWO06781 002.00.00.00
WOGTAI SUB, DucXame 10-K, Doc 1, Page 2 EDGAR 2 D 00 DU

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
PART 1
1 Business 1
2 Properties 30
3 Legal Proceedings 31
4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secunty Holders ' 31
PARTII
5 Market for Registrants’ Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Secunties 31
6 Selected Financial Data 32
7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 33
7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk 45
8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 46
9 Changes 1n and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 46
9A Controls and Procedures 46
PART 111
10 Drrectors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 47
11 Executive Compensation 48
12 Secunty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 48
13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 48
14 Pnncipal Accounting Fees and Services 49
PART 1V
15 Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K 49

Signatures 50



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Site BOWNE OF WASHINGTON Phone (203, 783-0191  Operator BOWY9999T  Date I8-MAR-2005 19 13 52 50
Name XO COMMUNICATIONS [B /E] e Gren BOW W06‘§c8 1 003.00.00.00
OTH1 SGB. Do 10K, D 1. oge 3 EDGAR 2 [NER TR TR

PART I

Item 1.  Business

This document contains certain “forward-looking statements,” within the meaning of the Private Secunities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
including statements regarding, among other 1tems, our expected financial position, business. and financing plans These forward-looking
statements are based on our current expectations and are naturally subject to nsks, uncertainties, and changes 1n circumstances, certain of
which are beyond our control Actual results may differ matenally from those expressed or imphed by such forward-looking statements

ALY e ” ”

The words “behieve,” “plan,” “target,” “expect.” “intends,” and “anticipate,” and expressions of similar substance identify forward-looking
statements. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance
that those expectations will prove to be correct Important factors that could cause actual results to differ matenally from the expectations
descnbed 1n this report are set forth under “Risk Factors” in Item 1 and elsewhere 1n this report Readers are cautioned not to place undue
rehance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statcments, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise

Business Overview

X0 Communications, Inc . or XO, a Delaware corporation, 1s a leading faciliies-based, competitive telecommunications services provider
that dehivers a comprehensive array of telccommunications services to business customers We provide our services. including local and long
distance voice, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services, through our national telecommumcations network, which consists
of more than 6,700 metro route miles of fiber optic lines connecting 953 umque ILEC end-office collocations in 37 U S cities In addiion. we
own licenses to deliver telecommunications services via local, multpoint distnbution service, or LM DS, wireless spectrum 1n all of the largest
US cities We market our services pnmanly to business customers, ranging from small and medtum businesses to Fortune 500 companics to
carrier and wholesale customers Our services offer an effective telecommumcations solution for nearly any business. and our national
telecommumcations network 1s particularly advantageous to multi-location businesses that desire to improve communications among their
locations, whether within a single metropolitan area or across the country

2004 Highlights

* Acquisitton of Allegiance Telecom, Inc We acquired the telecommunications services assets of Allegsance Telecom, Ine on June 23,
2004 The acquisiuion of Allegiance substantially expanded our local facilities, and significantly increased the number of business
customers (0 which we can cost-effectively provide service We completely integrated thewr administrative functions and have acmeved
all of the onginally estimated $100 million of annualized selling, operating and genera) synergies We have made substantial progress 1in
achieving the onginally estimated $60 million of annualized network synergies

* Positive Cash Flow from Operations for 2004 We generated positive cash flow from operations (excluding capital expenditures) in
2004, marking the third consecutive fiscal year that we have achieved that operating milestone

* Raised 3200 million of Caputal In August 2004, we strengthened our balance sheet by raising an additional $200 milhon 1n capital to
support our ongoing operations and to fund potential acquisitions 95% of which came from our sigmificant sharcholder.
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The U.S. Telecommunications Market

While competitive local exchange carriers, or CLECs, like us have provided telecommunications competition and service since 1996. the
market for telecommunications services, particularly local exchange services. remains dominated by the incumbent telecommunications
carriers or ILECs, consising primanly of the former subsidiaries of AT&T known as the Regional Bell Operating Companies, or RBOCs, —
Verizon, SBC Communications, Qwest Communicauons, and BellSouth — which each own substanually the entire local exchange network 1n
their respective operaung regions of the United States.

Aggregate revenue earned from the sale of wired telecommunications services in 2004 has been esumated at approximately $225 billion,
down approximately three percent from 2003 Telecommumnications sales to business customers. however, 1s esttmated to have remained
relatively constant at $91 bilhion. with sales of local exchange services estimated to have increased by approximately one percent to
approximately $42.5 billion 1n 2004 compared to 2003 Telecommunications spending by businesses who spend less than $10,000 per month,
or small and medium businesses, was estimated to be $75 billion 1n 2004

The telecommunications industry currently remains 1n a state of competiive transiton The telecommunications services market has
remained focused on pricing and many telecommunications providers have continued to face significant compeutive pressure to reduce prices
Also. the combination of new federal and state regulations, emergence of new technologies, industry consohidation. growth of the mobile
wireless market, and entry of new telecommunications compeutors has contributed to a rapidly changing market for telecommunications
services These 1ssues and the potential impact to XO are discussed below

Recent Federal Rulemaking. Effective as of March 11, 2005, the Federal Commumcations Commussion’s, or FCC's, Triennal Review
Remand Order, or TRRO, altered a number of sigmficant federal regulations applicable to the provision of competitive telecommunications
services 1n a manner favorable to incumbent carriers The TRRO established new standards for when CLECs obtain cost-based rates from
JLECs when teasing unbundled network elements, or UNEs, which eonnect a customer’s location wath the apphicable communications network
end office, commonly referred to as “loops™ This aspect of the TRRO will result 1n an increase to our overall costs of service 1n 2005

The TRRO also curtailed the abihty of CLEC:s to obtain cost-based UNE rates for network elements linking central offices in which they
have located their own equipment, but between which they do not own proprietary fiber lines Fiber lines between central offices 1s referred to
10 our 1ndustry as “local transport™ This aspect of the TRRO will not have a matenal impact on us as we own or lease under long-term
agreements nearly all of the local transport that we use to connect central offices in which we own equipment Tlus aspect of the TRRQO could,
however present opportunitics for us to sell our own network capacity to telecommunications companies that are negatively impacted by the
TRRO ruling on local rransport

The TRRO also severely curtailed the ability of CLECs to lease switching capacity from ILECs at cost-based rates, which practice 1s
known 1n the telecommunications industry as unbundled network element platform. or UNE-P We are not materially impacted by this aspect
of the TRRO as we own all of the switching facilities we use tn our business We antieipate that one of the results of the TRRO wall be that
many CLECs that are substantially dependent on UNE-P will need to either acquire their own switches, seek a facihties-based partner to switch
their customers’ traffic, or find other strategic alternatives to their current business models One possible result of the TRRO on UNE-P
dependent cammers 1s additional consolidation of existing telecommunications carners

Emergence of New Technologies. Several new technologies are being adopted by telecommunications carners that could cause significant
changes 1n the competitive landscape for telecommunications services Such technologies include

« IP Communications. Voice over Internet Protocol, or VoIP. technology enables delivery of voice and data telecommumcations services
over a single Internet Protocol or IP network, rather than

(5]
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through the existing Public Switched Telephone Network or PSTN XO's expenence and network architecture allows us to take
advantage of the development of VoIP services XO's imitial VoIP implementation, named XOptions Flex, enables customers to utilize
“dynamic bandwidth allocation™ to maximize the utilization of their bandwidih by allocating 1t for data applications dunng penods when
voice hines are idle XO also anticipates that it will add additional IP-enabled features to 1ts ecxisting products

*» Fixed Broadband Wireless. With the exception of building locations to which we have constructed our own fiber or network
connectrons. we are dependent upon the ILECs for obtatning network access to our customers’ buildings, which access 1s referred to
our industry as “last mile” connectivity There has been ongoing development of technical equipment and data encryption and )
compression protocols that permat the use of high bandwadth wireless connections between physical locations that are located within a
line of sight across relatively short distances, usually under five miles This fixed wireless. point-to-point connectivity may, in limited
circumstances, allow us to obtamn direct network access to our customers’ buildings via wireless connection without the requirement of
leasing network access from the ILECs

* Mobile Wireless Technologies. Wireless carners have engaged 1n rapid development of new high bandwidth applications to be dehvered
to their customers via wireless devices, commonly referred to as “3G™ broadband wireless networks Such applications include the
delivery of video and photos via wireless connection The ongotng adoption of broadband networks and apphcations could mean that
current wireless telecommunications carriers will require sigmificantly greater wireline bandwidth for transport of their customers” traffic,
presenting an opportunity for facihities based carriers such as XO to offer transport and termination services to those wireless carriers

Industry Consolidation. On January 31, 2005, SBC Commumcauons, Inc and AT&T Corp announced their intention to enter into a
business combination In February 2005, Venzon Communicatons, Inc and MCI, Tnc announced and agreement to enter into a business
combination, and Qwest Communications International, Inc announced a bid to compete with Verizon's purchase offer Such transactions, 1f
consummated. would result 1n substantial consolidation of U S wireline telecommumcations resources and revenue In addition, as reflected in
our acquisition of the CLEC businesses of Allegiance Telecom, Inc and the acquisitions of Cable and Wireless USA. Inc by Savvis
Communications. Inc . Focal Communications, Inc by Broadwing Corporation, and KMC Telecom Corp by CenturyTel, Inc , substantial
consohidation has also taken place among CLECs Assuming that each of the announced transactions involving AT&T and MCI occur as
planned, market power for U S telecommumcations services will be further consolidated among the ILECs, and both business and residential
consumer choice will be sigmificantly reduced While it 15 not certain what the effects of this industry consohidation will be, we beheve that one
possible result could be that prices for telecommunications services would stabilize due to reduced competition

Growth of the Mobile Wireless Market. Unlike the market for wireline telecommunications services. the overall market for mobile
wireless tclecommunications services has continued to grow 1n recent years While some of our target business customers have supplemented
their existing wirchne telecommunications infrastructure with mobile wireless communications services. we believe that business customers
will generally continue to require wireline services that we provide because of the bandwidth imits of mobile wireless services and the current
lower costs of wireline telecommunications services

Entry of New Telecommunications Competitors. In recent years, new competitors have emerged to traditional, facihues-based
telecommumcations services providers Among these new competitors are VolP prowviders, including compamies such as Vonage and Covad.
and providers of other forms of media or telecommunications services. tncluding cable companies such as Comcast and Cox Communications
The FCC has noted 1n several pubhc comments that 1t expects that such competitors will provide significant competition to the ILECs 1n the
future While such companies are likely to expenience growth 1n their telecommunications services businesses 1n the future, we believe that we
will not compete directly with
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these competitors as they are focused primanly on residential, and, to a lesser extent, small business customers

Competitive Strategy
We are executing on our strategic plan by focusing on the five key strategic elements below.

In addition, we are also retaining investment bankers and consultants who will develop and make recommendations to us regarding our
strategic alternauves

Leverage National Network Footprint. Our primary competiuve strategy 18 to leverage the national reach and technological sophistication
of our metro and 1ntercity fiber network We maintain a national network that includes 953 collocations from which we have the capability to
serve over 70 U S markets We believe that our network footprint gives us the network capability to provide approximately 45% of all
telecommumcauon services revenue from U S small 1o medium businesses, or SMBs Our national network can also reach markets and
customers that no single ILEC 1s currently capable of serving over 1ts own regional network, and we are among a small number of CLECs with
national capabiliies Consequently, we believe that our national network has capabilnes that appeal to business customers 1n a manner that
cannot currently be duplicated by any of the ILECs, and our nationa) reach allows us to market to a significant portion of the total market for
business telecommunications services

Our network ncludes an OC-192 1P backbone with extensive cross connections between the Internet and the public switched telephone
network, or PSTN, enabling us to accept IP packets of data onginated or carned over the Internet, and convert that informaton to voice traffic
termmated or switched over the traditional PSTN We believe that the interoperability of our network for both PSTN and IP traffic will allow
carmer and wholesale customers to access our network more flexibly. and enable us to offer services with sigmificant appeal to carrter and
wholesale customers

Focus on Business Customers. XO's services mnclude a broad portfolio across voice, data and integrated bundled offerings tailored for the
business customer Although we have both small customers with limited telecommunicauons needs and large telecommunications
carrier/wholesale customers. our predominant focus 1s SMBs

Focus on Profitable Revenue. We monttor our sales and provisioning systems (o maintain and increase the profitabihty of the
telecommumcations services that we provide In addition, we have implemented provisioming rules that, based on geography and the location
of our network facihities. allow us to measure at the time of sale whether a prospective sale will be profitable to us

Diverse Service Offerings. We offer a broad portfolio of voice, data and integrated services to business customers Our core integrated
SMB service offerings dehver simplicity of use and billing  Although we behieve that wireline telecommunications revenues have been in
dechine among mature telccommunications carriers in general, we have expenenced shght increases i sales of our data and enhanced products
and features that add value for our SMB customers We continue to mtroduce new products and will launch the first in a series of planned VolP
services, tncluding XOptionsFlex. in 2005

Strategic Acquisitions. We actively consider strategic merger and acquisition opportunities that arc likely to result 1n increased revenue and
reduced costs of service by. among other things, expanding our network. allowing us to optimtze our network assets, expanding our service
portfolio, or expanding our customer base We believe that such merger and acquisition opportunities will arise 1n the telecommunications
industry 1n 2005 generally as a result of regulatory developments, technological developments and shifting marketplace pressures

Our Services

We provide business customers with a comprehensive array of voice and data telecommunications services, mcluding local and long
distance voice, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services We have designed these telecommumcations services pnncipally
to mect the needs of our
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business customers, from SMBs to mulu-location businesses. large enterprises. as well as carrier and wholesale service providers

Integrated Voice and Data Services

XOptions and Total Communications. We offcr integrated bundled packages of voice and data services, known as XOptions and Total
Communications, to SMBs that include flat-rate packages for specificd amounts of certain services, icluding local and long distance voice
scrvices. Internet access and web hosting services Both of these bundled services include a variety of service options designed to
accommodate different customers with anywhere from 10 to 100 employees per location. These services can result 1in significant savings over
the average cost of buying these services from separatc competitive voice and data providers We also offer Integrated Access Services, which
can reduce SMB''s telecommunications costs by combining local voicc, long distance, and dedicated Intcrnet aceess on a single facility.

IP Communications Services. Utlizing our [P backbone, and related IP equipment and software, XO anticipates the introduction of a
broad IP-based portfolio that caters to SMBs as well as larger companies that may choose cuther a hosted or premise-based [P Telephony
solution XO’s first planned service to be marketed 1n 2005, which will be named XOpuons Flex, 1s a solution for SMBs that features dynamic
bandwidth allocation, unlimuted local and long distance calling, as well as a web-based portal for use by customers in making changes to the

use of the product

Managed Services. We also provide managed scrvices, including shared tenant services, which are telecommunications management
services provided to groups of businesses located 1n the same office building Managed services enable SMBs to benefit from the efficiencies,
including volume discounts, normally available only to larger enterprises We 1nstall a telecommunications system throughout each building
we serve, leasing space for on-site sales and service. and offer tenants products and services such as telephones, voiee mail, local calling hines,
long distance and high-speed Internet connections, all on a single invoice

Voice Services
Local and Long Distance Voice Services

We offer a variety of voice applications and services as an alternative to the ILECs These voice services nclude

« local standard dial tone, including touch-tone dialing, 911 access and operator assisted calling,

* Jocal mulu-trunk dial tone services, including primary rate mterface, or PRI, with direct inward dialing, and direct outward diahing,
¢ long distance services, mcluding 1+, toll free. calling card and operator scrvices,

= IP termination services,

« voice messaging with personalized greetings, send. transfer, reply and remote retneval capabihities,

« conferencing services, including voice and web conferencing services,

= directory hstings and assistance, and

= hosted interactive voice response services

In each of our markets, we have negotiated and entered 1nto interconnection agreements with the applicable ILEC and certain independent
carriers. and implemented permanent local number portability, which allows our new customers to retain their telcphone numbers when they
choose XO as therr service provider
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Data Services
Internet Access

Our Internet access offerings include dedicated access services targeted at businesses that desire single or multupoint high-speed. dedicated
connections to the Internet Our dedicated Intemet access service provides guaranteed internet speeds ranging from 56 kilobats per second. or
kbps. to 1 Gigabit per second. or Gbps. Our digatal subscniber line, or DSL, service also includes a widc range of dedicated access speeds for
SMBs We arc a tier-1 Internct backbone provider in the U S | with over 200 public and private pecning arrangements with other Internet
backbone networks

Private Data Networking

We provide dedicated transmission capacity on our networks to customers that desire high-bandwidth data links between locations We
offer special access and pont-to-point circuits to telecommunications carmiers and other high volume customers. which they use as both
primary and back-up circuits In addition, fiber optic technology that enables signals to be transmitted at diffcrent wavelengths on a single fiber
allows us to lease one or more dedicated wavelengths Lo customers that desire high-bandwidth links between locations We currently offer
these services with connections of up to 9 6 gigabits per second. a transmission rate that 1s described in our industry as OC-192 This service
supports a variety of transmission protocols, including Asynchronous Transfer Mode, or ATM, Frame Relay. and Synchronous Optical
Network, or SONET

Our virtual pnivate network, or VPN, services enable customers to deploy tailored. IP-based business applications for secure 1nternal
enterpnse, business-to-business and business-to-customer data communications among geographically dispersed locations, while also affording
high-speed access to the Intemet VPN services also provide secure access for rtemote users, such as traveling employees and employees
working from home or a remote location, which 1s not possible using private line and frame relay services We also offer managed firewall
services

Finally, we offer a suite of Ethernct services, including Gigabit Ethernet, or GigE, 1n most of our U S markets, as well as intercity Ethernet
scrvices between our markets Our Ethernet services are designed to provide high-speed. high-capacity connections between customers” local
area networks, or LANs, within and between metropolitan areas, which reduces their costs as 1t ehmunates the need for ongoing configuration,

- management and acquisition of equipment by the customer

Hosting Services

We offer a range of applications hosting services that can manage a customer’s web-based infrastructure and operational necds, allowing
customers to focus on their web-based content In addition. we provide server management tools and services to manage customers’ larger
computers. which are known as servers, for them

QOur hosting services include
e Web Hosting: support for customers’ websites, including design, maintenance and telecommunications services, and
* Server Collocation: collocation of customers™ servers 1n our data centers

We also offer a vancty of value-added tools and apphcations that enable our customers to conduct targeted email marketing, register their
web site with hundreds of Internet search engines and directories, build catalogues and sell products over the web. and coordinate meetings and
appomntments online. And fmally. we offer a suite of hosting outsourcing services that provides customers web-based access to email, group
distibution lists, calendanng, contacts databases management and file shanng

6
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Our Network

Our network consists of state of the art metro fiber rings and intercity network capable of carrying high volumes of data. voice, video and
Internet traffic We utilize network assets located across the United States, substantially all of which we own or control through indefeasible
exclusive nights or other leasing or contractual arrangements, making us a national facilittes-based carricr We are able to provide our services
to our customers entirely over an integrated natonal network, from the imtiation of the voice or data transrmssion to the point of termination.
This allows XO to offer our customers high quahty of service and a high level of service

Metro Fiber Networks and Local Facilities

Our metro fiber networks consist of nngs of more than 888.000 fiber miles of fiber optic cables encircling the central business districts of
numerous metropolitan areas A “fiber mile™ 1s equal to the number of route miles muttiphed by the number of fibers along that path We
operate 37 metro fiber networks 1n 22 states and the District of Columbia. including 25 of the 30 large st metropolitan areas in the U.S In the
aggregate, our metro fiber networks connect approximately 953 umque ILEC end-office collocations.

The core of each of our metro fiber networks 15 a ning of fiber optic cable i a city’s central business distnet that connects to our central
offices from which we can provision services to our customers These central offices contain the switches and routers that direct data and voice
traffic to their destinations, and also have the space to house the additional equipment necessary for future telecommunications services A
critical element of our metro fiber network 15 the number of central offices 1n which we have located our routing and transmission equipment
within each of our local markets, referred to as collocations In general, a CLEC 15 able to provision services at lower cost 1f 1t operates a
collocation within a relatively short distance of 1ts customer Following our acquisition of the telecommunications assets of Allegiance
Telecom, Inc 1n June 2004, we operate collocations 1n 953 central offices as part of our network. virtually all of which are concentrated in the
business districts m which our target customers are located We operate one of the most extensive collocation footprints 1n the Umited States
We believe that our extensive collocations provide us with substantial market opportunities to both scll services to our targeted SMB customers
and to service as pornts of termination for traffic originated by other carriers

Whenever we can, we build and own these metro fiber networks ourselves or obtain indefeasible nghts to use fiber so that we can control
the design and technology used to best mect our customers’ needs We built our high capacity metro fiber networks using a backbone density
typically ranging between 72 and 432 strands of fiber optic cable Fiber optic cables have the capacity. or bandwidth, to carry tens of thousands
of imes the amount of traffic as traditionally-configured copper wire Our high-count fiber strands allow us to augment the seale of our
broadband and voice services without incurring significant additional construction costs. Indefeasible exclusive rights are contracts with the
owners of fiber optic cables that allow us 10 use a specified amount of capaeity on a specified fiber on those cables for terms ranging from 10 to
25 years
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We operate 37 metro fiber networks serving over 70 markets noted below

Metro Fiber
State Network I.ocation Service Market
AZ Phocnix Phoenix
CA Los Angeles Los Angeles
CA Orange County Anaheim
Costa Mesa
Fullerton
Garden Grove
Huntington Beach
Inglewood
Irving
Long Beach
Orange
Santa Ana
CA Sacramento Sacramento
CA San Diego San Diego
CA San Francisco San Francisco
Oukland
CA San Francisco (cont) Fremont
Milpitas
Mountain View
Palo Alio
Santa Clara
Sunnyvale
CA San Josc San Jose
CcO Denver Denver
Boulder-Longmont
DC/VA Washington DC/ No VA Washington, DC-MD-VA-WV
FL Ft Laudcrdale Ft Lauderdale
FL Miami Miam1
West Palm Beach-Boca Raton
FL Orlando Orlando
FL Tampa Tampa-St Petersburg- Clearwater
GA Atlanta Atlanta
Marictta
. Chicago Chicago
MA Boston Boston, MA-NH
Brockton
Lawrence. MA-NH
Lowell, MA-NH
Worcester, MA-CT
MD Balumore Balumore
Ml Detroit Detront”
MN Minneapolis Greater Minneapolis/ St Paul
MO St Lours St Louis
NJ New Jersey Bergen/ Passaic
. Middlesex-Somerset-Hunterdon
Newark
Jersey City
Monmouth-Ocean
Trenton
NV Las Vegas Las Vegas
NY New York Manhattan
Nassau-Suffolk
OH Cleveland/ Akron Cleveland-Lorain-Elyna
Akron
Canton-Massillon
OH Columbus Columbus
OR Porttand Portland-Vancouver, OR-WA
PA/DE Central PA Allentown-Bethlehem-Easton
Harnsburg-Lebanon-Carlisle
Lancaster
Reading
Scranton-Wilkes-Barre-Hazlcton
York
Wilmington-Newark, DE-MD
Dover
PA Philadelphia Philadelphia, PA-NJ
™ Memphes Mcmphis, TN-AR-MS
TN Nashwille Nashville
X Austin Austin-San Marco
X Dallay’ Ft Worth Dallas
Fort Worth-Arlington
TX Houston Houston
X San Antonio San Antonio
uT Salt Lake City Salt Lake City-Ogden
OrenvProvo
WA Scattle Scattle-Bellevuc-Everett
WA Spokanc Spokane

Lewiston
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Intercity Network
Our metro fiber networks are connected by our own switching, routing and optical equipment Lo dedicated, high-capacity wavelengths of
transmission capacity, on ntercity fiber optic cables, which we refer to as wavelengths and which composes the majonty of our over 290.000
mtereity fiber miles of network By using our own switching and routing equipment, we maximize the capacity and enhance the performance
of our intereity network as needed to meet our customers’ current and future telecommunications needs

XO has designed and built an advanced and rehable intercity network There are at least two physically diverse fiber lines connecting each
of our markets to any other of our markets This allows us to
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reroute traffic around fiber cuts to ensure end-to-end connectivity to our customers Each metro fiber nng 15 also connected to our other rings at
a minimum of two pomnts This ensures that customer traffic can be rerouted around any given market to avoid network problems like facility
congestion This also ensures that any problem 1n a given market will not sigmficantly affect the rest of the network

Our SONET 1P architecture provides the highest leve] of restoration available today over 10 Gbps wavelengths Redundant routes and
capacity are 1dentified and reserved so that in the event of a failure, the network will systematically restore traffic 1n the shortest tme possible
without the need for human involvement

We prepaid to lease wavelengths. pnmanly from Level 3 Communications, Inc , or Level 3, for five year periods The leases for our
intercity wavelength eapacity wall expire in 2006 and 2007 Given the level of traffic in relationship to capacity and the availability of
wavelength capacity that was avalable to us at cost-efficient leasc rates. to date, 1t has gencrally been more cost-effective to lease wavelengths
rather than deploy our own equipment (o activate segments of our intercity fiber network, which 1s discussed below However, we have
designed and 1nstalled much of the equipment we use to route traffic so that we can easily transfer voice and data traffic from leased
wavelength capacity onto our intercity fiber network as increased traffic on certain segments makes that the more cost effective approach. We
expect to erther renew the wavelength leases for this capacity, lease the capacity from another vendor. or hight our interaity fiber network
Based on the most cost effective option per segment, the currcnt estimate to execute these different options ranges from $25 milhion to
$40 million, although we believe that through the development of technology and a competitive bidding process, we will be able to obtaim the
necessary capacity for less Lighting our intercity fiber network may be strategically beneficial to XO because 1t provides a lower cost basis for
future augments enabhng faster and more profitable growth

Our ntercity fiber network 1s a twenty year indefeasible exclusive nght to use 18 fiber optic strands pursuant to arrangements with Level 3,
substantially all of which are currently unht. These fibers are part of a fiber network that traverses over 16,000 miles and connects more than
60 citics m the United States and Canada, including most of the major metropolitan markets served by our metro fiber networks Fiber optic
capacity that 1s not currently connected to transmission equipment 1s referred to 1n our industry as unlit

Along specific segments of our intercity network where the demand for telecommunications capacity justifies the required capital
expenditures, we have proceeded with hghting those specific segments During 2004 we hit intercity fiber in the following segments San Diego
to Phoenix, Chicago to Detroit and Detroit to Cleveland In prior years we have lit intercity fiber in the flowing segments Los Angeles to
San Diego and Denver to Salt Lake City Additionally, we previously it fiber acquired from AboveNet, formerly known as Metromedia Fiber
Network, Inc that runs from New York to Washington, D C to provide an additional route to the lit intercity fiber network along that segment
and we have also lit fiber 1n Texas Based on current pnicing and demand projections, we may light another three to nine segment routes
n 2005

Our IP network consists of an OC-192 capacity backbone running through or adjacent to our intercity fiber network Our IP backbone
connects to our intercity fiber network at nine IP backbone nodes, 62 local facilities in 34 markets, and two hosting data centers Each [P
backbone node provides intercity IP transport between cach of our metro fiber networks and connectivity to other Internet Service Providers or
ISPs. which 1s commonly referred to as peenng Peering with other ISPs 1s done 1n cach of our IP backbone facihties except for Denver

9
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Broadband Wireless

In addition to our fiber and equipment assets. we hold licenses for 1,150 to 1,300 MHz of local multipoint distnibution services, or LMDS,
spectrum 1n 59 cities Our hicenses also include

* 150 MHz of LMDS spectrum 1n 14 other citics,
* 150 MHz of LMDS spectrum 1n the five boroughs that compnise New York City (300 MHz total). and
* 400 MHz of LMDS spectrum in Denver

We also hold ten broadband wireless hcenses in the 39 GHz (gigahertz) frequency band, of which five provide from 100 to 300 additional
MHz 1n two cities where we hold a 150 MHz LMDS hicense, plus 100 MHz in Denver and 200 MHz of spectrum in Las Vegas. where we do
not hold a LMDS license

The following diagrams depict the physical components of our nationwide network There are additional maps located on our web site at
* www X0 com The map below depicts our intercity fiber network and the geographic zones in which we are licensed to deploy fixed wireless
services, as well as the local markets 1n which we are currently able to cost-cffecuvely deploy fixed wireless solutions
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The map below depicts our [P backbone and the facilities related to 1ts operation, such as Sonus IP switches and network IP nodes
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Connecting Customers to Our Networks

We connect our customers directly to our networks through one of three methods In most cases. we lease ILEC network elements at either
cost-based UNE or special access retail rates that connect our facthties directly to our customers’ premises, known in our industry as “local
loops ” Alternatively, we connect customers to our networks by using fiber optic cable and a direct connection to our network. Third, we
connect our customers directly to our networks using fixed broadband wireless equipment

Leasing UNEs. In the majonity of cases, we lease facilities from an ILEC to connect a customer to our network, and we attempt to
munimize the cost of leasing that capacity by mimimizing the distance from our network to a potential customer Because the cost of leasing
those facilities 1s generally based on the distance of the leased connection, shorter distance connections are less expensive than longer distance
connections One of the most sigmficant advantages of our acquisition of the telecommunications assets of Allegiance was our addition of
nearly 833 unique collocations for a combined total of 953 umique collocations The Allegiance acquisition also added approximately 8,000
metro fiber nules and 2.000 intercity fiber miles to XO for a combined total of 888.000 metro fiber miles and 290,000 intercity fiber miles
This additional local network will allow us to access some of our existing customers and many potential customers more cost effectively than
which we were previously able to do so

Direct Fiber Connection. In cascs where the anticipated revenues justfy the construction cost, we will nstall a new fiber optic extension
from our network to the customer’s premises Whether 1t 1s economical to construct a fiber optic extension depends, among other things, on

« the existing and potential revenue base located 1n the building 1n question,

« the building location relative to our network and our ability to access the commumcations equipment 1n that building, and

11
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» local permit requsrements. landlord requirements, and construction costs

Drrect Fixed Broadband Wireless Connection. In limited cases where cconomically and technologically feasible, we may deploy a high-
bandwidth fixed wireless connection between an antenna on the roof of the customer’s premises and an antenna attached to our metro {iber
network In those cases. we must secure roof and other building access nghts, including access to conduits and wiring from the owncers of cach
building or other structure on which we propose to install our equipment. and may need to obtatn construction, zomng, franchise or other
governmental permits

Network Technology

Over the past few years. both optical and 1P-based networking technologies have undergone rapid innovation Many of these innovations
have the effect of increasing the cfficiency of the physical components of our network by increasing the effective capacity of networks for
these types of applications In the future, we expect that IP-based technology will become the preferred technology for voice calls and facsimile
transmisston as well We believe that our IP-based service platform will provide us with sigmificant future opportunities, because 1t enables
data. voice and video to be camned less expensively and more efficiently over our end-to-end. faciliies-based network Consequently, we have
made and will continue to make significant investments 1n supplementing our data and voice switching technology with IP equipment

Voice Switching Technology. There are two commonly used switching technologies currently deployed 1n most telecommunicattons
networks circuit switched-based systems and packet switched-based systems Circutt switch-based systems are currently used on the PSTN
and most telecommunications networks Circutt switch-based systems establish a dedicated channel for each telecommunication signal (such as
a telephone call for voice or fax), maintain the channel for the duration of the call, and disconnect the channel at the conclusian of the call

Packet switch-based telecommunications systems, which format the information to be transmitted 1nto a series of shorter digital messages
called “packets,” are the preferred means of data transmission Packet-switched teleccommuntcations technology 1s the foundation for VolP and
dehvery of voice communications via the Intemet In packet switching, each packet consists of a portion of the complete message plus the
addressing information to 1dentify the destination and return address A key featurc that disinguishes Internet architecture and packet switching
from the PSTN and circuit switching 1s that on the packet-switched Internet, a single dedicated channel between telecommunication points 1s
not required as 1t 1s in circuit switched commumcations

Packet switch-based systems offer several advantages over circuit switch-based systems, including the ability to commungle packets from
several telecommumcations sources, particularly those with bursts of information followed by periods of “silence,” the ability to commingle
packets provides for supenior network utithzation, and efficiency. resulting in more information being transmutted through a given
telecommunication channel We currently carry more than 90% of our voice and data traffic in packetized form over our intercity network

XO was one of the carly adopters of softswitch and VoIP technologies XO's voice switching strategy relies on strategic integration of our
circutt technology switches and IP-based Sonus softswitch network We have designed our network to provide both flexibility and high quality
service XO has 60 Nortel DMS-500 and Lucent SESS circurt switches in its network providing a rich array of services, national presence and
connectivity to the PSTN Our Sonus softswitch network, which cnables the deployment of VoIP technology, has been 1n service since 2001
The Sonus network has more than 80 gateways in 33 markets iterconnected by a high capacity IP network. The Sonus network fully
interoperates with the Nortel and Lucent circuit switches and has connectivity to the national common channel signaling network to access
industry databases such as number portability databases The Sonus network carnes several hundred mithion minutes of usage per month of
traffic resulting from toll free, long distance and 1SP offload services

12
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The rapid advance of using packet technology for voice has brought to market several new types of service providers that want to offer
voice services using JP transmission but that do not wish to 1nvest 1n establishing a softswitch network XO, with 1ts Sonus network and
extensive connectivity to the PSTN, 1s positioned to provide connectivity to these VolP service providers XO 1s currently offering produets to
allow these service providers to transfer such IP traffic to XO in 1ts IP form as oppused to the traditional requirement that such traffic be
converted to the PSTN traffic protocol !

Packet commumecation for voice and other technologies allows XO to offer cnhanced services and to enable our business customers to
efficiently connect to our network for their voiee, data, and other private data networking needs This cost-effective connection to our network
would not be possible through traditional errcuit switching technology because, 1n the absence of IP transmission, our customers would be
requrred 1n many cascs to access our nctwork through switching and other facilities owned by third party carners This capability allows
greater utihzatton of XO's network assets than a circuit switched solution, with virtually no degradation 1n service to customers, and allows XO
to offer all of those services on a single connection to the customer’s premises

Use of packet-based transport also allows XO to leverage 1ts IP backbone for a vanety of other uses In addition to having voice services
supplied across the IP network, XO can provide a variety of pnivate data network connecuvity including Frame-Relay and Ethernet to provide
XO’s customers secure data transport between customer locations For customer locations that are directly connected to XO's fiber network.
XO can utulize technologies such as Ethernet for transport of customer data from the customer premises to our network which further increase
XO’s network efficiency and allows our customers to use an operationally less complex and inexpensive connection method as compared to
older circuit swatching technologies To increase our ability to provide Ethernet connectivity for customers who are not directly connected to
our network via fiber, we utilize Ethernet transport over copper and other cxisung ILEC facihities to provide that customer-preferred
nterconnectton We behicve that packet switching will eventually replace circuit switched technologies and will be the foundation of integrated
networks whrch treat all transmissions., including voice, fax, and video, ssmply as forms of data transmission

Fixed Broadband Wireless Technology. We are the hcensee of the largest U S footprint of fixed wireless spectrum We deploy fixed
broadband wireless connections pursuant to 91 LMDS spectrum licenses 1ssued to us by the FCC exclusively or nonexclusively through which
all of our currently deployed wireless applications have been provided, and ten additronal 39GHz hicenses available to us, but through which
we have not yet deployed any wireless apphicatons We currently deploy LM DS connections 1n very limited circumstances The following
tables shows (1) the license number, (1) the metropolitan areas and frequency band for each area covered by the hcense. (1) the estimated
population for each area, (1v) the amount of spectrum for each area, and (v) the expiration date for each license

License Y GHz License
Number City Slale Pogulnlmn Chanls Renewal

WPOL286 - New York (PMSA of 5 boroughs & 3 counties) . 8,546,846 - 2/01/2006
WPLM#417 Atlanta 3,197.171 6/17/2008
WPLM412, - Ausun ] " 6/17/2008
WPLM4I6 ) Balumorc ) .

WPLM430 - Birmingham 71,200,336 6/17/2008"
WPLM413 Boston ) 4,133,895 6/17/2008
WPLM418 Chattanooga 5. - T .. 510.860" " 6/17/2008 -
WPLM40S ~ Chicago_ 8182076 6/17/2008
WPLM424 % Cincinnat - 1,990,451 - © 6/17/2008
WPLM422 _Clcxcland A}Jun 2,894,133 6/17/2008
WPLM410_ _ ;" Columbia o 568754 . x 6/17/2008 __
WPLM438  Columbus _ OH 1,477.891 6/17/2008
WPON926 " Denver - v T i COTET 22073952 0 1611712008 -
WPLM408 Detront MI 4,705.164 6/17/2008
WPLM398: ."  Hartford ', , ™ 0" T S TE1123.678 6/17/2008:
WPLMA411 Hickory-Lenorr- M()rb.lnlon NC 292,409 6/17/2008
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License 39 GH: License

Number City State Populati .. A Band . BBand  Chanls Renewal
WPLM431 " Huntsville Tl AL 439,832° 6/17/2008
WPLM435 Indranapolis N IN 1321911 . 6/17/2008
WPLM436 *.  KansasCy ... R MO T 1.839.569 - 6117720087
WPLM434 Klamath Falls OR 74566 /1772008
WPLM420 " Lakeland-Winterhaven . - CFL .1 405,382 T 6/17/2008°
WPLM429 Lexington ] KY 816.101 6/17/2008
WPLM4017" ™ Los Angeles*®® . CA” 14,549,810 . 611772008
WPLM428 Lousville KY 13529 6/17/2008
WPLM423. Mansficld . . JOH:. to2218 " 61772008
WPLM433 Medford-Grants Pass OR 209,038 6/17/2008
WPOH970; Milwaukee - s WL 1,751,525 ‘- 6/17/2008
WPLM419 Minncapolis-St Paul ; ) MN 2.840.561 6/17/2008
WPOH945 | New Haven-Waterbury - Menden - c CcT 978,311 - 6/17/2008
WPLM400 New London- Norwich CcT 357.482 6/17/2008
WPLM397 New York (whole BTA)™" NY 18.050.615 61772008
WPLM421 Ocala FL 6/17/2008
WPLM432 *  Portland .. - . OR 6/17/2008
WPOH956 Providence- inlut.kcl Nc\\ Bcdford l-all R|\ cr _ RIMA 6/17/2008
WPLM437:- . Rochester” o ) . 6/17/2008
WPLM407 . §.|crdmcnm _ 1,656,581 . 1772008
WPLM402"" SanDicgo . ] o CA 2,498,016 T - 6/17/2008
WPLM406 San Francisco- Onklnnd San Jmc ) CA 6.420.984 6/17/2008
WPLM404 San Luts Obispo T CA” C 217,162 6/17/2008 .}
WPLM403 Santa Barbara- Santa M.ma . _CA 369.608 6/17/2008
WPLM427 Scattle-Tacoms s L WA 2,708,949 . 6/17/2008
WPLM425 St Lours ) MO 2,742,114 6/17/2008
WPLM4(9'. Toledo.. * ‘ ) 782,184 ¢ &/17/2008
WPLM415  Washington 4,118,628 o 6/17/2008
WPOH677, 5" _Alhqqqcrq'u'c'“f." 688612 A ‘__9/!/2008__'5_
WPOH67%  El Paso 3 649.860 A 9/1/2008
WPOH676 Tueson 666880 AL - 9172008
WPOH683 Lawton-Duncan . 177.830 A N 9172008
WPOH682" : 1,305,472 A F. 912008
WPOI1684 905.991 A 9112008
WPOH676 s 836,559 Ay : 97172008
WPOH944  Albany- Schencclady 1028615 A 10/6/2008
WPOHY63 ;- Atlanta : 3,197,171 " 10/6/2008:, ;
WPOH954  Austin 899,361
WPOH962 - "Baltimore 2,430,563 - Y-S  +10/6/2008
WPOH955  Boston 4.133.895 A 10/6/2008
WPOH955 . Buffalo-Niagara Falls 1,231.7957; A "10/6/2008"
WPOH950  Charlotic-Gaston . L671,037 A 10/6/2008
WPOH948 .- .. Chicago - - 8,182,076 . ‘A “10/6/2008 .
WPOH953 Dallas 4,329.924 A 10/6/2008
WPOH975 . Des Moings-., .° 728,830 LA 10/6/2008 .
WPOH949 Detront 4,705,164 A 10/6/2008
WPOHY52 . .| Greenville-Spartanburg . 788212 CA T 1062008 55
WPOHY43 Hartford 1,123678 A 10/6/2008
WPOHY66 7 Houston 4054253 ¢ A " 10/6/2008 "
WPOH97__4 . Indianapohs 1.321.911 A 10/6/2008
WPOH979 7" | Jacksonville' ) 1114847 : AT U 10/672008 © -
WPOH98] Knoxville TN | 948,055 A 10/6/2008
WPOH94 ", Los Angeles - . -rr e 145498107 - 10/6/2008
WPOH959 Manchester-Nashua- Concord NH 540704 A 10/6/2008
WPOH973 ; Memphis " TN 1.396.390° A 107672008 "
WPOH967 Miami-Ft Lauderdale FL .270.606 A 10/6/2008
WPLM4267%% ™ - Milwaukee y y WI: 1.751.525 10/6/2008. .
WPOH964 Minncapolis- St P‘lul ) ~ MN . 2.840.561 10/6/7008
WPOH980 ™" Nashwville - s TN 1,429.309- - 1 10/6/20085
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License 39 GHz License

Number City State Popul ABand B Band Chanls Renewal )
WPLM399 " New Haven-Watetbury- Menden. = .~ | TCT .- 978311 A A +:10/6/2008 *
WPOH942 New York (uncncumbered by PMSA) o NY 9.503.769 A L {IIO/_6/20_(_)8 )
WPOH960 " - Philadelphia, Wilmington (DE). Trenton (NJ) A _PA . 5,899.345 A 107612008 .
WPOH971 Piutsburgh kA 2507.839 A L 10/6/2008
WPLM414°-. . Providencc-Pawtucket, New Bedford: Fall River .~ RIMA 7 1.509.789 ¢ - T oB T L 10067200855
WPOHY51 Raleigh-Durham ) _ NC 1,089,423 A 10/6/2008
WPOH972" Richmond-Petershurg VA 7 1.090.869 A *10/6/2008 *
WPOHY78 Rochester . NY  n118963 A X 10612008
WPOH976. ~  San Antonto U ST TUTX ) 1530954 T AT . 10/6/200:
WPOH958 _Springficld- Hnlyol\c ~ MA 672,970 A 10/6/2008
WPOH969: > St Lows ™’ MO 2742114 A 10/6/2008
WPOH946 ~ Syracusc ) NY 791.140 A 10/6/2008
WPOH965 * Tampa-St Petersburg; Clearwater ~ . i° - " - FL 2,249,405 A
WPOH961 Washington - - ) ) DC 4118628 A
WPOH968. ... West Palm Beach- Boca Raton ™ ST FL 893145 .7 A O
WPOH957 Wur(_csltr -Fitchburg- Leominster CMA 709.705 A ) -]()/6 0()8
WPQT938") - Denver-Boulder- Greeley . . CO . 2073952 ¢ s . B 10/18/3010™
WPQT942 Las Vegas B NV 857.856 . E 10182010
WPQT946 °  Las Vegas T e et SNV 857,856 . TG T 101802010 g
WPQT939  SanDicgo : -  CA_ | 2498016 B 10182010
WPQT944 " *" SanDiego ~' - - - CA~ 2498016 - TR 10n8n010
WPQT947 _ San Diego ) ) .. ...CA 2498016 ] T 1071872010
WPQT940 San Francisco ) T R o)\ 6.420.984 R D . .. l/ignolo
WPQT945 San Francisco CA 6420984 o F 10/18/2010
WPQT941 '.\_'\:Tolcdq - T s L T o T 782,184 " E" 5 100182010
WPQTY43 Toledo OH 782.184 F 10/18/2010

Legend

A ' T "7 500 10 28.350 MHz, 29. 100 to ”'9,250 GII/ 31 075 1031225GHz =1, 150 MHz
Al ) 27.500 1o 28, 350 Mllz-SiOMIlz )
A3 il 07+ 310751031225 GHz =150 MHz | - N
B i _ 31,000 to 31,075 MHz, 31 225 t0 31.300 MHz = 150 MHz i o
39GHzB . 38,6501¢ 38.700 MHz, 39.350 t0 39.400 = 100 MHz* ~ . R
39 GHz E 38,800 to 38,850 MHz. 39.500 to 39. 550 = 100 MHz o
39 GHz G © 17 38,900 to 38,950 MHz. 39.600't0 39,650 = 100 MHz -
39GHzF .38.850 10 38.900 M1z, 39.550 tg 39,600 = 100 MHz
39GHzN 39,250 10 39,300 MHz, 39,950 1o 40,000 = 100 MHz *

39

Hz D 38.750 to 38.800 MHZ 39.450 to 39,500 = l()O MHZ
‘- The higher the frequ . the higher’ lhe atien

frequency signal will propagate farther.;

The spectrum under the hicenses we hold can transmit voice, data or video signals from onc fixed antenna to onc or many olhers As the
word “local” i the local mulupoint distribution service name implies, the radio links using LMDS frequencies are of limited distance, typically
five miles or less. due to the degradation of these high-frequency signals over greater distances

There are additional holders 1n some of the cities where we hold Licenses There are also compettors who are hcensed broadband fixed
wircless operators in the 39 GHz spectrum bands Examples include First Avenue Networks and AT&T Business Services There are existing
users of the 39 GHz spectrum that may require XO as a new user of the spectrum to coordinate 1ts use to avoid interference with an existing
user We do not believe that the coordination process will significantly limt our ability to use the spectrum

The term of each of the licenses for our broadband wireless spectrum generally 1s ten years Although the licenses are renewable for an
additional ten year term. renewal 1s conditioned on our ability to satisfy
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utilization requirements cstablished by the FCC The first license expiration 1s 1n 2006 We have applied for a two year extension from the
FCC. and anticipate that the extenston will be approved We continue to evaluate recent improvements 1n the price and performance of fixed
wireless equipment, and have plans to meet the ECC's “substantial service” test before the licenses are due for renewal proceedings’ If we do
not meet the FCC’s substantial service test at the end of the license expiration date, we may request an extension of time or warver of license
forfeiture from the FCC

Employces

As of December 31, 2004 we employcd approximately 5.000 people. including full-uime and part-time employees Overall, we consider our
employee relations to be good None of our employees 15 covered by a collective bargaining agreement

Sales Overview
Our sales organization includes both direct and indirect sales representatives

Direct Sales. Our direct sales and sales support orgamization consisted of more than 1.200 employees at December 31, 2004 Our direct
sales force includes two sales orgamzations, one that addresses the needs of commercial retail customers and one that services wholesale
carrier accounts Our cominercial sales orgamization focuses on our SMB customers, developing mult-market accounts and national accounts
Our camer sales orgamzauon focuses solely on servicing telecommunications providers who. in combination with other capabilities, provide
telecommumcations services under their own brand Our carrier customers benefit from our national network. our data service capabihties. our
broad range of services and our cost effective solution design In addition. as a result of the recent limitations on the availability of cost-based
UNE rates for local transport imposed by the FCC TRRO, as discussed 1n greater detail below, we believe that our extensive local network may
provide additional opportumties for carner accounts

We have structured our sales efforts to develop a direct and personal relationship with our customers We have integrated the Allegiance
and XO sales forces with an effort to retain the most productive representatives We have restructured our compensation formula for our direct
sales force 1n 2005 to reward our salespeople for services that we 1nstall and provision to a customer and for ongoing services purchased by
that customer over ime versus at the point of sale We train our sales force regularly and will continue to emphasize traiming 1n 2005 We
believe that thts compensation and benefit structure will further our corporate strategy of maximzing profitable revenue growth and promote
long term., service-focused relationships with our customers

Indirect Sales Representatives. We have complemented our dircct sales force with over 5,000 third party sales agents to distribute the
products and services available to our customers We currently have distribution arrangements with a number of national. regional and local
agents and agency firms, whose representatives market a broad range of XO services The deplovment of indirect salcs agents also furthers our
strategy of incrcasing our profitable revenue, as we do not incur costs for indirect sales agents unless and until a sale 15 made and nstaltcd

Network Services .

Our network services orgamization consists of more than 1,700 cmployees whose main objective 1s to deliver superior service and to
enhance the customers” experiecnce Network service employees are located 1n all of our markets Their main objectives include the design,
deployment, and maintenance of our network assets In addition, they are responsible for installing customer premise equipment and activating
new customers as well as maintaining and, when necessary. repaining any service outages our customers might experience To be proactive
repairing any network outages and to maintain the mghest network quality, we have a 24x7 network operauons center with a full network
surveillance system '
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Customer Care :

Once a customer’s services have been installed, our customer care operations support customer retention and satisfaction Our goal 1s to
provide customers with a customer care group that has the ability and resources to respond to and resolve customer questions and 1ssues as they
anise We conduct much of our customer care operations from two call centers We also provide locally-bascd care for many large customers
We have integrated the XO and Allegiance customer care orgamzations. and support the needs of the combined businesses with 600 customer
care represcntatives .

Competition
We compete with a large number of telecommunications services providers in each of our target customer markets

Incumbent Carriers. In each of our 70 markets, the ILEC generally maintains a dominant market positon in the dehivery of local exchange
services We compete with ILECs such as Venzon, SBC, Qwest and BellSouth on the basts of our ability to provide nationwide service. our
commitment to customer service. and, where our cost structure permits, on the basis of price If, however. SBC and Venzon or Qwest complete
their acquisitions of AT&T and MCI, respectively, SBC and Venizon or Qwest will also be able to offer services nationally While we behieve
that we have compeutive advantages over the ILECs, each of the ILECs 1s sigmificantly larger than we are 1n annual revenues. total assets, and
financial resources. and have ncrcased their marketing to our target market of SMBs In additon, the recent TRRO 1ncluded several rulings
favorable to incumbent carmers, including the ehmination in specific central offices of the requirement that the incumbent carners lease last
mile connections to competitive carriers hike us at cost-based, UNE rates

Competitive Local Exchange Carriers. In additon to competing with the ILECs. we also compete with many CLECs. most of which are
regionally focused In general, CLECs often maintain a markct or compctitive focus that enables them to be successful with specific products
or 1n specific geographic or customer segments Consequently. 1n each of our markets, we compete with CLECs who may have different
competiive focuses While we believe that our national reach and breadth of products makes us compctitive with nearly any
telecommunications carrer, we have to address a wide range of competitive conditions 1n cach of our markets

Long Distance Companies. Many of the long distance telecommunications scrvices providers, such as AT&T, MCI, and Spnint, also
operate national networks While Jong distance carriers such as AT&T and MCI have expenenced decliming revenues in recent years, these
long distance carriers remam significantly larger than we are 1n annual revenues. total assets, and financial resources In addition. several of
these companies have continued to achieve significant competitive success with business customers |

Data and Internet Services Companies. There are a number of large Internet service providers with which we compete 1n providing
various Internet access and data products Such compctitors include Level 3, Global Crossing, and Covad Communications

VoIP Carriers. Several compantes have imtiated VolP services 1n recent vears. including Vonage. Covad, Qwest, and AT&T, that provide
voice telecommunications services exclusively by means of [P

Cable-Based Service Providers. Scveral compames historically focused on the dclivery of cable television services have expanded their
service offerings to include broadband connections and. 1n some cases, local voice services While several such competitors. such as Comcast,
Cox Commumcations, and Time Warner have focused on the residential market for voice communications services. many of these competitors
are sigmficantly larger than we are 1n annual revenues, total assets, and financial resources While we beheve that we enjoy competitive
advantages over such companies because of our industry experience in providing telecommunications services, many large cable providers
may build a substantial residential customer basc and market to our core SMB market 1n the future
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Company History

Our principal executive and admimstrative offices are located at 11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston. Virgima 20190 and our teicphone
number 1s (703) 547-2000 Our Internet address 1s www xo com, where. under “About XO-Investor Center™. vou can find copies of our annual
report on Form 10-K as of and for the yeur ended December 31, 2004. and our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form §-K
and amendments thereto, all of which we make available as soon as reasonably practicable after the report 1s filed with the Secunities and
Exchange Commussion, or the Commisston

The 1mbial predecessor entity of XO was formed as a Washington limited partnership in 1994 In 1995. that entity merged into a
Washington limited habihty company that became known as “NEXTLINK Communications. L L C ™ In January 1997, NEXTLINK
Commumeations, L L C merged into NEXTLINK Communications. Inc , a Washington corporation. which in June 1998 retncorporated 1n
Delaware under the same name On June 16. 2000, in connection with the acquisiton of Concentne Network Corporation, NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc merged with and into a new corporation and that corporation, as the surviving corporation in the merger. changed 1ts
name to NEXTLINK Communications, Inc On September 25, 2000. NEXTLINK Communications. Inc began doing business as “XO
Communications” and. on October 25, 2000, changed 1ts name to XO Communications, Inc We conduct our business primarly through the
more than 20 subsidianes that XO owns and manages

In December 2001. XO voluntanly delisted 1its pre-petition class A common stock from the Nasdaq National Market. which was traded
under the symbol “XOXQ", and, on December 17, 2001, began trading on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board. or OTCBB On June 17, 2002,
we filed for protectton under the Bankruptcy Code On November 15, 2002, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed our plan of reorganization, and,
on January 16, 2003, we consummated the plan of rcorgamzation and emerged from our Chapter 11 reorgamzation proceedings with a
sigmficantly restructured balance sheet i

On June 23, 2004, we acquired the telecommumcation services asscts of Allegiance, for approximately $325 2 million 1n cash and
approximately 45 38 million shares of our common stock

Duning the fourth quarter of 2004, we completed a legal entity reorganization of our operating subsidianies We consolidated approximately
75 of our operating subsidiaries with and into a new, nationally-hcensed operating company called XO Communications Services, Inc , or
XOCS, a directly, wholly-owned subsidiary of XO Cemmunications, Inc We anucipate that nearly all of our consolidated revenues from the
sale of regulated telecommunications services will be earned either by XO or XOCS

Regulatory Overview
Overview

We are subject to regulation by federal. state and local government agencies Histoncally, the FCC had junisdiction over interstate long
distance services and international services, while state regulatory commssions had junisdiction over local and intrastate long distance services
The Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the “Telecom Act™ fundamentally changed the way telecommumcations 1s regulated 1n this country
The FCC was given a major role in wnting and enforcing the rules under which new competitors could compete 1n the Jocal marketplace
Those rules, coupled with additional rules and decistons promulgated by the vanous state regulatory commussions, form the core of the
regulatory framework under which we operate in providing our services

With a few hmited exceptions, the FCC continues to retain exclusive junisdiction over our provision of interstate and international long
distance service. and the state regulatory commissions regulate our provision of intrastate local and long distance service Additionally,
mumcipaliies and other local government agencies may regulate himited aspects of our business. such as use of government-owned nghts-of-
way, and may require permits such as zoning approvals and building permits

The Telecom Act and the related rules govermng competition 1ssued by the FCC. as well as pro-competitive policies already developed by
state regulatory commassions, have enabled ncw entrants hke us
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to capture a portion of the ILECs’ market share of local services However, there have been numerous attempts to lunit the pro-competiive
policies in the local exchange services market through a combination of proposed federal legislation. adoption of new rules by the FCC. and
ILEC challenges to exisung and proposed regulations To date, the ILECs have succeeded 1n ehminating some of the market-opening
regulatons adopted by the FCC and the states through numerous court challenges In particular, the ILECs appealed. and won partial reversals
of, a series of FCC orders defining the ILEC facihiies — known as unbundled network elements or “UNEs"™ — that ILECs must lease to
compeutors at cost-based rates We expect the ILEC's efforts to scale back the benefits of the Telecom Act and local service competition to
continue. However. while the FCC has ehminated certain UNEs, the basic framework of local competition. including the UNE regime itself,
has remained intact The successful implementation of our business plan 1s predicated on the assumption that the basic competitive framework
and pro-competiive safeguards will remain n place. '

The passage of the Telecom Act largely preceded the explosive growth of the Intemet and IP commumcations Congress 1s currently
considering whether to further amend the Telecom Act to, among other things. directly address IP commumcations It1s possible th%n any such
amendment to the Telecorn Act could elinunate or materially alter the market-opeming regulatory framework of the Telecom Act 1n general,
and the UNE regime 1n particular Such a result could adversely affect XO's business It 1s not possible to predict if, when. or how the Telecom
Act will be amended :

Federal Regulation

The FCC exercises junisdiction over our telecommuntcations facilities and services We have authonty from the FCC for the nstallauon,
acquisition and operation of our wircline network facilities to provide facilities-based domestic interstate and mternational services In addition,
we have obtained FCC authonzatons for the operation of our LMDS and 39 GHz broadband wireless faciliies Because XO 1s not dominant in
any of 1ts markets, unlike ILECs, we are not currently subject to price cap or rate of return regulation Thus, our pricing policies for interstate
and internatronal end user services are only subject to the federal guidelines that charges for such services be just, reasonable, and n:on-
discriminatory The FCC allows us to file interstate taniffs for our interstate access services (rates charged by us to other carriers for access (o
our network) As for domestic and international long distance services, the FCC reguires us to make the terms, conditions and rates of the
detanffed services avanlable to the public on XO's web page, and such terms, conditions. and rates are located at http //www.xo com/legal/

Implementation of the Telecom Act i

The Telecom Act’s Local Competition Framework

One of the key goals of the Telecom Actis to encourage competition in the provision of local telephone service To do this, the Telecom
Act provides three means by which CLECs such as XO can enter the local telephone service market The three modes of entry are as follows

* Access to UNEs. ILECs are required to lease to CLECs various elements i therr network that are used individually or 1n combination
with each other to provide local telephone service As discussed 1n more detail below, the FCC determines which facilities must be made
available by the ILECs as UNEs The ILECs must make UNEs available at rates that are based on their forward-looking economic costs,
a pricing regime known as “TELRIC.” short for Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost For XO, the most cntical UNEs are local
loops and transport, which enable us to connect our customers to our network

* Construction of New Facilittes. CLECs may also enter the Jocal service market by building entirely new facilines The ILECs are
required to allow CLECS to interconnect their facihities with the ILECs' facilities i order to reach all customers

* Resale. ILECs are required to permit CLECs to purchase their services for resale to the public at a wholesale rate that 1s less than the rate
charged by the ILECs to their retail customers
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To facilitate competitors’ entry into local telephone markets using one or more of these three methods, the Telecom Act imposes on the
ILECs the obligation to open therr networks and markets to competiion When requested by competitors, ILECs are required to negotiate, in
good faith, agrecments that set forth terms governing the interconnection of their network. access to UNEs. and resale XO has negotiated
interconnection agreements with the ILECs in cach of the markets in which 1t operates Many of these interconnection agreements are being
renegotiated now

The following 1s a summary of the interconnection and other rights granted by the Telecom Act that are important for effective local
service competition and our beliel as to the effect of those requirements. if properly implemented

s mterconnection with the networks of incumbents and other carriers, which permits our customers to exchange traffic with customers
connected to other networks,

» requirements that the ILECs make available access to ther facilities for our local loops and transport needs, thereby enabling us to serve
customers not directly connected to our networks.

* compensation obligations, which mandate reciprocal payment arrangements for local traffic exchange between us and both incumbent
and other compctitive carrters and compensation for terminating local traffic ongiating on other carriers” networks.

* requirements concerming local number portability, which allows customers to change local carners without changing telephone numbers,
thereby removing a sigmficant barrter for a potential customer to switch to our local voice services.

* access to assignment of telephone numbers, which enables us to provide telephone numbers to new customers on the same basis as
incumbent carrters. and

« collocation rights allowing us to place telecommunications equipment in ILEC central offices, which enables us to have direct access to
local loops and other network clements

Although the nights established 1n the Telecom Act are a necessary prerequisite to the mtroduction of full local competition, they must be
properly implemented and enforced to permit competitive telephone companies like XO to compete effectively with the incumbent carriers
Discussed below are several FCC and court proceedings relating to the apphcation of certain FCC rules and policies that are significant to and
directly impact our operations and costs as well as the nature and scope of industry competition

Unbundling of Incumbent Network Elements

In a senies of orders and related court challenges that date back to 1996. the FCC has promulgated rules implementing the market-opening
provisions of the Telecom Act, including the requirement that the ILECs lease UNEs to competitors at cost-based rates At the core of the
series of FCC orders 15 the FCC’s evolving effort to define which ILEC network facilities must be made available as UNEs Iniually, the FCC
defined a broad list of UNEs, consisting of most of the elements of the ILECs' networks Under pressure from the ILECs. the FCC hus
subsequently reduced the list, while preserving access to those network elements cnitical to the operation of XO's business

The current hst of UNEs was promulgated by the FCC in two orders The first 1s the Trienmal Review Order, or “TRO™, which was
released on August 21, 2003 Several carriers and other entities appealed the FCC's TRO decision On March 2, 2004, the U S Court of
Appeals for the D C Circunt 1ssued 1ts opimon 1n United States Telecom Association v FCC, No 00-1012 (“USTA I Decision™) In the
USTA 11 Decision. the court reversed and overturned many of the conclusions of the TRO In the aftermath of the USTA IT Decision, the FCC
released the second of 1ts two currently controlling orders. the TRO Remand Order or “TRRO™, on February 4, 2005 It 1s expected that vanous
partics will appeal the TRRO Tt 1s not possible to predict the outcome of those appeals It1s possible that portions of the order could be
overturned and that the FCC will 1ssue new rules in their place that further restrict access to UNEs
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As of March 11, 2005. the effective date of the TRRO, the ILECs are obligated to provide as UNEs the following network facihties used by
XO to serve 1ts customers

UNE Loops

DS0 loops. A DSO loop 1s a single, voice-grade channel Typically, individual business lines are DSO loops The ILECs must make DSO
loops available at UNE rates on an unhimited basis

DS1 loops. A DS1 loop s a digtal loop with a total speed of 1 544 megabytes per second, which 1s the equivalent of 24 DSOs Multple
voice hines and Internet access can be provided to a customer over a single DS1 Joop We serve most of our customers with DS1 loops The
ILECs must provide DS1 loops at UNE rates at the majonty of their central offices Competitors, however, are hmited to no more than 10 DS1
loops to any particular building

DS3 loops. A DS3 loop 1s a digital loop with a total speed of 44 736 megabytes per second In some cases, XO serves 1its large business
customers with DS3 loops ILECs must provide DS3 loops at UNE rates at the mayority of their central offices Competitors, however. are
hmited to no more than one DS3 loop to any particular buillding

As of the TRRO. ILECs are not required to provide optical capacity loops or dark fiber loops as UNEs Opucal capacity loops, referred to
as OCn loops, are very high-capacity digtal loops ranging 1n capacity from OC3 loops, which are the equivalent of three DS3s to OC]9" This
will not impact our costs

The ILECs are also not required to provide certain mass market broadband loop facilities and funcuonality as UNEs Under the TRO, the
TLECs are not required to make newly-deployed fiber-to-the-home or FTTH loops available as UNEs and are only required to provide the
equivalent of DSO capacity on any FTTH loop built over an existing copper loop These recent FCC orders should only limit availabihty for
those specific network elements, which are not matenial to us It 1s possible, however, that the ILECs will seek additional broadband regulatory
rehief n future proceedings

UNE Transport

DS1 transport. Whether transport 1s available as a UNE 15 determined on a route-by-route basis ILECs must make transport at UNE rates
available at DS1 capacity levels between any two ILEC central offices unless both central offices either (1) serve more than 38.000 bustness
Iines or (2) have four or more fiber-based collocators On routes where DS 1 transport must be made avalable, each individual compemor 15
Iimited to no more than 10 DS1 transport circuits per route

DS3 transport. Access to DS3 capacity-level transport 1s more hmited than access to DS1 transport ILECs must make transport at UNE
rates available at DS3 capacity levels between any two ILEC central offices unless both central offices either (1) serve more than 24,000
business lines or (2) have three or more fiber-based collocators On routes where DS3 transport must be made avaslable. cach individual
competitor 1s hmited to no more than 12 DS1 transport circuits per route

Dark fiber transport. Dark fiber transport 1s available under the same conditions as DS3 transport

ILECs are not required to provide access to transport at greater-than DS3 capacity levels ILECs arc also not requrred to provide transport
at any capacity level to connect an ILEC central office with a competitor’s facilities

Transinonal availability where elements are no longer available as UNEs

For DS1. DS3, and dark fiber loops and transport that do not meet the critena for availability set forth above. the FCC established a
transitional peniod during which the ILECs must continue to make the elements available at UNE rates to serve existing customers For DS1
and DS3 loops and transport, the ILECs must make the elements available at 115% of the TELRIC rate for one year beginning on
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March 11, 2005 For dark fiber loops and transport, the ILECs must make the elements available at 115% of the TELRIC rate for 18 months
beginming on March 11, 2005

Although these rules adopted by the FCC 1n the TRRO became effective on March 11. 2005, many of the requirements imposed by the
FCC 1n the TRO and TRRO were not self-executing. Accordingly. the FCC made clear that carners must follow the change of law procedures
1n their applicable interconnection agreements with ILECs to implement any TRO requirements that are not self-executing and that carriers
must follow the procedures set forth in section 252(b) of the Telecom Act to modify interconnection agreements that are silent as (o
implementation of changes in [aw We have been 1n negotiauons with ILECs to amend our interconnection agreements to implement relevant
TRO requirements and, to date. have executed amendments in several states

Additional Federal Regulations
The following discussion summarizes some additional specific arcas of federal regulation that directly affect our business

VoIP. Like a growing number of carriers, we utihize IP technology for the transmission of a portion of our network traffic The regulatory
status and treatment of 1P-cnabled services 1s unresolved In particular, there 1s uncertainty as to the imposition of access charges. Umversal
Service fund contributions, and other taxes, fees. and surcharges on VoIP services In a recent order, the FCC held that Vonage's VoIP services
and similar offerings by other providers are subject to the FCC’s interstate jurisdiction, preempting state efforts to regulate VolP provaders as
intrastate telecommumications providers Four separate state commissions have appcaled this ruling and the case 1s currently pending The
FCC. however, left open the question of whether VolP providers provide “telecommunications™ — 1 e , basic transmission services — or
enhanced “information services ™ Under the Communications Act, those are mutually exclusive categories Generally, telecommumcations
carriers, including traditional local and long distance telecommunications companies are regulated under the Communications Act, information
service providers are generally unregulated The FCC has imtiated a rulemaking procceding to address the classification of VolP and other IP-
cnabled service offerings It 1s not possible to predict the outcome of that proceeding or its effect on XO's operations In conjunction with the
rulemaking proceeding. the FCC is considering a petition filed on February 5, 2004 by SBC Commumications requesting that the FCC forbear
from applying common carrier regulation to [P-based networks Under the Communications Act, the FCC must act on forbearance petitions
within one year, or the petition 15 deemed granted, subject to a single, 90-day extension available to the FCC atts discretion On December 10.
2004, the FCC exercised 1ts nght to extend the deadline for action unul May 5. 2005

AT&T Declaratory Ruling Re: VoIP. On April 21, 2004, the FCC released an order denying AT&T’s request that the FCC find that
VolIP services are exempt from switched access charges, the AT&T Order The FCC held that an interexchange service that uses ordmary
customer premiscs equipment that originates and terminates on the PSTN. that provides no enhanced functionality, and that undergoes no net
protocol conversion, 1s a telecommunications service and subject to switched access charges The order apparently places interexchange
services sumilar to those VoIP services offered by AT&T 1n the same regulatory category as traditional telecommunications services and,
therefore. potentially subjects such VoIP services to access charges and other regulatory obligations including Universal Service fees Although
the FCC did not rule on the apphcability of access charges for services provided prior to Apnil 21, 2004, the ILECs may attempt to assert
claims agamst other telecommumications compames ncluding us for the retroactive payment of access charges On Apnl 22, 2004, SBC
Commumcations filed a collections lawsuit against AT&T and other carniers secking retroactive payment of unpaid access charges On
February 4, 2005, SBC amended an existing collection case 1t had filed against Global Crossing and filed a complamt against XO

Level 3 Forbearance Petition. On December 23, 2003, Level 3 filed a petition requesting the FCC not to apply interstate or intrastate
access charges on 1P traffic that onginates or terminates on the PSTN If the FCC grants Level 3's petion, we would expeet that there would
be reductions 1n our network costs
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assoctated with the termimation of certain IP-t0-PSTN and PSTN-10-1P traffic If, on the other hand. the FCC rules against Level 3 and adopts
rules that require interstate access charges to be paid for the termination of IP-to-PSTN traffie, our network costs will increase The FCC must
rule on Level(3)'s pending petition for forbearance by March 22, 2005 or the peution will be granted

ILEC Provision of Broadband Telecommunications Services and Information Services. Currently, the ILECs. as dominant carners.
are subject to a relatively high degree of regulation with respect to their broadband serving offerings The FCC, however. has inated a
rulemaking proceeding in which 1t1s considenng deregulating. or applytng a lower degree of regulation to, ILEC broadband offerings If the
I1.ECs are largely freed from dominant camer regulation, they will have much greater pncing flextbihity and will pose a greater competitive
threat to XO In a second, related rulemaking, the FCC 1s considering whether to eluninate certain requirements 1t imposes on the ILECs with
respect to their broadband Internet access services Currently, where the ILECs offer Internet access or other information services over
broadband facilities. they must (1) purchase the underlying broadband transmission facihues from themselves at tanffed rates and (2) make the
underlying facilitics available to competitors on a non-discriminatory basis If the FCC were to ehminate these requirements, 1t could result 1n
an 1ncrease to our network costs To date. these deregulatory trends have been directed towards facihities used primanly by residential
customers. and not by business customers

Intercarrier Compensation Reform. Currently. teleccommunications carriers are required to pay other carriers for interstate access charges
and local reciprocal compensation charges These two forms of intercarrier compensation have been under review by the FCC since 2001 The
FCC continues to consider a broad order reforming the 1ntercarrier compensation system and 1ssued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on
February 10, 2005 to seck further comment on 1intercarner compensation reform Although we are unable to predict the outcome of the FCC's
rulemaking procedures, inasmuch as access charges and reciprocal compensation payments make up our largest network expense item, the
FCC’s action could have a matenial, adverse affect on our operations and cost of domng bustness

Cost-based TELRIC Pricing. On September 10, 2003, the FCC mitiated a new proceeding to consider significantly revamping the current
TELRIC methodology used for the pricing of UNEs If the FCC reverses the methodology used for determining UNE rates to allow for rate
increases, this could substantially raise XO's costs for leasing UNES in the future A decision 1s expected sometime 1n 2005 Several state
commissions have also intiated proceedings to review the rates that the ILECs charge for UNEs An adverse ruling in these proceedings would
allow the ILECs to increase UNE rates 1n the applicable state and this could substantially raise our costs for leasing UNEs 1n the future

State and Local Regulation

California PUC Proceeding. On September 23, 2004, the Cahiforma Public Uthiues Commssion, the CA Commussion, 1ssued a decision
that requires SBC to adjust monthly recurring rates for certain types of services offered to CLECs by SBC As a result of this decision, we
believe that we are owed a retroactive credit The billing adjustments and true-up payments rcquired by the decision have been stayed until the
CA Commussion can (a) consider mitigations to lessen the negative effect of such true-up payments; and (b) consider 1ssues raised by the
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal regarding the shared and common cost mark-up clement Since the decision, the CA Commission has 1ssued
three scparate altcrnate draft decisions which propose different true-up payment schemes and different shared and common cost mark-up
factors 10%. 15%. and 21%. respectively The date that the CA Commission will vote on the draft decisions 1s unknown at this ime, but the
ncxt possible date that this 1ssue could be considered by the CA Commission 1s March 17, 2005 Therefore. we currently are unable to
determine the amount or the tming of the expected credit

In general, state regulatory commussions have regulatory jurisdiction over us when our facilities and services are used to provide local and
other intrastate services Under the Telecom Act. state commissions continue to set the requirements for providers of local and intrastate
services, including quabity of services criteria State regulatory commissions also can regulate the rates charged by CLECs for intrastate and

23



BOWNE INTRGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Site BOWNE OF WASHINGTON Phone (202) 783-9191  Operator BOW9YYGYT  Date [8-MAR-200509 13 54 59
Name XO COMMUNICATIONS BO\VW06J}¢81 026.00.00.00

[B/E] cre s ' qwninm

EDGAR 2 R OO A OO

W06781 SUB. DocName 10-K. Dac 1. Page 26

local services and can set prices for interconnection by new telecommunications service providers with the ILEC networks, 1n accordance with
guidelines set by the FCC Tn addition, state regulatory cominissions 1n many nstances have authonty under state law to adopt additional
regulations governing local competition and consumer protection, so long as the state’s actions are not inconsistent with federal law or
regulation

Most state regulatory commissions require companies that wish to provide intrastate common carmer services to register or be certified to
provide these services These certificatuons generally require a showing that the carner has adequate financial, managenal and techmcal
resources to offer the proposed services 1n a manner consistent with the public interest We are certified in all of the states 1n which we conduct
business In most states, we are also required to file tanffs setting forth the terms, condittons and prices for services that are classified as
intrastate. and to update or amend our tanffs as rates change or ncw products are added We may also be subject to vanous reporung and
record-keeping requirements

Where we choose to deploy our own transmisston facilities, we may be required. in some citics, to obtain street opening and construction
permits. permission to usc nghts-of-way, zoning vanances and other approvals from municipal authonties We also may be required to obtain a
franchise to place facilitics 1n public nghts of way In some areas, we may be required to pay hicense or franchise fees for these approvals We
cannot assure you that fees will remarin at current levels. or that our competitors will fuce the same expenses, although the Telecom Act
requires that any fees charged by municipalities be reasonable and non-discriminatory among telecommunications carmners

Risk Factors
Risks Related to Liquidity, Financial Resources, and Capitalization

The covenants in our Credit Agreement restrict our financial and operationa! flexibility, which could have an adverse affect on our
results of operations. .

Our Credtt Agreement contains covenants that restrict. among other things, the amount of our capital expenditures, our ability to borrow
money. grant additional liens on our assets, make particular types of investments or other restricted payments, sell asscts or merge or
consolidate A company controlled by Mr Carl Icahn holds more than 90% of the principal amount of the loans outstanding under the Credut
Agreement Because amendments to or warvers of covenants under the Credit Agrcement generally require the approval or consent of holders
of only a majonty of the outstanding principal amount under the Credit Agreement, decisions whether to amend or waive compliance with such
covenants by the holders of loans under the Credit Agreement can be made by Mr Icahn, whether or not the other holders agree.

Our Credit Facility includes a financial covenant requinng us to maintain mmmmum carnings before interest. taxes, depreciation, and
amortization, or EBITDA, for the twelve-month peniod ending each fiscal quarter We did not meet this covenant in 2004 and based on current
financial results and our current business plan, we do not expect to comply with this covenant 1n 2005 We have obtained a waiver through
December 31, 2005, but we can not be certain that we will be able to obtain any further waivers of this, or any other. covenant in our Credit
Facility If we are not able to (1) amend this Credit Facility covenant to remove the mimmum EBITDA requirements or decrease the
requirement to a level we behieve we can acheve. (1) obtain an extension on the waiver to at least March 31, 2006, or (1) repay the Credit
Facility with a new debt or equity offering so that we are in comphiance, under the current accounting guidehines we wall be requrred to
reclassify the $366 2 milhon amount outstanding from long term to short term as of March 31, 2005 While the exisung waivers prevent the
lenders under the Credit Facility from accelerating repayment of the outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Facihty until March 31, 2006,
this reclassification would cause a significant deterioration to our disclosed working capital and financial positon The security for the Credit
Agrecment consists of substantially all of the assets of XO and our subsidianes A default under the Credit Agreement could adversely affect
our rights under other commercial agreements
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The Credit Agrecment and the existence of the loans under the Credit Agreement also could affect our financial and operational flexibility,
as follows

« they may umpair our ability to obtain additional financing 1n the future,
« they may hmit our flexibility 1n planming for or reacting 10 changes 1n market conditions, and
« they may cause us to be more vulnerable 1n the event of a downturn 1n our business

We may not prevail in our $50 million claim against the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust, and we may not be successful in
defending ourselves from the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust's $100 million counterclaim against us.

In August 2004, XO filed an admimstrative claim against the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust, or ATLT, the successor to the assets
and habilitics of Allegiance Telecom. Inc that we did not acquire We have claimed that we are entitled to approximately S50 mullion in
damages related to a vanety of actions taken by Allegrance and the ATLT The ATLT filed a counterclaim against us in November 2004
seeking damages of approximately $100 million We are vigorously pursuing our claums aganst the ATLT, and we are disputing the ATLT
counterclaim as being frivolous and without merit There can be no assurancc, however. that we will be successful 1n recovenng the damages
to which we believe we are entitled, or that we will successfully defend oursclves against the ATLT counterclaim, 1n which case our financial
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

We incurred a net loss in 2004 and, in the near term, may not generate funds from operations sufficient to meet all of our cash
requirements.

For cach peniod since inception. we have incurred net losses For 2004, we posted a net loss attributable to common stockholders of
approximately $410 5 mullion In the near term, we expect to use cash to fund our ongoing capital cxpenditure requirements

We may not realize the network synergies that we estimate in connection with the acquisition of the Allegiance assets.

While we have becn successful 1n realizing many of the network synergies that we estimated were achievable tn connection with the
acquisthon of the Allegiance assets. and we are confident that we will achieve additional synergies. it 15 possible that our estimates could prove
to be 1ncorrect For example. we may discover during the process of further integrating the Allegiance assets into our network and business
infrastructures that some of the acquired assets require greater maintenance or carlier replacement than ongimally anueipated In addivion,
unanticipated growth 1n our business as a result of the acquisition of the Allegrance assets may require that some facilities or support functions
that we currently anticipate will be combined or reduced may be necessary to retain for us to maintain our operations The synergies that we
anticipate to realize are also dependent on our ability to combine the Allegiance assets with our own network infrastructure in a manner that
permuts us to realize those synergies If we have not cstmated the potential synergies correctly, or if we are not able to integrate the Allegiance
assets into our network infrastructure effecuvely, we may not realize any further network synergies 1n connection with the acquisition of the
Allegiance assets. or such synergies may take longer to reahize

We are also retaining investment bankers and consultants who will develop and make recommendations to us regarding our strategic
alternatives
Risks Related to Our Operations
The failure of our operations support systems, including the systems for sales tracking, order entry and provisioning, and billing, to

perform as we expect could impair our ability to retain customers and obtain
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new customers, or provision their services, or result in increased capital expenditures, which would adversely affect our revenues or
capital resources. ’

Qur operations support systems are an important factor 1n our operations Cntical information systems used 1n davly operations perform
sales and order entry. provisioning., billing and accounts reccivable functions, and cost of service venfication and payment functions,
particularly with respect to facihitics leascd from ILECs Although we have integrated some systems with respect to the products and customers
wc acquired from Allegiance Telecom, Inc we do maintain separate systems for XO and Allegiance 1n several key areas, such as provisioning.
[f any of these systems fail or do not perform as expected, or 1f we fail to coordinate our reinaimng separately-existng Allegiance and XO
systems. such failures would 1npact our ability o process orders and provision sales, and to bill for services efficiently and accurately. which
could, 1n turn, cause us to suffer customer dissatisfaction. loss of busincss or the inabibty to add new customers or additional services to
existing customers 1n a tmely basts, any of which would adversely affect our revenues In addition, system failure or performance 1ssues could
mmpact our ability to effectively audit and dispute invorcing and provisiomng data provided by scrvice providers from whom we Jease facilities

Our Disaster Recovery framework to control and address systems risks 1s not fully rcdundant. and we may ncur the costs, delays and
customer complaints associatcd with system failures In addition, our ability to efficiently and accurately provision ncw orders for services on a
timely basis 1s necessary for us to begin to generate revenue related to those services We have experienced, and may continue to experience,
delays and related problems 1n processing service orders, provisioning sales and billing 1n connection with the transition to these new systems
If the delays or related problems conunue, or if any unforeseen problems emerge 1n connection with our migration to the new provisioning
software and systems. delays and errors may occur 1n the provisioning process, which could significantly increase the tme unul an order for
new service can begin to generate revenue. which could have a matcrial adverse effect on our operauons

Our rights to the use of the unlit capacity that make up our network may be affected by the financial health of our fiber providers.

We possess the nght to use the unlit capacity that 1s included in our network. particularly 1n our intercity network. through long-term leases
or indefeasible nght of use agreements A bankruptey or financial collapse of one of these fiber providers could result 1n a loss of our nghts
under such leases and agreements with the provider, which in turn could have a negative 1mpact on the integnty of our network. our ability to
expand the capactty of our network as our business grows, and ultimately on our results of operations For example, we lease or have
indefeasible rights of use on networks owned and maintained by Level 3 If Level 3 were to encounter severe financial difficulties. we may not
be able to maintain or protect our rights in important components of our intercity network In such an event, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to lease comparable strands of unht capacity 1f we are not able to retain our rights (o use the existing unlit capacity we have
obtained from Level 3, nor that we will be able to lease such strands from another provider at competitive or economical rates

We may not be able to continue to connect our network to the 1LEC’s network or maintain Internet peering arrangements on
favorable terms, which would impair our growth and performance.

‘We are required to be a party to interconnection agreements with the ILECs 1n order to connect our customers to the PSTN If we are
unable (o renegotiate or maintain nterconnection agreements n all of our markets on favorable terms, 1t could adversely affect our ability to
provide services 1n the affected markets

Peering agreements with ISPs allow us to access the Internet and exchange traffic with these providers. Depending on the relative size of
the providers involved. these exchanges may be made without settlement charge Recently, many ISPs that previously offered pecring have
reduced or eliminated peering relationships or are establishing new, more restrictive critena for peering and an increasing number of these [SPs
are seeking to impose charges for transit. Increases in costs assoctated with Internet and
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exchange transit could have an adverse effect on our margins for our services that require Internet access We may not be able to renegotiate or
maintain peenng arrangements on favorable terms, which would impair our growth and performance

We may not be able to successfully extend the termination date of our LMDS licenses for New York City and the surrounding vicinity.

Our hicenses o use the wireless point-to-point LMDS spectrum for the geographic region that includes New York City are currently
scheduled to expire 1n 2006 Although we have filed apphcations to extend the deadlines for the expiration of those licenses. there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in extending the exprration date of our LMDS hicenses in New York City beyond 2006 If we are not
successful 1n extending the expiration date of those heenses. the value would be impaired. and we would adjust our asset balance In addition,
we would not be able to develop our wireless, pomt-te-point solutions 1n that market. which could either require us to expend resources to
obtain alternative spectrum or curtail our opportunity for developing wireless, point-to-point last mile connectivity 1n that market

We depend on a limited number of third party service providers for the performance of selected business operations, and if any such
third party service providers were to experience significant interruptions in their business operations, or were to otherwise cease to
provide such services, our operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We depend on a limited number of third party service providers for the performance of several our business operatons, including payroll
and billing services. If any of these third party providers were to expcnence significant interruptions 1n their business operations, termunate
therr agreements with us, or fail to perform the services required under the terms of our contracts with them, our own processing could be
matenally and adversely affected for a period of time that we can not predict There can be no assurance that we would be able to locate
alternative providers of such services, or that we could do so at economical rates

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property or rights to licenses for use of third-party intellectual property, and
may be subject to claims that we infringe the intellectual property of others, which could substantially harm our business.

We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights. and other proprietary technology that we hcense from third parties We have been 1ssued
several United States and foreign trademarks and may consider filing for additional trademarks 1n the future We have also been 1ssued one
United States patent and may consider filing for addiional patents 1n the future However, we cannot assure you that any additional patents or
trademarks will 1ssue or that our 1ssued patent or trademarks will be upheld 1n all cases We cannot guarantee that these and other ntellectual
property protection measures will be sufficient to prevent misappropriation of our trademark or technology or that our competitors or hcensors
will not independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent to or supenior to ours In addition. the legal systems 1n many other
countries do not protect intellectual property nghts to the same extent as the legal system of the United States If we are unable to adequately
protect our proprietary wterests and business information or our present license arrangements, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected Further. the dependence of the telecommunications industry on proprietary technology has resulted 1n
frequent htigation based on allegations of the infringemcnt of patents and other intellectual property In the future, we may be subject 0
Iiigation to defend against claimed infringement of the nights of others or to determine the scope and validity of the propnetary rights of
others Future htigation also may be necessary to enforce and protect our trade secrets and other intellectual property rights Any ntellectual
property liigation could be costly and cause diversion of our management's attention from the operation of our business Adverse
deternunations 1n any hugation could result in the loss of propnietary rights, subject us to significant habilities or require us to seck licenses
from third parties that may be available on commercially reasonable terms, 1f at all We could also be subject to court orders preventing us
from providing certain services 1n connection with the delivery of our services to our customers
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We experience turnover among our experienced and trained employee base, which could result in our inability to continue performing
certain functions and completing certain initiatives in accordance with our existing budgets and operating plans.

We depend on the performance of our executive officers and key sales, engincenng, and operations personnel, many of whom have
significant expenence 1n the teleconmunications industry and substantial tenures with cither our company or that of one of the companies that
we have acquired We experience turnover among our employees as a whole, and 1f we are not able to retain our executive officers or other key
employees, we could experience a matenal and adverse effect on our financia) condition and results of operations In addition, in spite of the
recent downturn in the U § economy, recrurtment and retention of qualified employees remain highly competiuve, and there can be no
assurance that, if we lose onc or more of our senior executives or key employces. we will be able to replace those persons, or, if we are able to
replace such persons, that we will be.able to do so without incurring significant additiona) labor costs or disruptions 1n our operations

Several customers account for a significant portion of our revenue, and some our customer agreements may not continue due to
bankruptcies, acquisitions, nonrenewal, or other factors.

We have substantial business relationships with large telecommunications carriers for whom we provide long distance and local transport
services The highly competiive environment and the industry consolidation 1n the fong distance and wireless markets has challenged the
financial condition and growth prospects of some of our carner customers. and has caused such carrier customers to optimize the
telecommumications capacity that they utihize among competing telecommumcations services providers’ networks, including ours Replacing
this revenue may be difficult because individual enterpnse and SMB customers tend to place smaller service orders than our larger carmier
customners In addition, pricing pressure on products that we sell to our camer customers may challenge our ability to grow revenue from
carricr customers As a result, 1f our larger carmer customers terminate the services they receive from us. our revenues and resulls of operations
could be matenally and adversely affected

Risks Related to Competition and Our Industry

Technological advances and regulatory changes are eroding traditional barriers between formerly distinct telecommunications
markets, which could increase the competition we face and put downward pressure on prices, which could impair our results.

New technologies, such as VolP, and regulatory changes — particularly those permitung ILECs to provide long distance services — are
blurring the distinctions between traditional and emerging telecommumcations markets In addition, the increasing importance of data services
has focused the attention of most telecommunications companies on this growing sector As a result, a compeutor in any of our business arcas
15 potentially a competitor 1n our other business areas, which could tmpair our prospects. put downward pressure on prices and adversely affect
our operating results

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive, and has experienced the consolidation of many existing competitors and the
introduction of significant new competitors.

The communicattons industry 1s highly competitive Many of our compettors generate significantly greater revenue, and possess
significantly greater assets and financial resources than we do In addition, 1f the business combimations involving SBC and AT& T. and either
Verizon or Qwest and MCI that have been announced to date are consummated. those businesses as combined will enable SBC and Venzon or
Qwest to offer the same or similar network reach as we do, and cnable those companies to more effectively target the potential customers that
are the focus of our business This competition places downward pressure on prices for local and long distance telephone service and data
services, which can adversely affect our operating results Also, as the technology to deliver VoIP services 1s improved, more companies will
be able to compete with us 1n our metro markets without constructing or acquiring PSTN assets m those markets In addition, we could face
competition from other companies, such as other competitive camers, cable television companies, microwave carriers, wireless telephone
System operators
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and pnivate networks built by large end-users We are much smaller in size and resources than many of our competitors If we are not able to
successfully compete against our larger competitors and the new entrants into the telecommunications market, our financial condstion and
results of operations could be matenally and adversely affected

Our company and industry are highly regulated, which restricts our ability to compete in our target markets and imposes substantial
compliance costs on us that adversely impact our results.

We are subject to varying degrees of regulavon from federal, state and local authoriies This regulation 1imposes substantial compliance
costs on us It also restricts our ability to compete For example, 1n cach state 1n which we desire to offer our services, we are required 1o obtain
authonzation from the appropnate state commussion If any required authonizaton for any of our markets or services 1s revoked or otherwise
terminated, our ability to operate 1n the affected markets would be adversely affected

Attempts to limit the basic competitive framework of the Telecom Act could interfere with the successful implementation of our
business plan.

Successful implementation of our business plan 1s predicated on the assumption that the basic framework for competition 1n the local
exchange services market established by the Telecom Act will remain 1n place We expect that there will be attempts to imit or chmunate this
basic framework through a combination of federal legislation, new rulemakings by the FCC and ILEC challenges to existing and proposed
regulations It 1s not possible to predict the nature of any such action or 1ts impact on our business and operations

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
An entity owned and controfled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn is our majority stockholder.

An enuty owned and controlled by Mr Carl C Icahn, Chairman of our board of directors, has filed a Form 13D with the Secuntes and
Exchange Commisston 1n August 2004 disclosing that his beneficial ownership, as defined therein, was 60 7% of XO As aresult. Mr. [cahn
has the power to clect all of our directors Under apphicable law and our certificate of incorporation and by-laws. certain actions cannot be
taken without the approval of holders of a majonty of our voung stock including, without limitation, mergers and the sale of substanually all of
our assets and amendments to our certificate of incorporation and by-laws

Future sales or issuances of our common stock could adversely affect its price and/or our ability to raise capital.

Future sales of substanuial amounts of our common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the
prevailing market price of our common stock and our abihity to raise capital In particular, we anticipate that the ATLT holder of approximately
45,380,000 shares of our common stock, may exercise 1ts nghts under an existing Registration Rights Agreement wath us to cause us to file a
registration statement to register the public resale of some or all of those shares

As of March 14, 2005, there were 181.933,035 shares of our common stock outstanding The shares of our common stock owned by an
entity owned and controlled by Mr Icahn are restncted shares that may be sold only under a registration statement or an exemption from
federal secunties registration requirements Mr Icahn, through vanous entuties that he owns or controls. has the nght to require XO to register,
under the Securities Act of 1933. shares of common stock held by such entiies and to include shares of our common stock held by them 1n
certain registration statements filed by XO

We have 1ssued and there remain outstanding threc senes of warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of approximately 9 5 milhon,
7 1 milhon and 7.1 million addittonal shares of our common stock. at excrcise prices of $6 25. $7 50 and $10 00 per share. respecuvely The
warrants will expire on January 16, 2010

We have options outstanding to purchase approximately 11 3 milhon shares of common stock reserved for 1ssuance under our 2002 Stock
Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2004 Unless surrendered or
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cancelled carlier under the terms of the stock mcentive plan, those options will expire beginning 1n 2013 1n addition. our 2002 Stock Incentive
Plan authonzes future grants of options to purchase common stock, or awards of restricted common stock, with respect to an additional
6 3 million shares of common stock 1n the aggregate

Forward-Looking Statements
Our forward-looking statements are subject to a vanety of factors that could cause actual results to differ sigmificantly from current beliefs

Some statements and information contained 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not histonical facts. but are “forward-looking
statements.” as such term 1s defined in the Pnivate Secunties Lingation Reform Act of 1995 These forward-looking statements can be
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “beheves.” “expects,” “plans,” “may.” “will,” “would,” “could.” “should.” or
_“anticipates™ or the negauve of these words or other vanations of these words or other comparable words, or by discussions of strategy that

mvolve nsks and uncertainbies Such forward-looking statements include. but are not mited to, statements regarding

",

* our services, 1ncluding the development and deployment of data products and services based on IP, Ethernet and other technologies and
strategies to expand our targeted customer base and broaden our sales channels,

« the operation of our network, including with respect to the development of IP protocols,

« hquidity and financial resources, including anticipated capital expenditures, funding of capital expenditures and anticipated levels of
indebtedness, and

« trends related to and expectations regarding the results of operauons 1n future penods. including but not mited to those statements set
forth in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finaneial Condition and Results of Operatons below

All such forward-looking statements are quahified by the mherent nisks and uncertainties surroundmg expectations generally. and also may
matenally differ from our actual expenience mnvolving any one or more of these matters and subject areas The operation and results of our
business also may be subject to the effect of other rnisks and uncertainties, 1n addstion to the relevant quahfying factors identified 1n the above
“Risk Factors™ section and elsewhere in this annual report and 1n the documents incorporated by reference 1n this annual report, including. but
not hmited to

» general economic conditions tn the geographic areas that we are targeting for communications services,

* the abihity to achieve and mamtain market penctration and average per customer revenue levels sufficient to provide financial viability to
our business.

« the quahity and pnce of simijar or comparable communications services offered or to be offered by our current or future competitors, and

« future telecommunications-related Jegislation or regulatory actions

Item 2. Properties

We own or lease, in our operating terntores. telephone property which includes fiber optic backbone and distnibution network facilities.
wireless distribution sites, central office switching equipment. connecting lines between customers’ premmses and the centra) offices, and
customer premise equpment Our central office switching equipment includes clectronic switches and penipheral equipment.

The fiber optic backbone and distnbution network and connecting lines include aenal and upderground cable, conduit. poles and wires
These facihties are Jocated on public streets and highways or
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on privately-owned land We have perimission to use these lands pursuant to consent or lease, permit, easement, or other agrecements

We lease facihities for our admmmistrative and sales offices. central switching offices. network nodes and warehouse space The vanous
leases expire 1n vears ranging from 2005 to 2029 Most have renewal options

Our headquarters are located 1n Reston, Virginia, where we are currently leasing approximately 170.000 square feet of space In February
2003, Dixon Properties, LLC, which 1s owned by Mr Carl Icahn, acquired ownership of the building 1n which our headquarters 15 located m a
transaction that was approved by the Bankruptcy Court 1n our Chapter 11 proceedings

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

XO 15 1nvolved 1n Jawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings consisting of commercial. regulatory. secunties. tort and employment
matters. which anse n the ordinary course of bustness In accordance with SFAS No 5. “Accounting for Contingencies,” XO makes a
provision for a hability when 1t 1s both probable that a hability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated XO
beheves 1t has adequate provisions for any such matters XO reviews these provisions at least quarterly and adjusts these provisions to reflect
the 1mpacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case
Litigation 15 inherently unpredictable However, XO believes that 1t has valid defenses with respect to legal matters pending against 1t
Nevertheless, 1t 1s possible that cash flows or results of operations could be materially affected in any particular penod by the unfavorable
resolution of one or more of these contingencies

XO filed an admimistrative claim in August 2004 against the ATLT XO has elaimed that it 1s entitled to approximately $50 million 1n
damages related to a vanety of actions allegedly taken by Allegiance and the ATLT The ATLT filed a counterclaim against XO on
November 24, 2004 sccking damages of approximately $100 nillion, whieh claim XO believes to be frivolous and without ment This action 1s
pending in the U S Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York

In addition, disputes with respect to general unsccured claims and one admmmstrative claim agamnst XO 1n the amount of approximately
$2 1 mlhon, remain pending from the XO's 2002 Chapter 11 proceedings

Itemd.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter

Part 11

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock 15 quoted on the OTCBB under the symbol “XOCM OB ™ According to the records of our transfer agent, we had
68 stockholders of record as of March 14, 2005 The majonity of our shares that are held by non-affihates are held 1n approximately 35,000
customer accounts held by brokers and other instututions on behalf of stockholders The following table sets forth the low and high sale price of
our common stock, based on the last daily sale, in each of our Jast exght fiscal quarters

2004 2003
High Low Hiph low
90): 0% 4000 1§ 035
7 80 S 390
] 8335 560
$ 580 $ 497

Fifst Quarter Com . . . ) Ce
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
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Al of the 2004 over-the-counter market quotations set forth 1n this table reflect inter-dealer quotations, without retatl mark-up. mark-down,
or comnmission and may not necessanly reflect actual transactions Qur Credit Facility prohibits the payment of cash dividends

Item 6.  Selected Financial Data
Our selected financial data table follows (dollars 1n thousands, except share data)

Reorganized XO(N

Predecessor XOth

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2004(a) 2003

2001

2002

2000

Statement of Opérations Daga: .. ' : =N
Revenue ) 5 l 300. 4"0 $ 1110483
Loss from operauons (b)” - Ca (370.292) (111.858)

Ncl loss (c) (405.. 541)_ (102.5549)
Ncl loss dppll(,dh]e o common shdres (c)(d) (41045 3), +. - (102554)
Net loss per common sh'lrc basic and dlluled 257 . (107).
Statement of Cash Flow Data:. R R
Net cash (used 1n) provndcd by operating anuvmes S 150 $ 6,301

Net cashi (used ) provided by mnvesung actvities ©

Net cash (used 1n) provided by fmancmg duwmes

Balance Sheet Data: - o

Cash. cash cquivalents and marke

Property and cqu1pmenl net -

Broadband wireless hcenses and other 1nlan;,1hlc9
net (¢)

Total assets (L) N :

Total long-term debt and accrucd wnterest

5185

$ 520612
‘485984

sccurmes $

109515
7 1,265.165

1,459,385 .

payable (c) 366.247 536,791
Redeemable preferred stock, net of . 204,353 e
Total stockholders™ equuty (deﬁctl) (e) 485.552 380,425

5.

§§ 1259853 § 1358567 S

(1,208,898) (1,949.891) - ..
"'(3,386.818) (2.086,125)
(3:350,362), . . (1,838917

(7 58)

$

(1 019~647)'

755167 $
43742577

57360983 s
2,780.589%

2977.575
7,930,465

5,109,503
1,781,990,

"7(3,032,282) 297,416

723,826
(1.011.652)-,
(1.101.299)
(1.247,655).

387

(559.414)

. (1,464,495)
,1.648.663

1.860.963

. 818'401' "

(@) The selected consolidated financial data includes the accounts and activities of the businesses we acquired from Allegiance Telecony, Inc from June 23, 2004, the acquisition

date through December 31, 2004

(b)  In 2004, loss from operanons included a $212 S mulhon non-cash impainnent charge of goodwill Tn 2002,

loss trom operatons included non-cash charges totahng

$477 3 million in connecuion with the amendinent to the terms of fiber acquisiion and maintenance arrangements with Level 3 Communications, and the return of previously
acquired nterasty {iber in connection therewath Tn 2001, loss from operations meluded restructunng charges totahing $509 2 mithon associated wath the restruciunng of
certain aspects of our business operations Loss from operations in 1999 included restructuring eharges totaling $30 9 nullion assocrated with relocanng our Bellevue,

Washington headquarters to Reston, Virgima

¢y In 2004, net loss included a $212 5 mllion non-cash impairment charge of goodwill In 2003, net loss included » $33 § million gain on investment sales In 2002, net loss and
total assets reflects a $1,876 6 milhon impairment charge to write-off all of our goodwill as a cumulanve effect of accounting change, pursuant 1o SFAS No 142 In 2001, net
loss tncluded a gain of $345 0 milhon resulung from the repurchase of certain of our senior notes In 2000, net loss included a $225 1 nulhon net gain from the sale of an

equity investment

(d) The comparabihity of net loss applicable to common shares 1s impacted by the transactions discussed 1n ¢ above In 2001, net loss apphicable to common shares includes a

gam of $376 9 million resuling from the repurchase of certam of our preferred stock
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(¢) In January 2004. we completed a nghts offering An aggregate of 39 7 milhon shares were 1ssued i the offering. yiclding net proceeds of 8197 6 million These proceeds
were used to pay down our long-term debt and accrued interest payable

¢fy The reorgamzed selected consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 reflects the umpact of adopung fresh start as of January 1,
2003. and 15 not comparabie to that of predecessor XO The pred sor selected hdated financial data below as of and for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000 does not include the effects of the fresh start accounting provisions of SOP 90-7 Fresh start requered that XO adjust the historical cost of its assets and habilites to
therr fau vatues as determuned by the reorganization value of the Company

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Executive Overview of Qur Business
State of the Telecommunications Industry

In general, growth 1n the telecommunications industry has been sluggish for the past three years Demand for some services, such as
wireless and integrated product offerings has increased, but for many other products and services price compression, reductions 1n regulated
rates and lower demand have resulted 1n year over year revenue declines for many telecommunication companics As a result our industry has
seen

» Reduced new customer demand and/or reductions 1n existing customer services,

« High number of bankruptcies in the telecommunications industry and the economy in general,
« Contmued competiive pressures, including price cutting 1n some product Iines.

» Mandated FCC carner access rate reductions

Aggregate revenue earned from the sale of wired telecommunications services in 2004 has been estimated at approximately S225 hillion,
down approximately three percent from 2003 Telecommunications sales to business customers, however, 1s esumated to have remained
relatively constant at $91 bilhon. with sales of local exchange services esumated to have increased by approximately one percent to
approximately $42 5 bilhon 1n 2004 compared to 2003 Telecommumcatuons spending by businesses who spend less that $10,000 per month or
SMBs. was esumated to be $75 billion 1n 2004

The telecommunications industry currently remains 1n a state of competitive transition as the combination of new federal and state
regulations. industry consohidation, emergence of new technologies. growth of the mobile wireless market, and entry of new
telecommumcauons compettors. such as cable television companies, has contributed to a rapidly changing market for telecommumnications
services

Business Overview

We provide a comprehensive array of telecommunications services to business customers We provide our services, including local and
long distance voice, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services, through our nauonal telecommunicauons network, which
consists of more than 6,700 route miles of fiber optic hines connecting 953 umque ILEC end-office collocanons in 37 U S cities In addition,
we own licenses to deliver telecommunications services via local, multipoint distributton service, or LMDS, wireless spectrum n all of the
largest U S ciies We market our services primarily to business customers, ranging from small and medium businesses to Fortune 500
companies to carrier and wholesale customers Our services offer an effecuve telecommunications soluton for nearly any business, and our
national telecommunications network 1s parucularly advantageous o mulu-locaton businesses that desire to improve commumcauons among
their locauons, whether within a single metropolitan arca or across the country

33



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Siie BOWNE OF WASHIN

Name XO COMMUNICATIONS [B/E] CRC 46431

BOWWO06781 036.00.00.00
WOGTSI SUB. DocXame 10.6. D 1. Page 36 EDGAR 2 0 0 00O 01 SO0 R

TON Phone (202) 783-9191 _ Operator BOW99999T _ Dute 18 MAR-M309 13 3459

Key Performance Indicators
Management uses various key performance indicators. or KPIs, to assess operational cffectiveness in certain areas These include:
 Revenue Growth — This KPI tracks a combination of sales trends, pricing strategy and operational effectiveness
» Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue — This KPI tracks our efficiencies in providing services and our profitability
* Customer attntion or chum -— This KPI tracks the financial impact of customer attntion, or churn, in companson to new sales

Management reviews this KPI to judge the effectiveness of operational measures intended to promote customer retention and satisfaction
with our services, and the net impact on revenue

Svstem Conversions

Duning 2004, we contunued to invest capital into the development and implementation of our information systems that increase revenue
and/or improve our customer’s experience. and/or increase productivity

* XO has completed a number of systems initiatives that improved our sales operations and customer service, including ,
* A customer and prospect management system to facilitate the handimg of customer and prospect leads,

« A network pricing tool to facilitate production of price quotes for the sales team,

* A project integration tool to allow cross selling of XO products by Allegiance sajes personnel and the reverse,

* A vendor and customer referral tool for lead generation, and

* An ordenng system for the selling of the first XO VolIP product. XOptions Flex

« In order to 1improve productivity through the automation of business processes, we focused on 1improving the order mstallation process by
implementing systems initiatives including )

* An electronic bondimg system for trouble icketing and order management between XO and several ILECs.
* A new ordenng platform to cnable standardized selling processes.
¢ An order flow through from our order entry system to our provisioning and billing systems for XO's four key products,

* An Automated Switch Translation system, which automated the mterface between the provisioming systems and the network
clements, and

« A new Workforce Management system with full integration between the Workforce Management system and provisioning and
trouble ticketing

* In addition. to improve productivity and to take advantage of the combination of the Allegiance and XO assets. XO assessed the
capabilities of both systems” portfolios and delivered a combined architecture, leveraging the best systems while reducing overall cost
Systems that have been consolidated include

¢ Network monitoring systems.

* Virus management systems.
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* General Ledger and Accounts Recervable systems.
* Human Resource systems.

» Sales commssion systems,

* Telco cost management platforms,

» Carrier Access Billing systems,

* Payroll systems,

» Tume and attendance systems, and

* Call Management systems

Other 2004 Transactions and Developments
Acquisition of Assets of Allegiuance Telecom. Inc

On June 23. 2004. we acquired the telecommunication services of Allegiance Telecom, Ine . or Allegiance, for approximately
$325 2 milhion 1n cash and approximately 45 38 million shares of our common stock After the acquisiion, XO became one of the nations’
largest competiive providers of national local telecommunications and broadband services with approximately $1 S billion 1n pro forma annual
revenues We currently own one of the largest network of nationwide connections to the ILEC's networks, and doubled our collocations within
the 36 metropohtan arcas where we operate

As of December 31. 2004. we have completely integrated the admimstrative functions of XO and Allegiance and have achieved all of the
origmally esumated $100 million of annualized synergies We have made substanual progress i achieving the oniginally estimated $60 million
of annuahzed network synergies We have connected al! of the former Allegiance collocations, allowing us to carry traftic across the combined
XO and Allegiance networks We have also integrated many admimstrative systems and contracts and have reduced the aggregate workforce of
the combed companies from over 7,000 as of January I, 2004 to approximately 5,000 as of December 31, 2004

After the Closing Date, Allegiance transferred the remaming assets that XO did not buy to the ATLT XO filed an admimistrauve claim n
August 2004 agamnst the ATLT XO has claimed that 1t s entitled to approximately $50 million 1n damages related to a vanety of actions
allegedly taken by Allegiance and the ATLT The ATLT filed a counterclaim against XO on November 24, 2004 sceking damages of
approximately $100 nulbon, which claim XO beheves to be frivolous and without ment The accompanying financial statements do not
mclude any financial impact from this lingavon as 1115 too early 1n the process to assess any outcome This action 1s pending in the U S
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York

Convernble Preferred Stock

On August 6. 2004, XO completed a private placement of 4 0 million shares of 1ts 6% Class A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred
Stock Offering™) for net proceeds of $199 4 million Affiliates of Mr Jcahn purchased 95% of the preferred shares sold 1n the Preferred Stock
Offering. and an affiliate of Amalgamated Gadget. L P, holder of approximately 8% of XO's outstanding common stock, purchased the
remaining five percent

The Preferred Stock Offering was reviewed and approved by a special commuttee of XO's Board of Directors consisting of XO's three
independent directors, Messrs Dell, Gradin and Knauss The special committee selected 1ts own counsel and financial advisor The financial
advisor advisced the special commuttee that, subject to specified quahifications, assumptions and mitations, the matenal terms of the 6%
Class A Convertible Preferred Stock were fair to XO, from a financtal pomnt of view, at the time of 1ssuance Proceeds of the Preferred Stock
Offering will be used for general working capital purposes and to fund possible future acquisitons that would add additional scale and
synergies to XO's business
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Caputal Resources and Liquidity Assessment

* Qur cash and cash equivalents decreased from $478 6 mithon at December 31, 2003, to $234 0 milhon at December 31, 2004 largely due to
our acquisition of Allegiance’s telecommunicatons services asscts which included a cash payment of $325 2 million Other sigmificant
liquidity events during the year included raising capital through the 1ssuance of common stock under a nights offering that provided net
proceeds of $197 6 milhon, and the 1ssuance of preferred stock that provided net proceeds of $199 4 millron I[n addition, we paid down
$199 7 million of principal outstanding under our Credit Facility and capital leases during the year, and invested $106 0 milhon of capital into
our telecommunications network and information systems Our operating activities provided net cash of $0 2 million dunng 2004 This s
largely due to the growth in revenue and the improvement of selhng, operating and general expenses as a percentage of revenue due to the
synergies achieved after the acquisiion of Allegiance’s telecommunications services assets.

Our Credit Facility includes a financial covenant requiring us to maintain minimum earmings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization, or EBITDA, for the twelve-month period ending each fiscal quarter We did not meet this covenant 1n 2004 and based on current
financial results. we do not expect to comply with this covenant 1n 2005. We have obtained a warver through December 31, 2005 If we are not
able to (1) amend this Credit Facility covenant to erther remove the minimum EBITDA requirements or to decreasc the rcquirement to a level
we belicve we can achieve. (1) obtain an extension on the waiver to at least March 31. 2006, or (1) repay the Credit Facility with a new debt
or equity offering. under the current accounting guidelines we will be required to reclassify the $366 2 milhon amount outstanding from long
term to short term as of March 31. 2005 While the existing waivers prevent the lenders under the Credit Facility from acceleraung repayment
of the outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Facility unul March 31, 2006. this reclassification would cause a sigmificant detenoration to
our discloscd working capital and financial position

There are no additional borrowings available under our Credit Facihty We have no current debt service requirements since cash nterest
payments as well as automauc and permanent quarterly reductions of the principal amount outstanding under the Credit Facihity do not
commence until 2009 However. 1n the event that consohdated excess cash flow (as defined 1n the Credit Facility) for any fiscal quarter during
the term of the agrecment 1s greater than $25 milhon, at the request of the lender, XO wall pay an amount equal to 509 of such excess cash
flow greater than $25 milhon toward the reduction of outstanding indebtedness. In addition, if the rato of our consolidated earnings before
interest. taxes deprectation and amortization to consolidated interest expense for the four consecutive quarters exceeds 4-1, we would be
required Lo pay cash interest. unless waived by the lenders :

We project that we will make significant progress on our operating results such that we will be cash flow posiive 1n 2005 and that in late
2005 we will be able to fund our capital expenditures from operating cash flows Our projection 1s based upon our current estimates of, among
other things. our estimated increased costs of service attributable to the recent TRRO and other projected operating costs that are not entirely 1n
XO's control As a result. our 2005 projections may not prove to be correct if our estimates of such costs and expenses arc 1naccurate In
addition, our ability to remain cash flow positive over the longer tern 1s dependent on our ability to extend the waiver of our existing senior
debt covenants, refinance our existing semor debt, or repay that senior debt from then-existing cash reserves

We expect that the majority of our planned capital expenditures will be “suctess based™ n that they will be used to grow revenue by
purchasing and installing customer-related equipment and network clectronics for either new customers or by adding services provided to
existing customers Much of our non-success based capital will be for the continued development and implementation of our information
systems 1n support of new product introductions, cost management, continued automation of XO's business processes, and continucd
intcgration of XO's and Allegiance’s information systems
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QOur national network requires various ongoing maintenance costs and software licenses and fees so that we can continue to provide high
quality telecommunication services to our custorers Where we do not have our own network to provide telecommunication services we pay
access rights and use fees (o other service providers To achieve the most cost cfficient rates, we often commit to a multi year purchase for
these services and licenses The Company 1s leasing premises under various noncancelable operaung leases for admimstrative space, building
access, and other leases, which, 1n addition to rental payments, require payments for insurance. maintenance. property taxes and other |
executory costs related to the leases The lease agreements have various expiration dates and renewal options through 2029 The following
table summarizes our payment obligations under various operaung and financing agreements as of December 31, 2004 (dollars 1n thousands)

Other long-term

Crednt contractual Operating lease Capital lease Tolal

Year Ending December 31, Faality uhl gahons obligations obhigations obligations
2005 s T ST 61273 08T .2 70822 S - T 4.789. % 136,884
2006 52,521 ) 66 657 . 4537 o123, 715
2007 T LT Sl = ) ; Thelsr - T 385 14087
2008 . e .. 51394 2398 - 101316
009500 LT, 366247 43251 1770 17, 444953
Thereaﬂcr — 168.235 13.681 277.703
Total finimum commitments - $366247 $ . 339590 % 461892 .. § 31,029 $ 1.198.758:%

As discussed wn Part I. Ttem 1, Business, we prepaid to lease wavelength capacity from Level 3 for intercity network capacity The leases
expire 1n 2006 and 2007 At that time. we will either renew these leased wavelengths at current market rates or nstall our own optical
equipment and hght certain segment routes of our intercity fiber network. etther of which will be a substantial capital commitment

If we successfully erther, extend the waivers for the financial covenants or renegotiate or refinance the Credit Facility as discussed above,
we cxpect that our current cash balance will allow us to successfully cxecute our current business plan Current economic conditions of the
telecommunications industry may create opportunties for us acquire on other compames or portions of companies at attractive prices We
expect to continuc to pursue the acquisiion of additional telecommumecation companies or assets throughout 2005 We do not know what the
terms of any such transactions would be Any offers involving cash consideration could sigmficantly and adversely affect our hquidity To
support further business expansion, including mvestments 1n or acquisitions of other companies or portion of other companies. we may 1ssue
additional equity and/or debt securities

Comparison of Financial Results

The opcrational results for the year ended December 31, 2004 are discussed below The 2004 amounts include the results of operations of
the Allegiance telecommunication services assets. which we refer to as the Acquired Businesses from June 23, 2004 through December 31,
2004

XO Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Revenue. Total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2004 increased 17 1% to $1,300 4 million from $1,110 5 mulhen for the ycar
ending December 31, 2003 The 2004 financial results include approximately $217 2 million of revenue from the Acquired Businesses
Without the revenue from the Acquired Businesses our 2004 revenue decreased $27 3 million or 2 5% from 2003 results Customer churn and
continued pricing pressures, particularly 1n carrier long distance, offset revenue growth from ncw custorners Customer churn 1s driven by a
highly competitive environment, large customers downsizing their telecom needs, and finally our deecmphasizing of products like DSL, Hosting
and Dial-up allowing our sales resources to focus on larger customers and products We expect 2005 annualized revenuc to be consisient with
out fourth quarter 2004 results
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Revenue was carned from providing the following services (dollars 1n thousands)

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31.

% of 2004 S of 2003
2004 Revenue 2003 Revenue
Voice services 6733187 .7 1. 518% $ 572,774 - T 51 6% -
Data services 414 782 o 319% 392742 354%
Integrated vorce and data se; - 212320 7, 163% -~ .144.967. - 13 0%
Total revenue $ 1.300.420 1000% $ 1.110.483 100 0%

Voice services revenue includes revenue from local and long distance voice services, prepaid calling card processing. interactive voice
response scrvices, stand-alone long distance services and other voice telecommumnications based services. Our 2004 results include
approximately $127 ¢ million of voice services revenue from the Acquired Businesses Voice services revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2004 exclusive of voice services revenue from the Acquired Businesses, decreased $26.5 million or 4 6% from 2003 results The
decrease 1s attnibutable to customer churn, competiuve pricing pressures, particularly long distance, and reduced FCC mandated rates

Data services revenue includes revenue from Internet access, network access and web applications hosting services Our 2004 results
include approximately $32 2 million of data services revenue from the Acquired Businesses Data services revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2004 exclusive of data services revenue from the Acquired Businesses decreased $10 1 milhon or 2 6% from 2003 results The
decrease was attributable to an increase 1n customer churn due to network downsizing from high end customers and our deemphasizing certain
less profitable products such as DSL, dial up. and hosting services

Integrated voice and data services revenue 1s attributed to our XOptions and Total Communications service offerings, XO's flat-rate
bundled packages offering a combination of voice and data services and integrated access Our 2004 results include approximately
$58 0 mallion of integrated voice and data services revenue from the Acquired Businesses Integrated voice and data services revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2004 exclusive of services revenue from the Acquired Businesses ncreased $9 3 million or 6 4% from 2003 results
due to growth 1n our integrated access services, as well as our XOptions service offening

Costs and expenses. The table below provides costs and expenses by classification and as a percentage of revenue (dollars 1n thousands)
Qur consolidated costs and expenses 1n 2004 include the costs to run the Acquired Businesses since June 23, 2004

Cost of service
* Selling. operatl g and general
] Depreudll(m ind amortization
= Goodwill 1mp.urmenl “Charg
Restructuring and asset wnlc dow ns
“Total

Ycar Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31.

% of 2004 % of 2003
) 2004 . Revenue 2003 Revenue
TTsT ss, 432,139 '
L 727, 679386
177, 109,308
L2012, 530 L :
— 11.618 (1000 %)

$ 1.670.712-

128 5% $ 1.222,341

101% .. 367%

Cost of service. Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunications services to our customers Cost of
service includes, among other items. the cost of connecting customers to our networks via Ieased facilities, the costs of leasing components of
our network facilities and costs paid to third party service providers for interconnect access and transport services Cost of
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service as a percentage of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased as compared to the same period 1n 2003 due to the impact
of pricing pressures from both mandated FCC carrier access rate reductions and general pricing reductions on revenue. as well as an
unfavorable shift in traffic mix for terminations, offset by savings from synergies associated with the integration of the Acquired Business

We believe that cost of service as a percentage of revenue 1n 2005 for the combined companies will remain relatively stable with 2004
results However. cost of service in both absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue may be adversely impacted due to recently proposed
regulatory rules on UNE Joop and transport rates as discussed in the “Regulatory Overview™ section 1n Part I Item 1 Our current estimates
project an annualized increase of approxumately $45 milhon due 1o these regulatory changes These increases wall be phased 1n during 2005,
and be fully implcmented by 2006 We believe that we should be able to recover the majority of these cost increases through network
optimization, and price increases throughout our markets

We oniginally estimated a potential benefit of approximately $60 0 million in pro forma annualized network synergies for the combined
companies 1f our integration efforts with the Acquired Busincsses were successful We have made substantial progress integrating the two
companies and are on plan to achieve this target

Selling, operating and general. Selling, operating and genceral expense includes expenses related to network matntenance, sales and
marketing, network operations and engineering, information systems, gencral corporate office functions and collection nsks  Selling. operating
and general expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $727 7 million or 56 0% of revenue versus $679 3 million or 61 2% of revenue
for the year ended December 31,2003 The decrease 1n selling, operating and general expense as a percentage of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2004 when compared to 2003 results 1s due to the achievement of synergies related to the Acquired Businesscs Our fourth
quarter 2004 results arc reduced duc to favorable scttlements for $11 9 million

We believe that, selling, operating and general expense will decrease as a percentage of revenue 1 2005 when compared with 2004 results
We onginally estimated a potential benefit of approximately S100 0 million in pro forma annuahized selling. operating and general expense
synergies for the combined companies 1f our integration cfforts with the Acquired Businesses were successful We have completely mtegrated
the admimistrative functions and have achieved all of the estimated annualized synergies.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was $177 8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, and
$109 3 milhon for the year ended December 31, 2003 The increase 1s Yargely due 10 the inclusion of fixcd asscts and mtangibles of the
Acquired Businesses

As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately $115 9 million of fixed assets and $23 5 milhion of broadband wireless licenses that have
not yet been placed into service and, accordingly. are not currently being depreciated or amortized We expect depreciation and amortization
expense during 2005 to increase as additional assets are placed 1nto service and as we recogmize a full year of depreciation and amortization of
the assets of the Acquired Businesses '

Goodwill impairment charge. We retained independent appraisers to perform a preliminary valuation of our assets and habihties as of
December 31, 2004 This valuation was necessary as our far value as determined by our stock price. was less than our book value Based on
thts appraisal we recorded a $212 5 milhion non-cash impairment charge on our goodwill

Restructuring and asset write-downs. Restructuring and assct write-downs were $11 6 miilion for the year ended December 31, 2003
Restructuring charges 1n 2003 included costs for a reduction in our workforce by approximately 550 employees and estimated losses associated
with restructured leases

Investment income, net. Investment income, net includes interest income as well as any realized gains or losses from the sale of
mvestments Investment income, net was a loss of $9 0 mullion and a net gain of $46 2 milhon 1n 2004 and 2003, respectively The 2004
balance includes a $10 4 million
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impairment adjustment on an investment, that was considered to be other than temporary The 2003 balance 1s pnmarnily from a gain on the sale
of an investment

Interest expense, net Interest expense. net includes interest expense on debt and capital leases, less any amounts capitalized The majority
of mnterest expense 1n 2004 and 2003 1s non-cash as our Credit Facility allows for accrued interest to be converted nto principal if unpaid
Interest expensc. net for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $26 2 milhon and $36 8 million, respectively. The sigmificant
reduction for 2004 was duc to a $197 6 million repayment of outstanding princtpal under the Credit Facility i January 2004 Dunng 2004 and
2003, XO capitalized interest of $4 0 mullron and $3 0 million, respecuvely

Reorganized XO Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Predecessor XO Year Ended December 31, 2002

As a consequence of our Chapter 11 reorganization, the financial results for the year ended December 31, 2003 have been separately
presented under the label “Reorgamized XO" und are not comparable with prior year results The reorganized Company has adopted the pohcy
of expensing customer 1nstallation costs in the penod 1n which the costs are incurred The predecessor Company capritalized and amortized
these costs In accordance with SOP 90-7, the reorganized Company was required to implement newly 1ssued accounting pronouncements that
would require adoption within twelve months of applying fresh start

Revenue. Total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2003 decreased 11 8% to $1.110 5 million from $1,259 9 million for the year
ending December 31.2002 Customer churn, of approximately 2 4% 1n 2003, exceeded acquisiton revenue particularly in the carrter, stand
alone, DSL and dial-up customer base The majonty of this dechne 1s driven by major reductions 1n the carrier revenue stream due to
bankruptcies, downsizing network requirements, as well as competitive pncing pressures Additionally. year-over-year revenue decreased 1n
ancillary stand alone products such as Dial Up and DSL Internet access, and Hosting due to XO focusing on more profitable offerings The
commercial offerings to middle market businesses, however, remained relatively stable as revenue acquisition kept pace with attrntion

Revenue was carned from providing the following services (dollars 1n thousands)

Reorganized XO Predecessor XO
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
% of 2003 % of 2002

o Revenue 2002 Revenue %e Change
Voice services 51 6% |$ % 659,558 ¢ 523G ¢ (13 2%)
Data services 92.7 35 4% 472247 ) 3715% (16 8%)
Integrated vorcy 144967 . C130% | - . 1280487, U 102% e 13 266!
Total revenue $ 1.110.483 1000% | $ 1.259.853 100 0% (11 8%)

Voice services revenue includes revenue from local and Jong distance voice services, prepaid calling card processing, and other voice
telecommumcations based services. mnteractive voice response services and stand-alone long distance services Voice services revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2003 decreased to $572 8 nulhon from $659 6 nulhon for the same peniod of 2002 The decrease is attributable to
reduced FCC mandated rates, price reductions 1n long distance services due to reduced cost of service due to technological improvements, and
customer disconnects and usage reductions ansing from customers’ downsizing due to the state of the domestic economy

Data services revenue includes revenue from Internet access, network access and web apphcauons hosung services Data services revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased to $392 7 million from $472 2 mlhion for the same period of 2002 The dechne was
attnbutable to an increase 1n customer bankruptcies, and customer disconnects. and a lower demand from large customers due to reductions 1n
those customers” data capacity nceds
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[ntegrated voice and data services revenue 1s generated largely from our XOptions service offerings. a flat-rate bundled package offering a
combination of voice and data services Integrated voice and data services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased to
$145 0 milhon from $128 0 million for the same period in 2002 The increase 1s due to the continued acceptance 1n the marketplace of our
XOptions service offenng

Costs and expenses. The table below provides costs and expenses by classification and as a percentage of revenue (dollars i thousands)

Reorg: d X0 Predecessor XO
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
% of 2003 % of 2002
2003 ) ) Revenue 2002 Rcvenqe Go Change

Costs and expenses 245 . © P = S : . sl i S
Cost of service o L .3 422,129 80% |$ 522924 (193%)

- Sclhing. operating and general ST 679,286 612% | L 765.8537 - {11 3%)
 Depreciation and amortization 109.308 L 98% ) 699.806 (844%)
* Restructiring and asset write-down. = 11618 T 11% | . . 480,168 _ " (97.6%)
Total 3 1,222,341 1101% |S 2.468.751 196 0% (50 5%)

Cost of service. Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunications services to our customers Cost of
service mcludes, among other 1items, the cost of connecting customers to our networks via leased facilies, the costs of leasing components of
our network faciliies and costs paid to third party service providers for interconnect access and transport services Cost of service for the year
ended December 31, 2003 decreased 1n absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue compared to the same period 1n 2002 The year over
year dechine as a percentage of revenue was due pnmanly to cost opttmization programs which reduced expenscs by transferring traffic from
third party facilities onto our owned or controlled facihties, and favorable resolutions of disputed third party costs The decline was partially
offset by our adoption of an accounting policy during the first quarter of 2003, to expense rather than defer costs associated with the
mstailanon of customer services and the revenue reductions 1n carrier long-distance services due to the excess long haul capacity 1n the sector.

Selling, operating and general. Sclhing. operating and general expense includes expenses related to sales and marketing. tnternal nctwork
operations and engineering, mformation systems, general corporate office functions and collection nsks Selling, operating and general expense
for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $679 3 million or 61 2% of revenue versus $765 9 milhon or 60 8% of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2002 Selling, operatng and general expense decreased in absolute dollars due to our reorganization that resulted 1n reduced
headcount, contract rejections and renegotiations, and fair value adjustments to our long term contractual commitments and property as
required by fresh start accounting which resulted 1n expense reductions in various contracted services, rent and property taxes These
reductions were partially offset by our adoption of the policy of expensing internal labor costs directly associated with customer installation
and the construction of our network The increase in selling. operating and general expense as a percentage of revenue for the year ended
December 31. 2003 when compared to 2002 results 15 due (o the large reduction of revenues due to bankrupteies and price dechnes discussed
above, with no associated offsetting direct expense reduction

Depreciation and amortization. As discussed above, we implemented fresh start on January 1. 2003 and adjusted the carrying value of our
property and equipment and other intangibles to thewr farr value which resulted 1n a significant reduction of the aggregate historical carrying
value Consequently, depreciation and amortization expense decreased to $109 3 muthion for the year ended December 31, 2003, versus
$699 8 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2002

Restructuring and asset write-downs. Restructuning and asset write-downs decreased to $11 6 million for the year ended December 31,
2003 from $480.2 mullion for the vear ended December 31, 2002
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Restructuring charges 1n 2003 include costs for a reduction 1n our workforce by approximately 550 employees. primanly employed 1n network
operations, sales and marketing and informaton technology and esumated losses associated with restructured leases

The 2002 restructuring charges primarly include a $477 3 milhon non-cash asset write-down during the third guarter of 2002 as a result of
returning ntercity assets (o Level 3 in exchange for reduced future maintenance expenses beginning 1n 2003

Investinent income (loss), net. Investment income (loss). net includes interest income as well as any realized gains or losses from the sale
of investments Investment income (loss), net was a gain of $46 2 mithon for 2003 and a gain of $16 3 million 1n 2002 The 2003 balance 1s
primanly for a gain on the sale of an investment

Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net includes nterest expense on debt and capital leases, less any amounts capitalized for
construction cfforts The majonity of interest expense 1n 2003 15 non-cash as the Credit Facility allows for accrued interest to be converted 1nto
principal 1f unpaid Interest expense. net for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $36 8 million and $226 5 mllion, respectively
During 2003 and 2002, XO capitabzed 1nterest of $3 0 million and $11 1 nmulhon, respectively Contractual interest was $501.1 million for the
yeur ended December 31, 2002 The sigmificant reduction for 2003 was caused by the cancellaton of our pre-petition senior notes and pre-
petiion convertble subordinated notes and the reduction in the amount outstanding under our Credut Facility upon consummation of our Plan
of Reorgamzation

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 1n accordance with accounting pnnciples generally accepted 1n the United States
requires managcment to make judgments, estimates and assumptions regarding uncertamnties that affect the reported amounts of assets and
Irabthtes, disclosure of conungent assets and habihties and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses Management uses historical
expenence and all available information to make these judgments and estimates Actual results could differ Despite these inherent linitations,
management believes that Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the accompanying consohdated financial statements and footnotes
provide a meamngful and fair perspective of our financial condition and our operating results for the current period Management beheves the
following cnitical accounting policies represent the more significant judgments and estimates used 1n the preparation of our audited
consolidated financial statements included in this form 10-K

Business Combinations

Upon the Closing Date, XO acquired title to the Acquired Businesses XO retamned independent apprasers to determne the fair value of the
property. plant and equipment and 1ntangible assets acquired as required under SFAS No 141 The following are the estunated fair value of
assets acquired and habilives assumed (dollars in thousands)

Property and equipmen
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets acquired
Current habihities

_ 51618 -
372.405
212,530

Long-term habilities _ “( 12790) h
Total habilities acquired R - PRI R o : .(70.983)
Purehase price S 636.555
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The values assigned 1n these financial statements are preliminary and represent management’s best esimate of current values which are
subject to revision due to changes 1n estimates of fair value as well as the pending claim discussed 1n Part I, Item 3 “Legal Proceedings ™ As
required by the SFAS No 142, we tested our goodwill for impairment at December 31, 2004 and recorded a non-cash impatrment of
$212 5 mulhion This 1s discussed 1n more detail 1n long-lived assets below

Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lhved assets include property and equipment. goodwill, broadband wireless licenscs, and 1dentifiable intangible assets to be held
and used Depreciation 1s calculated on a straight-line basis over the esumated useful hves of the assets The esumated useful hves of
telecommumnications networks and acquired bandwidth are 3 to 20 vears and 5 to 7 years for furmiture fixtures, cquipment and other These
useful lives are determined based on historical usage with constderation given to technological changes and trends 1n the industry that could
impact the network architecture and asset utilization Thus latter assessment 1s sigmficant because we operate within an industry 1n which new
technological changes could render some or all of our network related equipment obsolete requiring applicaton of a shorter useful life or, 1n
certain cirecumstances, a write-off of the entire value of the asset Accordingly, in making this assessment, we consider our planned use of the
assets. the views of experts both from internal and outside sources regarding the tmpact of technological advances and trends 1n the industry on
the value and useful lives of our network assets Costs of additions and improvements are capitalized and repairs and maintenance are charged
to expense as incurred Direct external and internal costs of constructing property and equipment are capitahized including interest costs related
to constructon Depreciation or amortization of the long-lived assets, with finite lives, begins when the asset 1s substantially complete or
placed 1nto service

Investments in broadband wireless licenses are amortized over the portion of the onginal license term remaining after the license 1s placed
1n service, or 10 years, whichever 1s shorter The onginal hicense period 15 determined by the FCC [n order to receive an extension of the
original hcense term from the FCC. we are required to show substantial service 1n the license arca within ten years of being licensed Failure to
mect this requirement could result in forfeiture of the license Approximately $23 5 milhon 1n book value of these licenses have not yet been
placed into service Had these hicenses been in service during all of 2004, amortization expense would have mcreased by approxmmately
$5 5 million If we finl to show substanual service in the heensed geographic area at the end of the onginal ten year penod and are not granted
an extension or renewal from the FCC, we would forfeit the right to offer such services 1n that market XO 1s evaluating recent improvements
m the price and performance of broadband wireless equipment, and 1s developing a plan to meet the FCC's substanual service test in all its
licensed areas before the licenses are due for renewal procecdings

Other intangibles consist of customer relationships. internally developed technology and trade names The customer relationships,
internally developed technology and certain trade names are being amortized using the straight-line method over the esumated uscful lives of
three years Certain trade names were determined to have indefinite ives and are not being amortized Goodwill and indefinite hife trade names
are reviewed at least annually for impairment, as required under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets™, or SFAS No 142 We retained independent appraisers to perform a prehminary valuation of our assets and habihties as of
December 31. 2004 This valuation was necessary as our estmated fair value as determined by our stock price, was less than our book value
Based on this appraisal we recorded a $212 5 nullion non-cash imparrment charge on our goodwiil This report will be finahized in the first
quarter of 2005 and could result 1n a change to this prehminary estimate

Long-hved assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 1n circumstances indicate that the carrying amount should be
addressed pursuant to SFAS No 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” or SFAS No. 144 The critena for
determining impairment for long-lived assets to be held and used 1s determined by comparing the carrying value of these long-lived assets to
management’s best estimate of future undiscounted cash flows expected to result
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from the use of the asscts and their eventual disposition Based on our analysis, we believe that no impairment existed under SFAS No 144 as
of December 31, 2004 In the cvent that there are changes in the planned use of our long-lived assets or our expected future undiscounted cash
flows are reduced sigmificantly, our assessment of our ability to recover the carrying value of these assets under SFAS No 144 could change

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from telecommunications services are recogmzed when the services are performed. evidence of an arrangement cxists. the
charges are fixed and determinable and collectability 1s probable In circumstances when these criteria are not met. revenue recogmuon 1s
deferred until resolution occurs For example, if a customer files for bankruptey protection, we believe the probabiiity of collection 1s
weakened Consequently, under such circumstances. although we continue to bill the customer for all services provided, we do not recognize
revenue until cash ts received In addition. telecommuntcations customers often dispute the amounts that we invoice them due to regulatory
1ssues, late payment fees. and early terrmination charges based on differences of opimon regarding contract terms or service levels
Accordingly. as these billings are not considered fixed and determinable and collection of such amounts 1s not constdered probable while these
amounts are disputed, revenue recogmuon 1s deferred unul the dispute 15 resolved and the collection ts probable

Service discounts and incentives related to telecommunications services are recorded as a reduction of revenue when granted or ratably
over a contract period  Fees billed in connection with customer 1nstallations and other non-recurring fees are deferred and recogmzed ratably
over the esimated customer life of three years

We establish an allowance for collection of doubtful accounts and other sales credit adjustments Allowances for sales credits are
established through a charge to revenue, while allowances for doubtful accounts are established through a charge to selling, operating and
general expenses We assess the adequacy of these reserves monthly by considening general factors, such as the length of time 1ndividual
recesvables are past due, hstorical collection experience. the economic and competitive environment, and changes 1n the crediworthiness of
our customers As considered necessary, we also assess the ability of specific customers to meet their financial oblhigations to us and establish
specific valuation allowances based on the amount we expect to collect from these customers We can and have experienced matenal changes
to our reserve requirements on a month to month basis. We believe that our established credit and valuation allowances were adequate as of
December 31. 2004 If circumstances relatng to specific customers change or economic conditions worsen such that our past collection
experience and assessment of the economic environment are no longer valid, our cstimate of the recoverability of our trade receivables could
be changed I this occurs, we would adjust our valuation allowance in the period the new iformaton 1s known

Cost of Service

Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunications services to customers We accrue for the
estimated costs of services recerved from third party telecommunications providers during the penod the services are received Invoices
recerved from the third party telecommunications providers are often disputed due to billing discrepancies We accrue for all invoiced amounts,
even amounts 1n dispute, as these amounts represent contingent liabihties that are considered probable and measurable Disputes resolved 1n
our favor may reduce cost of service 1n the peniod the dispute 1s settled As the period of tme required to resolve these types of disputes often
lapses over several quarters, the benefits associated with the favorable resolution of such disputes are normally realized in penods subsequent
to the accrual of the disputed amount
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Subsequent Events

On March 16, 2005. McLeodUSA Inc, McLeod, announced that 1t 1s looking into financtal restructuring options due to 1ts on-going cash
requirements XO currently holds McLeod debt securities that are incJuded in marketable secunties and other investments It 15 too early to
conclude what type of restructuring option McLeod will choose. or if any will be approved by their creditors and how that would impact our
vestment Based on this announcement, there 1s a nisk that the carrying value of $10 8 million will be impaired, and require adjustment 1n
2005

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not currently engaged 1n the usc of off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments. to hedge or partially hedge interest rate
exposure nor do we maintain any other off-batance sheet arrangements for the purpose of credit enhancement. hedging transactions, or other
financial or investment purposes

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Implemented in 2004

Statement No 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”, SFAS 123R, was 1ssued 1n December 2004 Once cffective this statement wall
require entiies to recognized compensation cost for all equity-classified awards granted. modified or settled after the effective date using the
farr-value measurement method In addition, public companies will recognize compensation expense for the unvested portion of awards
outstanding as of the effective date based on therr grant-date fair value as caleulated under the original provisions of SFAS 123 The effecuve
date for public entities 1s June 15, 2005 The amount of compensation expense that we record after the adoption of SFAS 123R 1n 2005 and
beyond, will depend on the amount, uming and pricing of stock option grants

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

As of December 31, 2004, our Credit Facihity was comprnised of $361 0 nilhion 1n secured loans and $5 2 mullion of accrued interest
Currently, we do not pay cash interest on the Credit Facility and accrued interest converts to principal ratably throughout the loan period As
mnterest accrues at variable rates, our Credit Facihity subjects us to interest rate risks Interest rate nisk as of December 31, 2004 1s 1llustrated in
the following table (dollars 1n mtllions)

Annual Interest Expense Given No Change Annual Interest Expense Given
an Interesi Rate decrease in Interest an Interest Rate increase
of X Basis Points Rates of X Basis Points
Interest Rate Risk (150 BPS) B (100BPS) ~ _(50BPS) Fair Value ~ 50BPS 100 BPS 150 BPS
Credut Facity 8. 29 248778 266 0§ . 2847 $303 $5g321. . § 33

The sensiuvity analysis provides only a limited. point m time view of the market risk sensitivity of the loans under our Credit Facihty The
actual impact of market 1nterest rate changes may differ significantly from those shown n the above sensitivity analysis

Marketable sccurities, available for sale, at December 31, 2004 consist pnmanly of investments 1n equity and debt secunities of publicly
traded companies The fair value of our investment in equity and debt sccuritics exposes us to market nsk These investments are subject to
changes 1n the market price of the securities The table that follows summarizes the fair values of our marketable secunities and provides a
senstaivity analysis of the estimated fair value of these financial instruments assuming a 5%. 10% and 15% increase or decrease in market price
(dollars 1n millions)

Fair value assuming the Fair value assuming the
following percentage No Change in following percentage
decrease 1n markel price Fair Value increase in market price
Market Risk 15% 105 5% 0% 10% 15%
Market price- e $140° [~$149 $157 § i 165 $182 . 75190

45



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Site BOWNE OF WASHINGTON Phone (202) 783-919] Operator BOWY99WT Date 1K-MAR-2005 (9 13 5459

Name XO COMMUNICATIONS [B/E]  cuc BOW W065=8] 048.00.00.00 14/10
EDG 0 00 O 0O A

W06781 SUB, DocName 10-K. Doc 1, Page 48

AR 2

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements are filed under this Item. beginming on page F-1 of this Report

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On September 24, 2003, we notified our independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP that our Audit Commuttee of our Board of Directors had
decided to change auditors On September 30. 2003. the Audit Commuittee of XO's Board of Directors appointed KPMG LLP to serve as 1its
new 1ndependent registered public accounting firn for the year ending December 31, 2003 The change was effective immediately Ernst &
Young LLP’s report on XO's consohdated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002 did not contain an adverse
opimon or disclaimer of opinson, nor was 1t qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles During the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2002, there were (1) no disagreements with Ernst & Young on any matler of accountng principle or practice. financial
statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to Ernst & Young's satisfaction, would have caused them to make
reference to the subject matter 1n connection with their report on our financtal statements for such years, and (n) there were no reportable
events as defined 1n Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulauon S-K

During the year ended December 31, 2002 and through the date of their appointment. we did not consult KPMG LLP with respect to the
applicanon of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed. or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered
on our consohdated financial statements, or any other matters or reportable events listed 1n Itemns 304(a)(2)(1) and (1) of Regulation S-K

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurces

The term disclosure controls and procedures 15 defined 1n Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Secuniies Exchange Act of 1934 These
rules refer to the controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act s recorded. processed, summarized and reported within required time peniods Our
Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
the end of the perod covered by this report Based on the evaluatuon they have concluded that, as of the end of such period the controls and
procedures were effective at ensuring that required mformation was disclosed on a timely basis in our report filed under the Exchange Act

Changes i Internal Controls over Financial Reporung

We maintain a system of iternal accounting controls that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that our books and records
accurately reflect our transactions and that our established policies and procedures are followed As of June 23, 2004, the newly combined
company that includes the acquired Allegiance telecommunication assets has been aggressively working to consolidate overlapping processes,
controls, and systems With the exception of Carrier Access Billings and the legacy-Allegiance revenue cycle, the vast majonty of overlapping
processes. systems, and controls have migrated to the legacy-XO control environment The Carner Access Billings process for the combined
entity has migrated to the Jegacy-Allegiance control environment The legacy-Allegiance revenue and sales commission cycles remain
unchanged but are subject to the same general intemnal controls over financial reporting that we apply to our legacy businesses, although they
were excluded from our effectiveness evaluation as discussed below

Muanagement Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of XO 1s responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporung as such term 1s
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) In accordance with the
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Securities and Exchange Commussion Rulemaking Release Nos 33-8238 and 34-47986 1ssued 1n August 2003, management has evaluated the
effecuveness of XO's internal controls over financial reporting based on the framework 1n Internal Control — Integrated Framework 1ssucd by
the Commiuttee of Sponsonng Orgamzauons of the Treadway Commssion or more commonly referred to as the COSO Framework

Based on our evaluation under the COSO framework, management has concluded that, XO’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2004. KPMG LLP. XO's independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the financial statements
included 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and has 1ssued an attestation report on management’s asscssment of XO's internal control over
financial reporting

On June 23, 2004, XO completed the acquistion of all of the telecommunications services assets of Allegiance Telecom. Inc (Allegiance),
and management excluded from 1ts assessment of the effecuveness of XO's intemal control over financial reportung as of December 31, 2004,
Allegiance’s internal control over financial reporung associated with total revenues of approximately $217 2 mithon included 1n the
consohdated financial statements of XO for the year ended December 31, 2004 Our exclusion of Allegiance’s intenal control over financial
reporting 1s allowed by the Sccuntics and Exchange Commuission’s response to Question No 2 contained 1n the Frequently Asked Qucstions
entitied Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporung and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Pertodic
Reports, Frequently Asked Questions (revised October 6, 2004)

PART IIT

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Certain informauon required by Items 401 and 403 of Regulauon S-K 1s incorporated by refercnce from our defimuive proxy statement for
the 2005 Annual Meeung of Stockholders to be held on May 9. 2005 to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of our 2004 fiscal year

Audit Committee Financial Expert
Our Board of Directors has determined Robert Knauss 1s an “audit commuttce financial expert™ as defined under Item 401¢h) of
Regulation S-K Mr Knauss 15 an independent director, as defined in Item 7(dH3)(1v) of Schedule 14A

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics within the meaning of [tem 406(b) of Regulation S-K This Code of Ethics applies to our principal
executive officer, our principal financial officer and principal accounung officer, as welt as all other employees This Code of Ethics 1s publicly
available on our website at www xo com If we make substanuive amendments to this Code of Ethics or grant any waiver, including any
implicit waiver, we wall disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or 1n a report on Form 8-K within five days of such
amendment or waiver

Item 11. Exccutive Compensation

The information required by this Item 15 incorporated by reference from the information provided under the heading “Executive
Compensation™ of our Proxy Statement
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information required by this Item with respect to Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 1s incorporated
herein by reference from the information provided 1n the proposal to approve the amendment of our Directors™ Stock Opuon Plan under the
heading “Equity Compensation Plan™ of our Proxy Statement
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Information required by this Item with respect to Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 1s incorporated herein
by reference from the information provided under the heading *Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management™ of our Proxy
Statement
Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Vanous entities controlled by Mr Icahn hold the following nterests in XO

Outstanding Preferred Stock
Common Stock Warrants Credit Facility Outstanding )
cember 31; 2004- - Greater than 50% _- Greater than 40% © Greater than 90%.-0.... . . 7. 95%

The terms of the common stock, warrants and the Credit Facility. as well as the lease and tax allocation agreements discussed bL]()W were
all approved by the bankruptcy court as part of the Chapter 11 proceedings from which XO emerged 1n January 2003.

In August 2004, after the closing of the Preferred Stock Offering discussed in Part II, Item 7, Mr Icahn filed a schedule 13D amendment
with the Seecurities and Exchange Commission disclosing that his beneficial ownership, as defined therein, was 60 7% of XO

As aresult of his sigmificant majonty ownership, Mr Icahn has the nght to clect all of XO's directors, who 1n turn have the nght to
(1) appoint the members of the committees of XO's Board of Directors. (1) appoint key members of XO's executive management team, and
() appotnt XO's auditors Currently, Mr Icahn 1s Chairman of the Board of Directors and three employees of Icahn Associates also sit on the
Board of Directors and vanous committees of the Board of Directors Under applicable law and XO's Certificate of Incorporation and hy-laws,
certain actions cannot be taken without the approval of holders of a majonty of the Company’s voung stock, mncluding, without hmitation,
mergers, acquisitions. the sale of substantially all of the assets, and amendments to XO's Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws

Mr Icahn. through vanous entities that he owns or controls, has the nght to reguire XO to register, under the Secuntics Act of 1933, shares
of XO's Common Stock held by such entities and to include shares of XO's Common Stock held by them 1n certain registration statements
filed by XO

Dixon Properties, LLC or Dixon, which s controlled by Mr Icahn, owns the building m which XO's beadquarters 1s located XO currently
leases approximately 170,000 square feet of space 1n that building Pursuant to the lease agreement, XO has pard $3 5 million 1n lease rent to
Dixon for the vear ended December 31, 2004, and XO 1s obhgated to pay approximately $12 1 million to Dixon through the expiration of the
mitial term of the lease, which 1s November 30, 2007

XO entered 1nto a Tax Allocation Agreement, dated January 16, 2003, between XO and Starfire Holding Corporation or Starfire, the parent
entity of the affihated group of corporations controlled by Mr Icahn XO and Starfire filed consolidated returns during the penod in which
Mr Icahn’s ownership of XO was equal to or greater than 80%. as required by the Internal Revenue Code Upon the closing of the Rights
Offering 1n January 2004, Mr lcahn’s ownership percentage fell below 80% Consequently, XO 1s no longer included as part of Starfire's
consolidated group after January 2004 Upon deconsohdation, the Tax Allocation Agrecment generally provides that Starfire will reimburse
XO each year going forward for the excess of XO's actual income tax expense over the incomc tax that XO would have owed 1f the net
operating losses or other tax attributes used 1n prior periods by the Starfire consohdated group were suill available to XO

The Company provides certain telecommunications services to companies affilhated with Mr Icahn For the year ended December 31,
2004, the total revenue recognized on such services to Icahn Affiliates was approximately $2 0 million During the year ended December 31,
2004, the Company purchased approximately $0 6 mullion 1n services from Icahn Affilates During tbe year ended December 31, 2004, the
Company purchased $1 0 million 1n hardware and services from Dell. Inc Mr Adam Dell, an XO director, 1s the brother of Mr. Michael Dell,
the Chairman of Dell, Inc
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XO provided telecommunications services to Allegiance from February 18, 2004 through the Closing Date Total revenue recogmzed for
those services was approxtmately $1 7 milbon In addition. XO provided Allegiance management services under an Operaung Agreement
between the Early Funding Date of April 13, 2004 and the Closing Date XO believes 1t 1s owed a momes under the terms of the Operatng
Agreement and ths 1s part of the total claim that 1s discussed in Part 1. Item 3 Based on the contingent nature of this claim, 1t 1s not recorded n
the accompanying consolidated financial statements

On June 8, 2004 XO cntered 1nto a Registration Rights Agreement with the ATLT, holder of approximately 24 9% of XO’s outstanding
common stock, pursuant to which XO agreed to utihize 1ts best efforts to register for public resale, the 45.380.000 shares of XO common stock
tssued as part of the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses XO has not filed such registraton statement

On November 2, 2004, XO entered 1nto an Indemmfication Agreement with each of Mrs Dell. Knauss and Gradin, each of whom 1s an
independent member of XO's Board of Directors. pursuant to which XO has agreed to indemmfy cach of such directors for any personal
hablity and costs that he may incur 1n connection with the performance of services as a director of XO, and advance to each such director any
expenses that he may incur 1n connection with any litigation or actions related to such serviees
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information with respect to fees paid to our pnncipal accountant and our audit commaittee’s pre-approval policies and procedures are
incorporated herein by referenee to the Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) (1) and (2) Financial Statements and Schedule:

X0 Commumcanons, lnc

Reports of KPMG LLP, Independent Reyslered Public Accountma Frm

Report of Emnst & Young, LLP Independent Registered Public Accountng Firm .

Consoldated | Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003

Consolldme Sl.slemenls of Oper.mons for the Years Ended cemher 31 "004, 2003, '.’00’ .md for lhe porlmn of
:January; 1.2003 - : L

Consolidated Statements of Stocl\holdcrx Equity {Deficit) for the Years Ended Dcccmbcr 31,2004, "003 "2002 and for the
portion of J.muury 1, 2003

Consolidated: Slat_'
:January 1, 2003 -

Notes to Consohdnlcd Fi anr;u] S

Schedule 11 —_:_ggnsohdq!_ | V.slu.mon .md Quuhfymg Ar:co

ash Flows for the Years Ended December 31. 2004, 2003, 2002, and for the portion of

(3) List of Exhibits — Refer to Exhibit Index. which 1s incorporated herein by reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on 1ts behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

XO Communications, Ine

Date: March 18. 2005
By /s/ CARL J GRIVNER

Carl J Gnivner
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Pnincipal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on or before March 2004 by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and 1n the capacities indicated
Name Title
/s/ CARL. J GRIVNER President and Chief Executive Officer. Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

CarlJ Gnvner

/s WILLIAM GARRAHAN Semor Vice President and Acting Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer)

Wilhham Garrahan

/s/ CARL C ICAHN Chairman of the Board of Directors
Carl C Icahn

/s/ ANDREW R COHEN Director
Andrew R Cohen

/s/ ApDAM DELL Director
Adam Dell
/s/ FREDRIK GRADIN Director
Frednk Gradin
/s/ VINCENT J INTRIERI Director

Vincent ] Intnien

/s/ ROBERT L KNAUSS Director
Robert L Knauss

/s/ KErTH MEISTER Dircetor
Keith Meister
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EXHIBIT INDEX

_Third Amended Pl.m of Rcorgumzauon of XO Commumcanom #Inc . dated July 22,2002,
(lncorporalcd hv.rcm by reference: lo cexhbat 2 1 fllcd with the Currem Report on Form 3-K/A of
- . X0 C()mmummu()ns Inc filed on \Iovember ”6 2002) o

Plan Supplement, dated October 23, 2003, to the Third Amended Plan of Rcorgamzanon of X0

Communications, Inc , dated July 22, 2002 (Incorporated herein by reference to exhubit 2 2 filed

with the Current Report on Form 8-K/ A of XO Communications. Inc , filed on November 26,

2002) e

ch23 e Order Confirmung Third Amended Plan of Reorgamization; dated

T s o herein by reference to extubit 99 1. filed with the Currcnt chor
Commumc.mom Inc. ﬁlcd on Novcmbcr 26. ”()O”) ’

24 Assct Purchase Aarccmcm dated as of February 18, 2004, by and among X0 Commumcauom

Inc , Allegiance Telecom. Inc . and Allegiance Telecom Company Worldwide (Incorporated heremn
by reference to exhibit 10 1 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Communications,

e . Inc filed on February 24, 2004)

3 o Amended and Rcstmcd Ccmﬁcalc of Incorpomuon of X0 Commumcauons lnc (lncorpomted
hcrcm by rcference t exhlbn 3 1 ‘filed with the Registration Statemcnt on Porm 82 A of XO

_ O Commumcanom lnc ﬁled on Februa:y 7, 2003, pursuant to the Sccurmcs Exchange Act)

32 Certificate of Designations setting forth the powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional
and other special nghts of the 6% Class A Convertible Preferred Stock (Incorporated by reference
herein to exhibit 3 1 filed wiath the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of XO Communications. Inc
filed on August 9, 2004)

’Amended and Restalcd By

November 15. 2002 (Incorporated
n Form 8-K/ A of XO

: of XO Commumcatwns Inc (Incorporaled by referem.e herein to

: ._March 15, ”()04)
Form of Stock Cemﬁute of Common Stocl\ (Im. rp )raled herein by rcfcrcncc to

with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc for the year ended
Dgccmber al, "00” ﬁled on March ”1 ”003 )

Series B Wdrranl Agreemcnt datcd as of January 16, 2003, by .md betwr.en X0 Commumcanom
Inc and Amencan Stock Transfer & Trust Company (Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit
10 2 filed with the Current Repart on Form 8-K of XO Communications, Inc , filed on January 30,
2003) )
L Senes C Warrant Aarccmcnt dated as of .Lmu..lry 16, 2003. and between XO Communncauons
" Inc and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company ([ncorpomted herein by referénce to exhibit.
- 103 filed with thc Ciirrent Repon on Form 8-K fXO C()mmumcauons lnc ﬁled on Januarv
2003
X0 Communications, Inc ”00” Stock Incentive Plan (Incorpomled herem by rcfcrcm.e to exhibat
10 1 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc for the year ended
December 31, 2002. filed on March ”], 2003)
- X0 Commumcanom Inc* Retenuon Bonus and lncenuve Plan (lncorporaled herem by reférence to
exhibit 10 1210 the Annual Report on Form 10- K of XO Commumcmmn lnc for thc year ended,{
ecember 31,2002, filed on March 21; 2003) S
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of J..mu..lry 16 2003, bemeen X0 Commumc..mons Inc.”
and High River Limited Partnership and Meadow Walk Limited Partnership (Incorporated herein
by reference to exhibit 10 4 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Communications,
Inc . filed on January 30, 2003)

51



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Site BUWXE OF WASHINGTON Phone (202) 7839191 Operator BOWY9999T _ Date 18-MAR-2(05 09 13 54 59

Name XO COMMUNICATIONS [B/E] CRC 42074 WWO06781 054'00_00'00 11/
NOSTEI SUB. Docame 10, D . Pae 34 EDGAR 2 . A I
.10,4 s ) . Regustration Rights Agreement, duled as of Adgusi 6, 2004, by and among I\O Gmmunlcallon

In(. Tmmore LLC Cardiff, Hn]dmgs LLC and Am.xls_am.xled Gadéet LR~ (Incorpordled herem |

' Form 10- Q filed by.:

DD (o) Commumcalwns Inc. for e_qu.merly penod ended June 30, 2004, filed on. Auauxt9 2()04)

105 Registration Rights Ag_rccmcnl dated as of June 23, 2004, by and among Allef,mn(.e Telecom,

Inc . Allegiance Telecom Company Worldwade, the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust. and

o o . XO Communications, Inc } e

"106 S * 'Tax'Allocatiori Agreement’ daicd a “of January 1652

a Lo L glarflre Holding’ Cnrpor.nmn Incorpomled herem by rcfercncc to exhibit 1() 5 hled wuh the

L S ""Currenl Report o Form 8-K of XO Communications, Inc . filed on January 30: ”OO?)

107 Employment Term Sheet, dated as of Apnl 30, 2003, dehvered by X0 Commumc.mons lnc to
CarlJ Gnivner. President and Chief Executive Officer of XO Communications, Inc (Incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 10 1 filed with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of XO
Commumcatons, Inc for the three months ended March 31, 2003, filed on May 15.2003)

o Ch.mgc 1n Control A;:rumem by’ .md between'’XO Commum "u'ons Inc and C..u'] 1 Grivner,

_ President and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of XO Commumc.mo . Inc (Incorporated herem by

N rcfcrcncc to exhibit 10 2 filed with the Quarterly Report on Forim 10-Q of XO Commumc.mons

) . " “Inc. for the threc months ended March 31,2003, filed on May 15, 2003)

109 Emplovment Agreement, effective as of Seplember 25, 2000, by and between Wuyne M

Rehberger and XO Communications, Inc (Incorporated by reference herein to exhibit 10 10 filed

with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc filed on March 15, 2004)

lndcmmﬁcanon Agrcemenl by and bel“ een Robert Knauss and XO Commum(..mons Inc , dated

as of November 2, 2004° (lncorporat 1 heremn by reférence to thlbll 10 2 filed with the Quanerly

Report on Form 10-Q'filed by XO Cémmunicanons. Inc for terly period cnded ’

September 30,- 2004 filed on November 9, 2004) - L

Indemnification Agrccmcnt by and between Adam Dell and XO Commumcalu)ns c . dated as of

November 2, 2004 {Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10 I filed with the Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q filed by XO Communications, Inc for the quarterly period cnded

... September 30, 2004, filed on November 9. 2004)

- Indemnification Aureemenl hy and belwccn Fredrk Gmdm and XO Commumcalmm lnc - dated

as of November 2, 2004 (lncorpor.ncd herem by rLfLrem.e 10/ exhibit.10 3 filed wnh the Quam.rly )

- Report on Form 10-Q. ﬁled by XO Communications In for the quarterly per d ended i

R o _Scplcmber 30, 2004, ﬁle November 9, 2004) . o ;

10 13 Cost Sharing and IRU Agrccmcnl dated July 18, 1998, cen Level 3 mumczmom LLC
and XO Intercity Holdings No 2, LLC (f/k/a INTERNEXT LLC) (Incorporated heremn by
reference to exhbit 10 8 filed wnlh the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly pertod
ended Scptember 30, 1998 of NEXTLINK Communtcations. Inc and NEXTLINK Capital, Inc ,

...Jiled on November 16. 1998)

" Master Am’eement d.ned Au st 8 "002, bemeen Le\el k} Commumcalmns lnc “and XO .

'Communncullonx Inc: (Incorpomtcd herein by refcrcncc to txhlbll 10 4'2 filed with the Annual.
Report on Formi lO- of XO Commumcdlmns Inc for the year end d Dcccmber 31, ’002 filed on

S &% . March 21, 2003) N

1015 Amended and Restated Crcdxl and Guar.mly Agreemcnt dated as o January 16, ()03. among XO
Communications, Inc , certan subsidiaries of XO Communications, Inc.. the Lenders party thereto
from time to time, and Mizuho Corporate Bank, as Adnumstrative Agent (Incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10 5 filed with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Commumscations, Inc

.. for the year ended December 31. 2002, ﬁled on March 21,2003)

X0 Commumcalmm ) rporatcd By referencc hérein o exhlblt 141 filed

with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Commumcallons Inc filed on March 15, 2004,

) Subsidianies of X0 Commumcalmns nc

" Conscnt of KPMG LLP.
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- Corisent of Ernst & Young LLP." - S '
" Cerufication of Chief Executive Offccr pursu..mt to Rule 13a 14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) oflhe
. ) Sccunties Exchange Act. as amended
aras T “Cerufication of Chief Financial Officer purxuam 10 Ru]e 13a-
ST . SLcurme,s Exchange Act, as amended ) : :
321 Cerufication of Chief Executive Officer pursuam to ]8 USC 1350, as udopled pursuam to
. Secuion 906 of the Sarbancs-O\cley Acl of "()()"
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
XO Communications, Inc

We have audited management’s assessment, included 1n the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting that XO Communications, Inc and subsidianes (XO) mamntained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31. 2004, based on criteria established 1n Internal Control — Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commssion (COSO) XO’s management ts responsible for mamtaining effecuve internal control over financial
reporting and for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on
management's assessment and an opinion on the cffectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporung based on our audit

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained 1n all matenal respects Our audit included obtamning an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluaung the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary 1n the circumstances We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion

A company’s internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes tn accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles A company’s intemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that. 1n reasonable detail, accurately and fairly rcflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company. (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as neccssary to permit preparaton of financial statements 1n accordance with gencrally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company arc being made only 1n accordance with authorizatons of
management and directors of the company. and (3) provide reasonable assurance rcgarding prevention or imely detection of unauthorized
acquision. use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements

Because of 1ts inherent lunitations, 1nternal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements  Also. projections of
any evaluauon of cffcctiveness to future periods are subject 10 the nisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 1n conditions,
or that the degree of comphance with the pelicies or procedures may detertorate

In our opinion. management’s assessment that XO maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
15 fairly stated, in all matenal respects, based on criterta established 1n Internal Control -Integrated Framework 1ssued by COSO Also. 1n our
opinion, XO marntained, 1n all material respects, cffectve internal control over financial reporting as of December 31. 2004, based on critena
established m Internal Control -Integrated Framework 1ssued by COSO

On June 23, 2004. XO completed the acquisiton of all of the tclecommunications services assets of Allegiance Telecom, Inc (Allegiance),
and management excluded from 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of XO's internal control over financial reporung as of December 31, 2004,
Allegiance’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total revenues of approximately $217 2 million included 1n the
consohdated financial statcments of XO for the year ended December 31, 2004 Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of XO
also excluded an evaluation of Allegiance’s internal control over financial reporting

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consohdated balance sheets of XO as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the
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related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20604 and the pertod from

January 1, 2003 to December 31. 2003, and for the portion of January 1. 2003, related to Predecessor XO's reorganization gain and our report

dated March 18, 2005 expressed an unqualified opimon on those consohidated financial statements and the related 2004 and 2003 consohidated
financial statement schedule

/s/ KPMG LLP
McLean, Virgima

March 18, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
X0 Communicatons, Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XO Communications, Inc and subsidianes (XO) as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the relaied consohdated statements of operatons. stockholders’ equity. and cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2004 and for the peniod from January 1. 2003 to December 31, 2003 (XO penod) and for the portion of January 1, 2003, related to Predecessor
XO's reorganization gain (Predecessor XO peniod) In connection with our audits of the XO period. we have also audited the 2004 and 2003
consohdated financial statement schedule as histed in the accompanying index These consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibihity of the Company’s management Our responsibihity 1s to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountng Oversight Board (United States) Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement An audit includes examiming. on a test basis. evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant esimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation We beheve that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion, the XO penod consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly. 1n all matenal respects. the financial
position of XO Commumications, Inc and subsidianies as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for the XO penod. in conformity with U S generally accepted accounting principles Further, in our opimon, the Predecessor XO period
consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matenal respects. the results of their operauons and their cash flows for
the portion of January 1, 2003 related to the Predecessor’s reorgamzation gain 1n conformity with U S generally accepted accounting
principles Also 1n our opinion, the related 2004 and 2003 consolidated financal statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consohdated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly. 1n all matertal respects, the information set forth therein

As discussed 1n Note 20 to the consohdated financial statements, on January 16. 2003, XO Communications, Inc emerged from
bankruptcy The consohidated financtal statements of XO reflect the impacts of adjustments to reflect the fair value of assets and habilities
under fresh start reporuing. which was apphed effective January 1, 2003 As a result. the consohdated financial statements of XO are presented
on a different basis than those of Predecessor XO and, therefore, are not comparable 1n all respects

We also have audited. 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of XO's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on cnteria established 1n Internal Control —
Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commussion (COSO), and our report dated
March 18, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of. and the effective operation of, internal control over
financial reporting On June 23, 2004. XO completed the acquisition of all of the telecommunications services assets of Allegiance Telecom,
Inc (Allegiance). and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of XO's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, Allegiance’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total revenues of approximately $217 2 milhon
included 1n the consohidated financial statements of XO for the year ended December 31. 2004 Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting of XO also excluded an evaluation of Allegiance’s interal control over financial reporting

/s/ KPMG LLP

March 18, 2005
McLean, VA
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of XO Communications, Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows of XO
Communications, Inc (the “Company™) for the year ended December 31, 2002 Our audat also included the financial statement schedule histed
1n the Index at item 15(a) These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company s management Our responsibility 1s
to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal
misstatement An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporung the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements An
audt also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant esumates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentanon We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basts for our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, n all matenal respects. the consolidated results of operations and
cash flows of XO Communications, Inc for the year ended December 31, 2002, 1n conformity with U S generally accepted accounting
principles Also, 1n our opimion. the related financial statement schedule, when considered 1n relation to the basic financial statements taken as
a whole, presents fairly in all matenal respects the information set forth therein

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™

As discussed 1n Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 16, 2003, the Company was reorganized under a plan of
reorganization confirmed by the Umted States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York In connection with 1ts reorganization,
the Company will apply fresh start accounting 1n the first quarter of 2003

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Balumore, Maryland
February 28, 2003
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XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except for share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current assets

_Cash and cash cquivalents B
Markclablc securitics and other inv cstments .

Accounts rcccwablc net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $38.981 and $32.986. -

- at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively
Other current asscts
: Total current assets
Propeny and equipment. net
Broadband wircless licenses and other mlanglbles net
Other assets
' .. Total assels

L lABILITIEb COI\VERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabihties
Accounts payable

© Accrued habiliies

Total current habihities
Long -term debt and accrued interest puyuble
Other long-term habihties

Total hatihties
Class A convertible prcfcrred stocl\
Commitments and contingencies
Sloc)\holdcrs equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 per share. 200,000,000 shares authonzed 4, 000,000
shares of Class A converuble preferred slock 1ssued and oulsl.mdmg on
December 31 2004,

Warrants and common “stock, p.xr value $0 01 pcr share, 1,000,000, 000 ‘shares
authonized 181,933,035 and 96.274,140 shares 1ssued and outstanding on
December 31 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively

.. Subscnption rights exerc1scd 32,503,234 sharcs authorized none 1ssued and
" - outstandmng
Subscription nghts recetvable, 32,503 .234 shares authonzed none 1ssued and
_ outstanding L
_Deferred compénsaton . .
Accumulated other comprchcnswc mcome

Accumulaled defieit

Total stockholders’ cqu1ly

“" Total habihtes, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity’

December 31, December 31,
2004 2003
233,989 478.560
17.300 42,052
150,101 93,958
50.864 12,421
452,254 626991
820,536 485,984
139,866 109,515
46.729 42.675
$ 1.459.385 1.265.165
$ 88,010 3,0
241,532 208.353
329542 271417
. 366,247 536,791
73.691 76.532
769,480 884,740
204,353 —
989,511 482 440,_
— 162. 516
— (162,516)
L (574) (839
4712 1378
(508.097) (102.554)
485.552 380.425
$ 1.459.385 . 1.265.165

See accompanying notes to the consohdated financial statements
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XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Dollars in thousands, except for share and per share data)

Predecessor XO
Year Ended Year Ended Predecessor XO Year Ended
December 31, December 31, January L, December 31,
2004 ) 2003 2003 2002
Reyenue: CECS O CL300420 008 o) 11104837 ]S - 11,259,853

Cosl\ and expenses
“Cost of service (cxdud

es depreciation and s

552735 e 422129

amortization) L . R .
Selling, operating and general 727.666 679.286 3
" Depreciation and amortizanon "5, ko FEe 1777815 VRN 109,308 B N
Goodwill impairment charge o 212530 e T . . e .
Restructuring and assei wiite-downs?; i A - S U 1618 : = ) T 77480.168;
Total costs and expense 1.670.712 1,222,341 X . — . 2468751
Loss from operations e Lr 1370.292). Coansssy | . T ¥ (1,208,898)
Investment (loss) income, net ) (9.037) 46,152 o — _ 16278
it TR e e 6214y 5T TT(36.848) G =T g (22k4EL
Rcorg.mudtmn gam (cxpcnsu) net — — 3.032.282 (91.121)
Nul (loss) in¢ome before cun tve cffccl of Ll i B R EE
accounting change |, - S (405,543 : : (102.554), o r 303228270 < (1.510,192)
Cumulative cficcl of J(.(.()unung ch.ingc - — ) — (1.876.626)
Net (Joss) meome . 05543y L (102,554 | - 3032282 . (3.386.818)
Recognition of pr(_llrrcd stock modification fee.
net —— reorganization iem e - e =~ | M . L., 18703
Prcl’(.rrc stock dividends and aécrenion of BE P AR o A
# preferted stock redemption” Ohlll'JLIOIn net 4910)- - R v - B (42.247) .
Ncl (loss) income uppllmblc to common sharcs 5 (410. 453) s (102.554) $ 3.032,282 S (3.350.362)
Net (k . B - " L 5

mmme pcr u)mmon share ‘basicand
diluted . ;.- gk :
Net (loss) ncome hcl’orc cumulauve cfchl of
accounting change
Cumiilative cffect of accounting ¢hange =
\(_t (loss) income
Rcco&muon “of prcfcrrcd stock ]I]OdlflC
7 pet — reorgamzation item i =
Preferced stock drvidends and aceretion of
pr(.f(.rrcd stock rcdumplu)n obllgdunn net 003) — — (010
Net (loss) incomé Pcr comiion share, b:mc b L ey R . : LA s
Canddiluted T _ G 257 (107)- - 686 84 < (758) .5
Weighted average sharec b.mc and diluted 159.883.403 95.632.859 441,964.342 441.964.342

on fec,

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Subscription Rights Accumutated
Common Stock Excrcised Subscniption Recervable Other

Amount ~éhams Amount

Shares Amount

llnmme

Balance at Janum'y .
2003 )

Issuance of common

475000 32.503.2 162,516 (32.503. —  475.000

— 660l
Net loss | -
Other comprehensive

income — unrealized
holding gams ansing

. =7'(102.554)

dunng the year — — — — — — — — 1,378 1.378
del comprchcnsl\' S ’ " ’ : : : : Do ;- B Ve
foss » " — - (101.176)
Bdlancc at December 31.
2003 380,425

‘Tssuance of.common
+,, stock {Or acquisttic
Issuance of common
stock under nghts
offering
Issuance of common

162516 (32.503,23) (162516) | (839)  (102554)

. 45,380,000 - 311,306" 11,306

. 39722466

197612 = 197612

mploycc hcncﬁl
plnnq nct
Preferred stock
aceretion
‘Comprehensive 1688
Netloss
3 OIhcr comprchcn\lvc .
. Income — unrcahzcd
holdmg gamns dn51ng
during the year, net-;:
Total comprchensive

L3328

D 3063.%

556,429

4.910) “910)

= (405.543)

334

o5 - - — _(402.209)
Balance .n Dcc mhcr 3 : . 3 3 : g R et
- 2004 ) $ (574)$ " (508.097) $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial staternents
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XO Communications, Inc.

C lidated Stat. ts of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Common Stock

Accumulated
Other
Shares Comprchensive
Deferred Income Accumulated

Pr Company Class A Class B Amount Comg {Loss) Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 L0 337,774204 T 104423158 $4,628509 $ (37428) § 10306 $. .- (4304071) $ 297416 .
Compensauion attributable to stock nplmm and Tesmcted’

. .stock vesung — - - 28,928 — - 28928
Issuance of common smck lhmug'u emplmee bcneﬁl plans . . 85.854 L= L1 . - — T =l Lo
C of 6'/:% ep d stock

mto Class A common stock . o 3,173 - .35, ) - L= At L3
Conversion of Preferred Stock . . . 23570 = — . To—=L T N . —
Refund of Employee Stock Purchase Plan fands withheld
after cancellanon(a) L= 129 - — ) . - (429
Cancellation of Craig McCaw’s Class A common stock (6853582 . . I — B — .. - .. s - —..
Comprehensive loss P X L. ..
. Netloss | —. . - - (3386.R1R) (3.386.818) ¢
Rc(.(yl.mlmn of pn.fcn'td stock modification fee, net —
.. Teorgumization item - e — . . - . — . X 78,703 78,703
Preferred stock dividends ‘and accretion of preferred stock : :
. medempuon obhigauon, net | . — - . - . - e 142,247) 42.247) |
Reahzed net losses and foreign t.um:nu translanon
adjustments transferred to current perrod eamings — e - — (7.3949) — (7.894)
Total éomrehensive loss L == = . = . — . ] -1, (3358256) |
Balance at December 31, 2002 . o 33,033,219 104,423,158 4.628.139 _ O (8S00) o252 (7.654433)  (3,032,282)
* Cancell of pred 5 sock, deferred . ’ ) ’ . .
deficit and Jated other . : . . -
comprehensive income under Plan of Reor . 331,033,219y _ (104423.158) (4628.139) _ . 8.500 . (2.512) | 7.654.433 3.032 282
Balance at Janvary 1, 2003 — — 3 —~ 3 — § — s — 3 —
{2) In the lutter half of 2001, the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan was lled, however employee salury deferrals d1in D ber 2001, and were subsequently refunded i earty 2002

See accompanying notes to consohdated financial statements
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES:-

Net dloss) incume

Adjuslmcms to rcu)nulc net (10§
(uscd 1n) operating acuvites .
Goodwill impaument charge
Dcprcuauon and | amortizaton %’

Non-cash reorgamization (gan) cxpcnsc nct
Cumulative cffect of accounting changc -
Changes 1n assets and labihties, net of effects from :lcqmsmons
Accounts rcccn.lhlc : . : N
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued habihities

FINANCIV(, A(,TIVITIE§

XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, Predecessor XO

Predecessor XO
Year Ended
December 31,

2004

S
'n‘énme to. ¢t cash nrovnd'c';('l','by .

109.308
36, 791

‘Stock-based comipensation . S,
Realized loss (gmn) on inyestments (27.224)
Non-cash restructuring charges and asset wriie-dow, 76,765

- o 1 (7.568) | 4
(18,157) ] (33, 37;,

.l)()"

_n 386. 818)

©699.806

28928
1 477250.

§9.448
876,626 -

§5,514%
(21,572

Other habilitics subject to compromise” <, e - S 195,904

Other liabiliies not subject to compromise — — (27484

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activiues-. A S50 T 26,301 =5 17.602¢
IN\PSTII\G_A(,TIVIT_ o ] ] o

: LR ___-__(1_0“6.02_3)_..”_ o (82,346 | ©(208.713)

_ o 22848 _ 473423 367,230

SCY fm'l.r]\udhlc securitics .md mvcslmcms B w36, 13) ' '_('238.()41) T (103.935)

or) rucwcd from (dtqmsmons) dl\'csmuru (325.249) — 3.000

T (444.837) 153,036,

57.582

Procctds from 1ssuance of comimon stock. net L " 200,326 Teas2 |F D -
Procccds fr()m issuance of pnf(.rrcd stock, ne o 199.443 —

X a . (199.653)} F(1.267) H6.079)
th cash pmvldcd by (usLd m) ﬁnanung activities ’00 1 ]6 (6.079)
Effect of cxchange ratc changes on cash | . (1.256)
Net (dccrcasc) nerease n cash and cash cqunalcnls . ("44,_ )_ ) 67.849
Cash and cash ‘equivalents; bLgmnlnﬁ of year. -0 ... . - 478,560 ., : " 246.189.
Cash and cash cquivalents, cnd of ycar 3 233.989 $  478.560 | $ 3 314.038

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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X0 Communications, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Overview

X0 Communications Inc . a Delaware corporation, through 1its subsidianes, owns and operates an integrated metropolttan and nationwide
fiber optic network that provides a comprehensive array of telecommunication services to business customers 1n over 70 United States markets
Vaoice services include local and long distance services, calling card and interactive voice responsc systems Data services include Internet
access, private data networking and hosting services XO, through its subsidiaries, also offers integrated combined voice and data services 1n
flat rate “bundled™ packages The consohidated financial statements include the accounts and activities of XO, and 1ts subsidraries (collectively
referred to as the “Company™ or “XO™) On June 23, 2004. XO completed the acquisition of all of the telecommunications services assets of
Allegiance Telecom, Inc The accompanying financial statements include the results of operations from thts acquisition from June 23, 2004
through December 31, 2004 See note 2 for additional information

2.  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On June 23, 2004 (the “Closing Date™). XO completed the acquisition of all of the telecommunications services assets (the “Acquired
Businesses™) of Allegiance Telecom, Inc (“ATI™) under the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement ( the “Purchase Agrcement”) entered mto
on February 18, 2004 by and among the Company, ATI and Allegiance Telecom Company Worldwide (together with AT, “Allegiance™). and
approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern Distnict of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court™) on February 19, 2004
Allegiance and 1its direct and indirect subsidiaries operated as debtors-in-possession under the Bankruptcy Code from May 14, 2003 to June 23,
2004 Allegiance was a facthties-based national local exchange camrier that provided 1ntegrated telecommunications services to business and
other institutional customers 1n 36 major metropolitan areas across the Umited States Allegiance’s service offerings included voice, data, and
integrated telecommumcations services. XO did not acquire Allegiance’s customer premises stallation and maintenance buslness shared
hosting business. or dedicated dial-up Internet access service business (the “Unacquired Businesses™)

Under the Purchase Agreement, XO paid approximately $636 6 million for the Acquired Businesses consisting of approximately
$325 2 million of cash. including $14 1 milhon of adjustments for working capital and direct costs. and 45,380,000 shares of XO common
stock valued at approximately $31] 3 milhon using XO's common stock market price for a reasonable period before and after the Allegiance
acquisition was announced

After the Closing Date, the Unacquired Businesses as well as the ongoing Allegiance bankruptcy clauns were transferred from Allegiance
to the Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust (the “ATLT”) XO filed an administrative claim with the Bankruptcy Court in August 2004
against the ATLT, for at least approximately $40 0 milhon under the Purchasc Agreement and other agreements between the paruies
Subsequently, XO informed the ATLT that the amount 1n dispute approxtmates $50 0 million The ATLT has counter claimed 1n
correspondence that 1t believes 1t 1s owed approximately $100 million 1n respect to operating, working capital and other disputes that have
anisen between the parties XO 1s vigorously pursuing 1ts claim and believes that the ATLT s counter claim 1s fnvolous and completely without
ment XO and the ATLT are htigating their case. and are in the early stages of the htigation The accompanying financial statements do not
include any financtal impact from this hitigation as 1t 1s too early 1n the process to assess any outcome

Upon the Closing Date, XO acquired title to the Acquired Businesses XO retamed independent appraisers to determine the fair value of the
property. plant and equipment and mtangible assets acquired
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